Open Research Online



The Open University's repository of research publications and other research outputs

Urokinase receptor cleavage and shedding: occurrence and consequences.

Thesis

How to cite:

Sidenius, Nicolai (2000). Urokinase receptor cleavage and shedding: occurrence and consequences. PhD thesis. The Open University.

For guidance on citations see \underline{FAQs} .

 \odot 2000 Nicolai Sidenius

Version: Version of Record

Copyright and Moral Rights for the articles on this site are retained by the individual authors and/or other copyright owners. For more information on Open Research Online's data <u>policy</u> on reuse of materials please consult the policies page.

oro.open.ac.uk

UNRESTRICTED

Nicolai Sidenius

UROKINASE RECEPTOR CLEAVAGE AND SHEDDING:

OCCURRENCE AND CONSEQUENCES

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the Open University for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

November 1999.

DIBIT

Départment of Biological and technical Research

Scientific Institute Hospital San Raffaele

Milan, Italy

AUTIME DE CPERTADA

DATE OF AWARD: 29 JUNE 2000

ProQuest Number: 27727945

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 27727945

Published by ProQuest LLC (2019). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

Consultation copy

Table of contents

Abbreviations Publications and manuscripts	1
CHAPTER 1:	
ΙΝΤΈΡΟΝΙ	2
	ح
PREFACE	
CELL ADHESION MOLECULES	5
Extracellular proteolysis	7
Matrix metalloproteases (MMPs)	7
The plasminogen activator system	8
Plasminogen activators	
THE UROKINASE RECEPTOR (UPAR)	
uPAR gene structure and expression	
The protein structure of uPAR	
Molecular uPAK interactions	
CLEAVED AND SOLUBLE FORMS OF UPAK	
UPAK CIERVage	
UPAR sneeding	
The function of upAR in placemination	
The function of uPAR in plasminogen activation	
The biological function of soluble and cleaved forms of UDAP	30
uPAR in cell chemotaxis and chemokinesis	32
LIDAR IN CANCED	34
CHAPTER 2:	
MATERIALS & METHODS	
MATERIALS	
METHODS	41
Recombinant DNA techniques	41
Vector construction	43
Protein techniques	
Cell culture techniques	
Transfections	
Animal experiments	
Statistics	
CHAPTER 3:	55
RESULTS & DISCUSSION (I)	
MOLECULAR ANALYSIS OF UPAR MEDIATED VITRONECTIN ADHESION.	
SUMMARY	
INTRODUCTION	
Results	
Adhesive properties of 32D cells	
uPAR expression promotes 32D cell binding to vitronectin	
Binding is proportional to the expression level of uPAR	
Binding is stimulated by uPAR ligands	
A uPAR mutant lacking domain 1 fails to promote binding	
Antibodies against domain 1 inhibit binding	61

Domain 1 and uPAR ligand are required for the high affinity binding of soluble uPAR to vitronectin	62	; 62
Contributions		05
	05	
CHAPTER 4:		66
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION (II)		66
THE CHEMOTACTIC EPITOPE IN UPAR		66
SUMMARY		67
INTRODUCTION		67
Results		69
Identification and mapping of the uPAR chemotactic epitope	69)
Activation of p56/p59 ^{hck} by chemotactic UPAR peptides	70)
Involvement of heterotrimeric G-proteins.		
DISCUSSION		72
Contributions	74	
CILADTED 5.		
	•••••	75
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION (III)		75
Cellular UPAR cleavage and shedding		75
SUMMARY	••••••	76
INTRODUCTION	•••••••	76
Results	••••••	79
U937 cells shed soluble uPAR antigen into the growth medium	79	
Conditioned medium from U937 cells contain full-length suPAR, D2D3 and D1 fragments	79	
Cleaved uPAR is efficiently shed from cells	80	1
Cleavage and shedding of uPAR in leukocytes.	80	
Cleavage and shedding of uPAR in HUVEC cells.	81	·
Urokinase independent cleavage of uPAR	82	~~
DISCUSSION		.83
<u>Contributions</u>	84	
CHAPTER 6:	•••••	.85
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION (IV)		85
	•••••	.05 85
SUMMARY	•••••	86
INTRODUCTION	•••••	.87
Results		.89
Urinary suPAR is increased in ovarian cancer patients	89	
Urine contains full-length suPAR as well as suPAR fragments D2D3 and D1	89	
suPAR fragmentation is different in ovarian cancer patients	90	
suPAR and SUPAR fragments are stable in urine.	90	
Urinary suPAR antigen is partially derived from distant tumour tissue	91	
Urinary SUPAR fragments might reflect the cleavage-state of uPAR on tumour tissue in xenografted mic	e. 91	
DISCUSSION	•••••	.93
<u>Contributions</u> :	95	
CHAPTER 7:		.96
		~~~
FINAL DISCUSSION		.96
		.97
Mechanism of uPAR shedding		
The uDAD characteria enitered	98	
The urak chemolactic epilope	99 101	
The subclure and biological activity of surAK fragments found in VIVO	101	
The biological function of uDAR shedding and cleavage	102	
The dividge at the divit of the should gain deal age		

.

:

. .

Integrin associations with cleaved uPAR	
uPAR, cell adhesion and cancer metastasis	
Metabolism of suPAR and suPAR fragments	
Serum and urinary suPAR as prognostic markers	
References	108
APPENDIX 1: ILLUSTRATIONS	
CHAPTER 1:	127
Figure 1.1: Primary structure of uPAR	128
CHAPTER 3:	
Figure 3.1: Adhesive properties of 32D and U937 cells	
Figure 3.2: IL-3 stimulation of cell binding to fibronectin	
Figure 3.3: Binding of uPAR transfected 32D cells to vitronectin.	
Figure 3.4: Binding of 32D uPAR/D23 clones to vitronectin.	
Figure 3.5: Stimulation of binding by pro-uPA.	
Figure 3.6: Antibodies against uPAR domain 1 inhibit binding.	
Figure 3.7: Requirement for integrin activation	
Figure 3.8: uPAR mediated vitronectin binding does not lead to cell spreading	137
Figure 3.9: Cell binding to anti-uPAR antibodies	
Figure 3.10: Binding of soluble uPAR to vitronectin.	
CHAPTER 4:	140
Eigung 4.1. Schome demissing the basic structure of suDAD and it's restand demissions	1.4.1
Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives	
Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.	
Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments. Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to pentide-1 or chymotryps	
Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments. Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotryps	
Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments. Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotryps Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and	
Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments. Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotryps Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and CHAPTER 5:	
Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments. Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotryps Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and CHAPTER 5: Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotryps</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotryps</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotryps</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotryps</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.5: uPAR shedding from fMLP stimulated neutrophils.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotryps</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.5: uPAR shedding from fMLP stimulated neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.6: uPAR cleavage and shedding in HUVEC cells.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotryps</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.5: uPAR shedding from fMLP stimulated neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.6: uPAR cleavage and shedding in HUVEC cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.7: PMA stimulation and "Wounding" of HUVEC promotes uPAR shedding.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotrypsi</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.5: uPAR shedding from fMLP stimulated neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.7: PMA stimulation and "Wounding" of HUVEC promotes uPAR shedding.</li> <li>Figure 5.8: uPA independent cleavage of uPAR in 32D cells.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotryps</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.6: uPAR cleavage and shedding in HUVEC cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.7: PMA stimulation and "Wounding" of HUVEC promotes uPAR shedding.</li> <li>Figure 5.8: uPA independent cleavage of uPAR in 32D cells.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotrypsi</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.5: uPAR shedding from fMLP stimulated neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.7: PMA stimulation and "Wounding" of HUVEC promotes uPAR shedding.</li> <li>Figure 5.8: uPA independent cleavage of uPAR in 32D cells.</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotrypsi</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.5: uPAR shedding from fMLP stimulated neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.7: PMA stimulation and "Wounding" of HUVEC promotes uPAR shedding.</li> <li>Figure 5.8: uPA independent cleavage of uPAR in 32D cells.</li> <li>CHAPTER 6:</li> <li>Figure 6.1:</li> <li>Figure 6.2:</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotrypsi</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.5: uPAR shedding from fMLP stimulated neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.7: PMA stimulation and "Wounding" of HUVEC promotes uPAR shedding.</li> <li>Figure 5.8: uPA independent cleavage of uPAR in 32D cells.</li> <li>CHAPTER 6:</li> <li>Figure 6.1:</li> <li>Figure 6.2:</li> <li>Figure 6.3:</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotrypsi</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.5: uPAR shedding from fMLP stimulated neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.7: PMA stimulation and "Wounding" of HUVEC promotes uPAR shedding.</li> <li>Figure 5.8: uPA independent cleavage of uPAR in 32D cells.</li> <li>CHAPTER 6:</li> <li>Figure 6.1:</li> <li>Figure 6.2:</li> <li>Figure 6.4:</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotrypsi</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from fMLP stimulated neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.7: PMA stimulation and "Wounding" of HUVEC promotes uPAR shedding.</li> <li>Figure 5.8: uPA independent cleavage of uPAR in 32D cells.</li> <li>CHAPTER 6:</li> <li>Figure 6.1:</li> <li>Figure 6.2:</li> <li>Figure 6.3:</li> <li>Figure 6.5:</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives</li> <li>Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.</li> <li>Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated</li> <li>Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotrypsi</li> <li>Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and</li> <li>CHAPTER 5:</li> <li>Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.</li> <li>Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils.</li> <li>Figure 5.6: uPAR cleavage and shedding in HUVEC cells.</li> <li>Figure 5.7: PMA stimulation and "Wounding" of HUVEC promotes uPAR shedding</li> <li>Figure 6.1:</li> <li>Figure 6.1:</li> <li>Figure 6.2:</li> <li>Figure 6.1:</li> <li>Figure</li></ul>	

. .

•

, .

# **Abbreviations**

APS	Ammonium persulfate
ATF	The aminoterminal fragment of uPA
D1 .	Domain 1 of uPAR
D2	Domain 2 of uPAR
D2D3	A uPAR fragment composed of domain 2 and 3
D3	Domain 3 of uPAR
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Medium
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
EDTA	Evhylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGF	Epidermal Growth Factor
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FACS	Flow cytometry
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
fMLP	formyl-MetLeuPro
GFD	Growth factor-like domain
Glu-Plg	Glu-Plasminogen
GPI	Glycosylphosphatidyl inositol
HGF	Hepatocyte growth factor
нк	High molecular weight Kiningen
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
ICAM	Intercellular adhesion molecule
П3	Interleukin-3
LFA	Leukocyte function associated antigen
LMW-uPA	Low molecular weight uPA
LRP	Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein
Lys-Plg	Lys-plasminogen
MMP	Matrix metalloprotease
MT-MMP:	Membrane-type matrix metalloprotease
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PAI	Plasminogen activator inhibitor
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PIPL-C	Phosphatidyl-inositol specific lipase C
PIPL-D	Phosphatidyl-inositol specific lipase D
PLA-2	Phospholipase A2
PMC	Polymorphic nucleated cells
PNGase F	Peptide-N-glycosidase F
PNH	Paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria
PTK	Protein tyrosine kinase
PTX	Pertussis toxin
TAE	Tris acetate EDTA buffer
TBS	Tris buffered saline
TE	Tris-EDTA buffer
TEMED	N.N.Ntetramethylethylene diamine
v/v	Volume for volume

- 1 -

# **Publications and manuscripts**

Part of the work presented in this thesis is published, submitted for publication, or in preparation for publication. The Results & Discussion sections (Chapter 3-6) present the data described in the following publications / manuscripts, and will be cited throughout the thesis by their chapter number.

#### Chapter 3:

Sidenius, N., and Blasi, F. (1999). Domain 1 of the urokinase receptor (uPAR) is required for cellular adhesion to vitronectin. FEBS Letters *in press* 

#### Chapter 4:

Fazioli, F., Resnati, M., Sidenius, N., Higashimoto, Y., Appella, E., and Blasi, F. (1997). A urokinase-sensitive region of the human urokinase receptor is responsible for its chemotactic activity. EMBO J 16, 7279-86.

#### Chapter 5:

Sidenius, N., Orlando, S., Blasi, F., and Sier, C. F. M. (1999). Cleavage and shedding of the urokinase receptor in leukocytes and vascular endothelial cells. *Manuscript in preparation*.

#### Chapter 6:

Sidenius, N., Mariani, A., Aletti, G., Agape, V., Giavazzi, R., Frandsen, T. L., R.W. Stephens, S., Brünner, N., Blasi, F., and Sier, C. F. M. (1999). Tumor-derived fragments of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor in urine. *Submitted*.

2 -

## Abstract

The urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR), is a multifunctional protein with an impressive range of distinct, but overlapping functions in the process of tissue remodelling and cell migration: 1) uPAR regulates extracellular proteolysis by promoting plasminogen activation; 2) uPAR regulates cell adhesion as an adhesion receptor for vitronectin and by its capacity to modulate integrin function; 3) uPAR regulates cell migration as a signal transduction molecule and by its intrinsic chemotactic activity. In this thesis I have analysed the consequences, and occurrence, of uPAR cleavage and shedding.

In chapter 3 I analyse the structural requirements for uPAR to promote cellular adhesion to vitronectin. I demonstrate that cell surface expression of intact uPAR is necessary and sufficient to promote binding of the myeloid cell line 32D to vitronectin. In this cell system the uPAR mediated cell binding does not lead to cell spreading and does not require integrin activation. In chapter 4 I demonstrate that the chemotactic activity of uPAR maps to the linker region which connects the first and second domain of uPAR. This chemotactic epitope (the SRSRY motif) is required and sufficient for the chemotactic activity of soluble uPAR fragments and appears to induce signalling similar to that induced by uPAR ligands such as uPA. In chapter 5 I show that uPAR and the uPAR fragments D1 and D2D3 are indeed generated on the cell surface and released to the surroundings by several different cell types. In chapter 6 I describe and characterise the presence of soluble uPAR and uPAR fragments in vivo. I demonstrate that suPAR as well as the suPAR fragments D1 and D2D3 are present in human urine. Using mice xenografted with human model tumours I demonstrate that the tumour tissue is a source of urinary suPAR antigen and that the suPAR fragment pattern in urine correlates with uPAR cleavage in the tumour tissue.

# Chapter 1:

# INTRODUCTION

- 3 -

#### Preface

The development and normal functioning of all cell types in the multicellular organism depends upon interactions with molecules present in their environment. The major types of molecules that regulate and determine cell growth and development include growth and differentiation factors, extracellular matrix proteins, and their respective cellular membrane receptors.

The extracellular matrix (ECM) is the intercellular mesh, which provides the mechanical strength, rigidity and elasticity of virtually all tissues. Initially, the ECM was mostly considered important for its mechanical properties, an inert structure through which nutrition and signalling molecules can diffuse. However it has become clear that the extracellular matrix *per se* plays many fundamental roles in cell function. One example of this is the nervous system in which cell interactions with the ECM play a fundamental role in cell migration, neuronal survival, axon guidance and synapse formation.

Rather than being static, the organism undergoes continuous remodelling throughout development and in the adult phase. Physiological processes that involve extensive tissue remodelling include wound healing, mammary gland involution and embryo implantation. The process of tumour invasion and metastasis in cancer provides an "excellent" example of the extensive tissue remodelling that may occur in pathological processes.

Tissue remodelling is almost synonymous with cell migration; a process in which the ECM plays the dual role of the substratum on which the cells move as well as the physical obstacle that the cells have to surpass. To degrade the physical obstacle, which the ECM poses in the direction of migration, cells use proteolytic enzymes capable of degrading the ECM components. The best studied proteolytic systems responsible for ECM degradation are the plasminogen activation system, which generates the potent serine protease plasmin, and the family of matrix metalloproteases (MMPs).

The subject of this thesis, the urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR), is a multifunctional protein with an impressive range of distinct, but overlapping functions in the process of tissue remodelling and cell migration: 1) uPAR regulates extracellular proteolysis by promoting plasminogen activation; 2) uPAR regulates cell adhesion as an adhesion receptor for vitronectin and by its capacity to modulate integrin function; 3) uPAR regulates cell migration as a signal transduction molecule and by its intrinsic chemotactic activity.

#### Chapter 1:

# **Cell adhesion molecules**

The interactions between cells and the ECM play a fundamental role in cell adhesion and migration. Cell-cell and cell-ECM contacts are mediated by cellular adhesion receptors, which may interact with proteins in the ECM or on the surface of other cells. Cell-cell contacts range from the stable interactions between epithelial cells to the transient and highly regulated interactions between cells of the immune system and between leukocytes and the vascular endothelium. The most well characterised adhesion receptors are members of the cadherin, immunoglobulin, selectin and integrin super families.

Cadherins are a family of single-pass transmembrane glycoproteins that play a crucial role in  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent cell-cell interactions. The function of these molecules is to establish tight cell-cell associations and to define the adhesive specificity of cells. The expression of the cadherins is both temporally and spatially regulated in a fashion that correlates with (re)organisation of tissues. Proteins from the cadherin family are responsible for the formation of gap junctions and thus for intercellular signalling, and for the formation of desmosomes which contribute to the tensile strength of epithelial tissues.

Cell adhesion receptors from the immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily have one or more of the typical Ig domains in their extracellular portion. The receptors are either single-pass transmembrane proteins or linked to the cell surface by a glycosylphosphatidyl inositol (GPI) anchor. Adhesion receptors from the Ig superfamily play a multitude of functions in embryonic development and are also expressed by many cells in the adult organism. Many proteins from this superfamily play important functions in the cell-cell interactions of the immune system and between leukocytes and the vasculature. This family includes proteins such as ICAM-1, ICAM-2 and VCAM.

Selectins are single-pass transmembrane proteins that are expressed by leukocytes, platelets and vascular endothelial cells. Through their extracellular lectin-like domains these receptors interact with carbohydrate structures present on other cells. The selectins mediate cell-cell interactions between leukocytes and the vessel wall and participate in platelet aggregation. The selectins play important functions in processes such as neutrophil extravasation and lymphocyte homing.

The integrin family of adhesion receptors plays many important functions in cell-cell and cell-ECM interactions. Integrins are heterodimers composed of one  $\alpha$ -subunit and one  $\beta$ -subunit. The existence of at least 15 different  $\alpha$ -subunits and 8 different  $\beta$ -subunits gives rise to an immense number of possible combinations, however only a limited number (around 20) seem to exist. Integrins interact with a variety of ECM proteins including vitronectin, fibronectin, collagen, laminin and with a number of different cell surface proteins. Integrins are the major

- 5 -

type of adhesion receptors mediating cell-ECM contacts but also have important functions in cellcell contacts and in signal transduction.

The subject of this thesis, the urokinase receptor (uPAR), is not a member of these protein families. However, uPAR is capable of mediating cell-ECM and cell-cell contacts, and can therefore also be considered an adhesion receptor, maybe the first of a yet to be defined family

- 6 -

#### Chapter 1:

# **Extracellular proteolysis**

Processes involving tissue remodelling and cell migration require the degradation of ECM components. To accomplish this degradation cells express a variety of proteases with variable activity and substrate specificity. The activity of these proteases is localised and regulated by their interactions with ECM components and a variety of specific inhibitors and cell surface receptors. The two major proteolytic systems responsible for ECM degradation are the matrix metalloproteases (MMPs) and the plasminogen activator system.

Some of the proteases in these two systems appear to be highly specific while others have a broad range of substrates. Proteases from both systems are secreted as inactive zymogens, which require a proteolytic cleavage to gain full activity. The activating cleavage may be executed by a protease from the same system, as exemplified by the activation of pro-uPA by plasmin, or by the action of a protease from another system, as exemplified by the activation of proMMP-2 by plasmin. The redundancy within and between these two protease systems most likely reflects the importance of regulated extracellular proteolysis.

uPAR is intimately connected to the plasminogen activator system which will therefore be discussed in detail. However, to provide a more complete picture I will start with a very brief introduction to the MMP system.

# Matrix metalloproteases (MMPs)

MMPs are a family of proteins capable of degrading ECM components under physiological conditions. The family currently consists of 16 members but more may exist. The proteins share a common catalytic domain, which binds the Zn²⁺ necessary for function, and a region responsible for the maintenance of zymogen latency. Various other domains present in the enzymes determine activity, substrate specificity, ECM association and inhibitor binding. Four of the MMPs are integral membrane proteins (membrane-type MMPs, MT-MMPs). The MT-MMPs have a domain structure which is similar to the other MMPs except for the addition of a transmembrane domain and a cytoplasmic tail. The MMPs have been classified based on their substrate preferences: the gelatinases, which degrade non-fibrillar and other types of denatured collagens; the collagenases, which degrade fibrillar collagen; and the stromelysins, which preferentially degrade glycoproteins and proteoglycans.

Four specific inhibitors of matrix metalloproteases (tissue inhibitor of metalloproteases, TIMPs) have been identified. The TIMPs inhibit MMP activity through the formation of complexes with the active MMPs. The TIMPs have in common their inhibitory effect on MMPs but have different expression patterns. TIMPs are found to have other functions and may even promote MMP activation under certain circumstances.

- 7 -

MMP activation occurs by proteolytic cleavage of the propeptide which blocks the active site cleft and is a critical point in the regulation of these enzymes. The activation can be accomplished by other members of the MMP family or by enzymes from other protease systems as for instance by plasmin which is capable of activating several of the MMPs. Furthermore, MT-MMPs may be activated before they reach the cell surface by action of the protease furin.

In parallel to what will be described later for the plasminogen activator system, interesting mechanisms exists for the activation of MMPs on the cell surface. The activation of MMP-2 on the cell surface for example starts with the binding of MMP-2 to a preformed cell surface complex composed of MT1-MMP and TIMP-2. The formation of the trimeric MT1-MMP/TIMP-2/pro-MMP-2 complex localises pro-MMP-2 to the cell surface where it is efficiently activated by flanking MT1-MMP free of TIMP-2. In accordance with this model the concentration of TIMP-2 plays a critical role in the cell surface activation of pro-MMP-2. TIMP-2 is required to create the binding sites for pro-MMP-2 on the cell surface, but too much TIMP-2 will block all the active MT1-MMPs and prevents the concomitant activation of bound pro-MMP-2 (for recent reviews on the interesting field of MMP activation, MT-MMPs and MMPs in angiogenesis see Murphy et al., 1999; Seiki, 1999; Stetler-Stevenson, 1999; Werb et al., 1999.)

#### The plasminogen activator system

Plasmin is capable of degrading virtually all proteins present in the ECM, either directly or through the activation of pro-MMPs. Plasminogen, the zymogen of plasmin, is present almost everywhere in the organism and can be activated by either of the two known plasminogen activators: urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) and tissue-type plasminogen activator (tPA).

The uPA-type of plasminogen activation is very efficiently exerted on the cell surface in a process which require the concomitant binding of both pro-uPA and plasminogen to the cell surface. The binding of pro-uPA to the cell surface is critical for the acceleration of plasminogen activation and is mediated by a specific uPA-receptor (the subject of this thesis, uPAR). The activity of the enzymes from the plasminogen activator system is regulated by a number of plasmin and plasminogen activator inhibitors, which prevent the potentially disastrous consequences of uncontrolled ECM proteolysis. Plasminogen activation thus provides a highly versatile, directed, and regulated system for the degradation of the ECM.

The plasminogen activator system has for many years been considered the major proteolytic system responsible for ECM degradation in processes involving tissue remodelling and cell migration. However, the accumulation of information about other protease systems, and

- 8 -

in particular about the MMPs, has demonstrated the existence of an extensive functional overlap and complementarity between these systems.

As the different players of the plasminogen system are intrinsically connected to the function of uPAR, I will in this section describe these molecules in some detail.

#### Plasminogen

Plasminogen is the zymogen for the serine protease plasmin. The major form of plasminogen is a single chain glycoprotein of 92 kDa with an aminoterminal glutamic acid residue and is known as Glu-plasminogen (Glu-Plg). Minor forms of plasminogen are generated by limited proteolysis of the aminoterminal sequence and are collectively known as Lys-plasminogen (Lys-Plg)(Lijnen and Collen, 1982). The different forms of plasminogen have different binding affinities for fibrin and different activation characteristics (Claeys and Vermylen, 1974; Lijnen and Collen, 1982). By its "kringle" domains plasminogen is able to bind many different ECM proteins including fibrin, fibronectin, thrombospondin, vitronectin and laminin (Preissner, 1990; Salonen et al., 1985; Salonen et al., 1984; Silverstein et al., 1990).

Plasminogen activation is catalysed by one of the two known plasminogen activators uPA and tPA and occurs by a specific proteolytic cleavage between aminoacids Arg 560 and Val 561. The cleavage generates the plasmin A and B chains, which remain linked by two disulphide bonds. The generated plasmin is a trypsin-like, broad specificity serine protease that cleaves most of the ECM proteins to which it binds including fibrin, fibronectin, thrombospondin and laminin (Danø et al., 1985; Pöllänen et al., 1991). Plasmin is rapidly inactivated by the serum inhibitors  $\alpha_2$ -antiplasmin and  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin, which are present abundantly in the organism.

Virtually all cells have high capacity, low-affinity (1  $\mu$ M), cellular binding sites for plasminogen (reviewed by Felez et al., 1990) and the concomitant binding of uPA to cell surfaces strongly enhances the generation of plasmin (Ellis et al., 1989; Stephens et al., 1989). Cell surface bound plasmin is resistant to inhibition by  $\alpha_2$ -antiplasmin and  $\alpha_2$ -macroglobulin (Hall et al., 1991) hereby enhancing and concentrating the plasmin activity to the pericellular space.

Mice with an inactivated plasminogen gene have been generated (Bugge et al., 1995). Plasminogen deficiency results in high mortality, wasting, spontaneous gastrointestinal ulceration, rectal prolapse, and severe thrombosis, but is however compatible with development and reproduction. A combined deficiency of fibrinogen and plasminogen rescues mice from most of the pleiotropic effects of plasminogen-deficiency (Bugge et al., 1996). In fact, mice deficient in both plasminogen and fibrinogen are phenotypically indistinguishable from fibrinogendeficient mice, suggesting that the fundamental and maybe the only essential physiological role of plasminogen is fibrinolysis. However, plasminogen-deficient mice display impaired wound

- 9 -

healing (Rømer et al., 1996a; Rømer et al., 1996b), arterial neointima formation (Carmeliet et al., 1997d), and monocyte migration (Ploplis et al., 1998), demonstrating the important role of plasminogen in processes involving cell migration.

Plasminogen is capable of activating some pro-MMPs (Mignatti et al., 1986; Murphy et al., 1992; Werb et al., 1977) and may thereby promote the degradation of ECM proteins which plasmin fails to degrade directly. The role of plasmin in the activation of pro-MMPs has been addressed *in vivo* using Plg-deficient mice (Lijnen et al., 1998). In an experimental system of arterial injury plasminogen appears to be required for the activation of pro-MMP-9 but not for pro-MMP-2 activation. These latter data suggest that plasmin may be important for the activation of some pro-MMP, while others are more dependent upon other activation mechanisms such as the activation by (MT-)MMPs.

Plasmin may also have a function in the activation of precursor forms of cytokines and growth factors (reviewed by Rifkin et al., 1999) as exemplified by the activation of transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ )(Nunes et al., 1995).

The important role of plasminogen in cancer is substantiated by the finding that tumour growth and metastasis in Polyoma virus middle T (PymT) antigen-induced mammary cancer is reduced in plasminogen-deficient mice (Bugge et al., 1998). However, in the Lewis-Lung cancer model system plasminogen deficiency has no significant effect on metastasis, and only a mild effect on primary tumour growth and overall survival (Bugge et al., 1997). The latter observation is particularly intriguing as plasminogen is the precursor for the anti-angiogenic molecule angiostatin which has strong effects on metastasis of the Lewis-Lung tumour (O'Reilly et al., 1994).

#### **Plasminogen activators**

Plasminogen activators (PA) are highly specific serine proteases capable of activating plasminogen to plasmin. In mammalians two different PAs have been identified, urinary-type and tissue-type plasminogen activator (uPA and tPA). Even though the two PAs catalyse the same reaction, uPA is thought to be more important in tissue remodelling and tPA in vascular fibrinolysis. As these enzymes catalyse the same reaction, a significant functional overlap between the tPA and uPA has been observed. This functional overlap is best illustrated by gene inactivation experiments in which the single inactivation of uPA or tPA causes only rather mild phenotypes, while the double deficiency causes extensive spontaneous fibrin deposition and consequent serious effects on growth, fertility and survival (Carmeliet et al., 1994). The consequences of uPA and tPA double deficiency, is similar to the consequences of plasminogen deficiency (Bugge et al., 1995).

Chapter 1:

Urokinase-type plasminogen activator uPA

The zymogen form of human uPA (pro-uPA) is secreted as a single glycoprotein chain of 52 kDa. The protein is composed of three distinct regions namely the growth factor domain, the kringle domain and the catalytic domain. The growth factor domain has significant homology with epidermal growth factor (EGF), while the kringle domain is homologous to those present in tPA and plasminogen.

Many different cell types secrete pro-uPA and elevated levels of production are in particular associated with transformed phenotypes of cells. In adherent cells uPA is almost exclusively localised at cell-cell contacts and at focal adhesion contacts with the ECM (Pöllänen et al., 1988; Pöllänen et al., 1990).

Both pro-uPA and uPA bind with high affinity (0.1-1 nM) to a glycosylphosphatidyl inositol (GPI) anchored glycoprotein, uPAR. The coincident binding of pro-uPA and plasminogen to the cell surface strongly enhances pro-uPA and plasminogen activation (Ellis et al., 1991; Stephens et al., 1989) by a mechanism which probably involves a constructive alignment of the two pro-enzymes (Ellis and Danø, 1993). Low affinity interactions between uPA and ECM proteins such as thrombospondin, fibrin and vitronectin have also been described (Moser et al., 1995; Pannell and Gurewich, 1986; Silverstein et al., 1990).

Active uPA is generated by plasmin cleavage of pro-uPA between Lys 158 and Ile 159, resulting in a molecule composed of two polypeptides held together by a single disulphide bond. Plasmin is also able to cleave pro-uPA at Lys 135 / Lys 136 generating two separate fragments: the aminoterminal fragment (ATF) composed of the EGF and kringle domains, and the carboxyterminal fragment containing the catalytic domain (often referred to as low molecular weight uPA (LMW-uPA)).

uPA deficient mice have been generated (Carmeliet et al., 1994). The mice have normal life-span and fertility, and the only histological phenotype is the occasional occurrence of fibrin deposits. Experiments with uPA-deficient mice and cells derived from these have identified a number of interesting abnormalities with respect to cell migration, immune response, growth factor activity and activation of MMPs.

uPA-deficiency causes an in-efficient pulmonary inflammatory response to C. *neoformans* (Gyetko et al., 1996) with concomitant elevated mortality, suggesting that uPA plays important functions in the immune system. Furthermore, T cells isolated from the uPA-deficient mice display impaired activation and proliferation *in vitro* (Gyetko et al., 1999).

uPA-deficient mice display impaired arterial neointima formation after injury, most likely caused by an impaired migration of smooth muscle cells (Carmeliet et al., 1997a). Analysis of atherosclerotic aortas in mice with a combined deficiency of apolipoprotein E and uPA indicates

- 11 -

that deficiency of uPA protects against media destruction and aneurysm formation, probably by means of reduced plasmin-dependent activation of pro-MMPs (Carmeliet et al., 1997b).

Experiments using smooth muscle cells isolated from uPA-deficient mice show that uPA catalysed plasminogen activation, through the generation of active TGF $\beta$  from latent TGF $\beta$ , is required for the anti-apoptotic activity of TGF $\beta$  on smooth muscle cells (Herbert and Carmeliet, 1997).

#### Tissue-type plasminogen activator (tPA)

tPA is a secreted single chain 70 kDa glycoprotein. The protein is composed of a aminoterminal finger domain, a growth factor domain, two kringle domains, and a carboxyterminal catalytic domain. tPA is secreted from vascular endothelial cells and measurable levels of tPA are found in the circulation (Holvoet et al., 1985). tPA is also secreted from many cultured tumour cells, including melanoma and neuroblastoma (Andreasen et al., 1984). Cellular binding sites exist on many cells including endothelial, neuronal and melanoma cell lines (Bizik et al., 1990; Hajjar et al., 1987), but the function of the cellular binding site for tPA has not been finally determined.

Single chain tPA has, unlike pro-uPA, notable enzymatic activity (Boose et al., 1989). The enzymatic activity is enhanced by plasmin cleavage at Arg 275, which generates the twochain form held together by a single disulphide bond. The catalytic activity of both forms of the enzyme is strongly enhanced by the interaction with fibrin (Hoylaerts et al., 1982), which also reduces the rate of inhibition by PAI-1 and PAI-2 (Leung et al., 1987). The fibrin requirement for optimal catalytic activity of tPA suggests that this enzyme may predominantly play a functional role in fibrinolysis.

tPA-deficient mice have been generated (Carmeliet et al., 1995). The mice are fertile and have a normal life-span. However, the mice display impaired lysis of blood clots supporting the view that tPA is involved in the maintenance of vascular fibrinolysis.

Interestingly, tPA appears to play a role in neuron function. Mice deficient for tPA are resistant to excitotoxin-mediated hippocampal neuronal degeneration (Tsirka et al., 1997) and long-term potentiation in different neuronal cells is also impaired (Huang et al., 1996). The role of tPA in the brain has recently been substantiated, as transgenic mice overexpressing tPA have enhanced hippocampal long-term potentiation and learning ability (Madani et al., 1999).

#### Plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 (PAI-1)

Plasminogen activator inhibitors (PAIs) belong to the family of serine protease inhibitors (serpins). The inhibitors form 1:1 complexes specifically with the active (two chain) forms of the

plasminogen activators (Wun and Reich, 1987). The formed complexes are SDS-PAGE resistant suggesting a covalent binding between the two molecules.

PAI-1 is a 52 kDa glycoprotein (Andreasen et al., 1986; Ny et al., 1986; Pannekoek et al., 1986) secreted by a wide range of cell types including vascular endothelium, platelets, hepatocytes, fibroblasts, and many different tumour cell lines. The protein is present in normal plasma at 10-30 ng/ml but elevated levels are observed in different physiological and pathological conditions. In solution, secreted active PAI-1 rapidly loses activity by a conformational change into a latent form (Levin, 1986). PAI-1 interacts with circulating and ECM forms of vitronectin and this binding stabilises PAI-1 in its active configuration (Declerck et al., 1988; Pöllänen et al., 1987; Salonen et al., 1989; Wiman et al., 1988).

PAI-1 is considered to be the principal regulator of fibrinolysis in the vasculature and recent findings demonstrate that it also plays important roles in processes as cell migration and adhesion. The latter aspects of PAI-1 will be described later in the introduction.

PAI-1-deficient mice are viable and fertile, and show no apparent macroscopic histological abnormalities (Carmeliet et al., 1993). A more detailed analysis of PAI-1-deficiency demonstrates impaired vascular wound healing and arterial neointima formation after injury, probably caused by reduced cell migration (Carmeliet et al., 1997c). Absence of host PAI-1 prevents invasion and vascularisation of transplanted malignant keratinocytes (Bajou et al., 1998), suggesting that PAI-1 may play a role in angiogenesis and tumour invasion. Also the resolution of experimentally induced thrombi is enhanced in PAI-1-deficient mice strengthening the view that PAI-1 is indeed an important determinant of thrombolysis for instance at sites of arterial injury (Farrehi et al., 1998).

#### Plasminogen activator inhibitor type 2 (PAI-2)

PAI-2 exists in a 47 kDa intracellular and in a glycosylated 60 kDa extracellular form (Wohlwend et al., 1987). PAI-2 is secreted from stimulated monocytes, cultured U937 cells and from placental trophoblastic epithelium (Åstedt et al., 1985; Golder and Stephens, 1983; Wun and Reich, 1987). Unlike PAI-1, PAI-2 does not spontaneously lose activity in solution and has no known binding proteins in the extracellular matrix.

PAI-2 is thought to predominantly be an inhibitor of uPA, as its activity towards fibrin bound tPA is strongly reduced (Leung et al., 1987; Wun and Reich, 1987).

The understanding of the role of PAI-2 in extracellular matrix proteolysis is complicated by the fact that induction of PAI-2 expression in fibroblasts and melanoma cells leads to accumulation of an intracellular form, without notable secretion (Pytel et al., 1990). PAI-2 deficient mice have been generated (Dougherty et al., 1999) and are phenotypically normal.

# The Urokinase Receptor (uPAR)

uPAR was discovered in 1985 as a cellular high affinity binding site for uPA present on fibroblasts, monocytes and cultured U937 cells (Bajpai and Baker, 1985; Stoppelli et al., 1985; Vassalli et al., 1985). Utilising its affinity for uPA the receptor was purified, partially sequenced, and a human uPAR cDNA was cloned (Roldan et al., 1990). Since then, uPAR encoding cDNAs from mouse, rat, and bovine cells have been cloned and sequenced (Krätzschmar et al., 1993; Kristensen et al., 1991; Rabbani et al., 1994; Reuning et al., 1993).

uPAR mediated cell binding of uPA is regulated at various levels. The steady state level of uPAR mRNA is regulated on the level of transcription and mRNA stability. Posttranslational glycosylation affects the affinity of the receptor for uPA and sorting of uPAR to secretory organelles provides means for a rapid up-regulation of the cell surface expression. Once uPAR is on the cell surface the capacity to bind uPA is also regulated by receptor shedding, a process in which uPAR is released from the cell surface, and by proteolytic cleavage of uPAR which prevents uPA binding.

## ·uPAR gene structure and expression

The human uPAR gene is composed of seven exons and six introns. (Wang et al., 1995) and in man maps to chromosome 19 (Børglum et al., 1992).

uPAR is present on many cells, including migrating keratinocytes, tumour-infiltrating fibroblasts, T lymphocytes and macrophages, many cancer cells, and most cultured cell lines (Pyke et al., 1991; Rømer et al., 1994a; Rømer et al., 1994b). In leukocytes uPAR is expressed by monocytes, neutrophils and activated T cells, but not B cells, resting T cells, and undifferentiated myeloid cells (Plesner et al., 1997; Ploug et al., 1992b; Vassalli et al., 1985). uPAR expression in T cells can be efficiently induced by co-clustering of the T cell receptor complex and integrins (Bianchi et al., 1996), or by infection with HIV (Nykjaer et al., 1994; Speth et al., 1998), identifying uPAR as a T cell activation antigen. uPAR is also a monocyte activation antigen (Dore-Duffy et al., 1992; Picone et al., 1989).

Basal transcription of the uPAR gene is driven by a TATA-less proximal promoter (Soravia et al., 1995). A number of cytokines, such as TNF $\alpha$  and TGF $\beta$ , and phorbol esters may regulate uPAR transcription (Lund et al., 1995; Lund et al., 1991; Niiya et al., 1998; Picone et al., 1989; Wang et al., 1994). The expression level of uPAR is also regulated on the level of mRNA stability and the responsible regions within the uPAR mRNA as well as mRNA binding proteins have been identified (Lund et al., 1995; Lund et al., 1991; Niiya et al., 1998; Shetty et al., 1997; Wang et al., 1998).

## The protein structure of uPAR

The human uPAR cDNA encodes a 335 amino acid polypeptide. The nascent polypeptide chain is posttranslationally modified in several ways to generate the mature receptor. An aminoterminal signal peptide and a carboxyterminal GPI-anchor peptide are removed during the processing for glycosylphosphatidyl inositol (GPI) anchoring and cell-surface sorting. Finally, the protein is extensively glycosylated (Møller et al., 1992; Ploug et al., 1991; Roldan et al., 1990).

#### Glycosylation

The glycosylation of uPAR is highly heterogeneous and responsible for approximately half of uPAR's apparent molecular weight of 50-60 kDa (Behrendt et al., 1990; Roldan et al., 1990). Based on the primary sequence, human uPAR contains five potential N-glycosylation sites (Roldan et al., 1990). However on recombinant human suPAR expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells (CHO) only four of the five asparagine residues (Asn52, Asn162, Asn172, and, Asn200) are glycosylated. The glycosylation profile of uPAR has recently been determined (Ploug et al., 1998c).

The glycosylation profile of uPAR is dependent on cell-type and differentiation, and may play a role in the regulation of the affinity for uPA (Behrendt et al., 1990; Møller et al., 1993; Picone et al., 1989; Ploug et al., 1998c).

#### GPI-anchoring

During the post-translational processing of the nascent uPAR polypeptide the ~28 carboxyterminal amino acids are removed and the GPI-moiety covalently attached to the novel carboxyterminus. The exact carboxyterminus, and thus the position of the GPI-anchor on mature uPAR, has not been determined yet but mutagenesis studies strongly suggest that Gly 283 is the GPI-anchorage site (Møller et al., 1992).

The fact that uPAR is anchored to the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane is essential for the understanding of its biology. Lacking a membrane or intracellular protein segment, the highly regulated cell-surface distribution and signal transduction by uPAR must be mediated through the interaction of uPAR with other integral membrane proteins and/or specific lipids. GPI-anchoring of uPAR also renders the protein prone to release from the cell surface by phospholipases, generating soluble forms of uPAR (termed suPAR) which can indeed be found *in vitro* and *in vivo*, although the biological relevance of this still has to be clarified.

Much of the biochemical analysis of uPAR has been performed using recombinant soluble forms of uPAR, termed suPAR, generated by carboxyterminal truncation after amino acid

274. Truncation of uPAR at this position generates a receptor which is correctly folded but secreted rather than GPI-anchored. suPAR apparently possesses the same binding properties as GPI-anchored uPAR purified from eukaryotic cells (Rønne et al., 1994).

#### Domain structure of mature uPAR

Mature uPAR is composed of three similar domains which will be termed D1, D2 and D3 from now on (figure 1.1). Each of these domains consists of approximately 90 amino acids and they are characterised by a particular pattern of Cys residues (Behrendt et al., 1991; Ploug et al., 1993). uPAR belongs to a superfamily of proteins comprising the mouse antigen Ly-6, the complement component CD59, the murine thymocyte / B cell antigen ThB, a human homologue of ThB (Ag E48), the rat bone protein RoBo-1, the herpes virus protein HVS-115, the snake serum protein PLI-1 (Nobuhisa et al., 1997), and the snake venom  $\alpha$ -neurotoxins (Albrecht et al., 1992; Brakenhoff et al., 1995; Gumley et al., 1992; Palfree, 1991).

The disulphide pairing pattern of uPAR D1 has been determined (Ploug et al., 1993) and conforms to that of CD59 (Sugita et al., 1993). The structure of CD59 has been determined by NMR-studies and has been used to model the individual uPAR domains. The structure is composed of a disulphide cross-linked core from which three loops extend. The structure is dominated by  $\beta$  sheets and a short  $\alpha$ -helical segment in the third loop (Fletcher et al., 1994; Kieffer et al., 1994).

#### **Molecular uPAR interactions**

uPAR is anchored to the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane by a GPI-anchor, has no intracellular domain or transmembrane spanning segment, is devoid of catalytic activity, and therefore must perform all its known functions through its interaction with other proteins. These interactions can be divided into two groups, depending whether they occur with other membrane molecules on the same cell (lateral interactions) or with molecules in solution, in the extracellular matrix, or on other cells (ligand interactions).

Lateral interactions between uPAR and other membrane proteins are crucial for the function of uPAR as a modulator of cell adhesion and migration, and for its chemokine activity. The existence of these uPAR interactions relies so far only on circumstantial evidence. The techniques employed include co-localisation by immunohistochemistry, fluorescence resonance energy transfer (RET) analysis, chemical cross-linking and co-immunoprecipitation. The structural basis for these direct molecular interactions is presently unknown.

The ligand interactions of uPAR include its classical interaction with uPA and vitronectin. The interaction of uPAR with these two molecules forms the molecular basis for many of the biological roles of uPAR in proteolysis and cell adhesion are they are very well documented in the literature.

#### The interaction between uPAR and uPA

uPAR was initially identified as the cellular binding site for uPA, and the structural basis for this interaction has now been studied for more than a decade. While the binding determinants within uPA have been mapped to a single epitope, the regions of uPAR critical for binding are multiple and may involve conformational changes of the receptor.

In uPA, the region necessary and sufficient for high-affinity binding to uPAR is located in the aminoterminal growth factor-like domain (GFD, Appella et al., 1987). The binding site is located within the omega-loop (amino acid residues 22-28, Hansen et al., 1994)), a region which is critical for binding (Magdolen et al., 1996; Ploug et al., 1995). Glycosylation of uPA does not seem to be important for binding because uPA expressed in E.coli interacts with uPAR with similar affinity as the glycosylated protein.

Cleavage of uPAR by chymotrypsin in the linker region between D1 and D2 generates the two uPAR fragments D1 and D2D3 (Behrendt et al., 1991). This cleavage dramatically reduces (>2000 fold) the affinity for uPA, and specific uPA binding can only be demonstrated for the D1 fragment (Behrendt et al., 1991; Ploug et al., 1994). The fact that uPAR cleavage reduces the affinity dramatically suggests that determinants within D2 and/or D3 are also important for uPA binding. In fact, a soluble uPAR lacking D3 displays strongly impaired binding of uPA (Behrendt et al., 1996). Photoaffinity labelling experiments using synthetic peptides that mimic the binding characteristics of uPA (Goodson et al., 1994), have indeed demonstrated the existence of a composite binding site involving regions within both D1 and D3 (Ploug, 1998a). In particular Tyr 57 in loop 3 of D1 has been demonstrated to be localised at the interaction interface (Ploug et al., 1995).

The glycosylation of Asn 52 in D1 also appears to be required for high affinity, as an engineered uPAR lacking D1 glycosylation displays moderately reduced binding affinity (Møller et al., 1993). The kinetic explanation for this appear to be an increased dissociation rate (Ploug et al., 1998c).

#### The interaction between uPAR and vitronectin

The second well-characterised ligand for uPAR is vitronectin. Vitronectin is glycoprotein present at high concentrations in plasma and produced by the liver (Preissner, 1989). It is found in a single-chain form with an apparent molecular weight of 75 kDa, and in a two-chain form (65 and 10 kDa) in which the two domains are held together by a single disulphide bond. Vitronectin

is found in a monomeric form (the native form) and in a denatured multimeric form (the matrix form).

The interaction between uPAR and vitronectin appears to be even more complex than the interaction between uPAR and uPA, and is not yet well understood. Both soluble and cellular uPAR interact with vitronectin (Waltz and Chapman, 1994; Wei et al., 1994; Chapter 3) and the binding takes place with both the native and denatured form (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a; Kanse et al., 1996). uPAR binding has been mapped to the aminoterminal somatomedin B domain of vitronectin (Deng et al., 1996), a region which also contains the binding sites for PAI-1 and the vitronectin receptor. Another region in vitronectin, close to the carboxyterminus, has also been demonstrated to bind uPAR but less efficiently (Waltz et al., 1997).

Vitronectin binding requires multiple regions within uPAR, as both the D1 and D2D3 fragments fail to display appreciable affinity (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a; Chapter 3). Several antibodies against D1 inhibit the interaction between uPAR and vitronectin suggesting a crucial role for this domain in the binding (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a; Kanse et al., 1996; Chapter 3). These data are in contrast to the initial observations which suggested that a fragment containing D2 and D3 was capable of interaction with vitronectin (Wei et al., 1994).

The binding to vitronectin is connected to the occupancy of uPAR by uPA (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a; Waltz and Chapman, 1994; Wei et al., 1994; Chapter 3). In most studies a notable increase in binding to vitronectin is observed, and in one case a strict requirement, upon binding of uPA. However, the affinity as assayed by real-time biomolecular analysis is not affected by uPA (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a). Taken together, most data are consistent with a model in which uPAR can exist in more than one conformation and that the vitronectin binding conformation is acquired upon uPA binding (Wei et al., 1994).

#### Other molecular uPAR interactions

Besides the (well-established) interactions with uPA and vitronectin, uPAR has been reported to directly interact with a couple of other proteins.

High molecular weight kininogen (HK) has been shown to interact with both cellular and soluble uPAR in a  $Zn^{2+}$  dependent mechanism through interactions with a region within D2 and/or D3 (Colman et al., 1997). The interaction between uPAR and kininogen, however, still needs more study.

A direct interaction between soluble uPAR and purified immobilised Mac-1, in a reaction which requires the active ligand binding conformation of Mac-1, has been demonstrated (Wei et al., 1996). The modulatory role of uPAR on Mac-1 function, which will be discussed in detail below, gives some support to the existence of this interaction.

# **Cleaved and soluble forms of uPAR**

Cellular uPAR has been shown to undergo two major types of cleavage that profoundly alter the characteristics of the receptor.

The first type is a proteolytic cleavage in the linker region connecting D1 and D2 and results in the release of the D1 fragment from the rest of the receptor. The cleavage changes the biochemical properties of the receptor completely. I will refer to this phenomenon as uPAR cleavage.

The second type of uPAR cleavage has not been characterised at the molecular level, but is either a proteolytic cleavage of the polypeptide chain close to the GPI anchor or hydrolysis of the GPI-anchor by a phospholipase. This cleavage releases the entire receptor from the cell surface, with concomitant functional changes, but does not alter the ligand binding properties of the receptor notably. I will refer to this process as uPAR shedding.

## uPAR cleavage

#### **Mechanism**

The clues for the domain structure of uPAR relies on the fact that uPAR can be fragmented into two parts using very low concentrations of chymotrypsin and that one of these, D1, is endowed with weak but specific uPA-binding activity (Behrendt et al., 1991). Together with the internal homology revealed by sequence analysis, these data suggested that uPAR is composed of three domains connected by two "linker regions" of approximately 20 amino acids. The linker region connecting D1 and D2 contains a number of potential cleavage sites for trypsin-and chymotrypsin-like proteases and for leukocyte elastase as shown in figure 1.1 (Behrendt et al., 1991; Ploug and Ellis, 1994).

Trypsin and chymotrypsin are not likely candidates for the uPAR cleavage *in vivo* and it is shown that biologically more relevant proteases, such as plasmin and uPA itself, are capable of cleaving the receptor in this region (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992). The cleavage of uPAR by uPA in solution does not require binding of uPA to uPAR as the ligand binding domain of uPA can not inhibit the reaction, and because the cleavage is equally well performed by a bindingdeficient form of uPA (LMW uPA).

The cleavage of uPAR by uPA is accelerated on the surface of U937 cells in a mechanism that requires the binding of uPA to uPAR (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b). The use of anti-catalytic uPA antibodies in cell culture has indeed demonstrated that uPA activity is required for the cleavage of uPAR on cultured U937 cells. The reason for the cell surface acceleration is not clear, but it has been suggested uPA bound to uPAR does not cleave the receptor it is occupying,

- 20 -

but rather nearby receptors on the same cell. The latter implies that efficient receptor cleavage is expected to occur most efficiently in uPAR rich zones on the cell surface, and even in the presence of low concentrations of uPA.

The high affinity between uPAR and uPA makes uPA a good candidate for uPAR cleavage *in vivo*. However, whether other proteases are also involved still remains to be resolved.

The linker region connecting D2 and D3 does not contain similar cleavage sites and is indeed much less susceptible to cleavage. The D2-D3 linker region is also expected to be less flexible than the D1-D2 linker region as D1 has one disulphide bond less than D2 and D3. Specific cleavage of uPAR between D2 and D3 can however be achieved in solution using pepsin (Behrendt et al., 1996).

#### **Biochemical consequences**

As described in the previous section, the cleavage of cellular uPAR in the region between D1 and D2 profoundly alters the biochemical properties of the receptor. The released D1 has a 2000 fold reduced affinity for uPA as compared to the intact receptor and the D2D3 fragment has no measurable affinity at all (Ploug et al., 1994). Also the interaction with vitronectin is lost as none of the generated fragments binds with measurable affinity (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a). In this respect the cleavage of uPAR can be seen as an inactivation mechanism. However, as the cleavage of uPAR exposes novel epitopes capable of interacting with so far unidentified membrane proteins (Fazioli et al., 1997; Resnati et al., 1996), the cleavage of uPAR may also be considered an activation event.

#### The occurrence of receptor cleavage

Cleaved uPAR (D2D3) has been found on the surface of many cells including endothelial cells, lymphocytes, U937 cells, and in several different cancer cell lines (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999; Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992; Ragno et al., 1998; Solberg et al., 1994; Chapter 6). Cleaved uPAR has also been identified in detergent extracts of transplanted human tumours grown in nude mice and in the mouse Lewis Lung tumour (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999; Solberg et al., 1994; Chapter 6). The cleavage of cellular uPAR releases D1 to the surroundings and D1 can indeed be found in the conditioned medium from cells with cleaved uPAR on the surface (Chapter 5).

One of the major obstacles in the analysis of cleaved uPAR is caused by the highly heterogeneous glycosylation of uPAR that often masks the difference between D2D3 and full-length uPAR in ordinary immunoblots. Only the careful use of domain-specific monoclonal antibodies and/or deglycosylated extracts allows this type of analysis to be performed in an unambiguous way (Chapter 5).

#### uPAR shedding

Soluble forms of uPAR (suPAR) are thought to lack the GPI-anchor, rendering the molecule more soluble in aqueous solutions. The absence of the GPI-anchor has been demonstrated for suPAR isolated from ascitic fluid of ovarian cancer patients (Pedersen et al., 1993). However, I will in the following consider all uPAR molecules found in cell-free liquids such as conditioned medium, serum and urine, as suPAR, even though the absence of the GPI-anchor often has not been confirmed.

#### Mechanism

The mechanism of uPAR shedding has not been determined yet. Bacterial phosphatidylinositol specific lipase C (PIPL-C) is able to release uPAR from the surface of cells, but no equivalent eukaryotic activity has been described (Ploug et al., 1991). A human cellular phosphatidylinositol specific phospholipase D (PIPL-D) is able to release GPI-anchored proteins from the cell surface (Metz et al., 1994), and this phospholipase has also recently been implicated in the release of uPAR (Wilhelm et al., 1999).

Another possibility is that uPAR shedding is caused by "imperfect" sorting, possibly in cases where uPAR expression is very high or rapidly upregulated.

#### **Biochemical consequences**

uPAR shedding does apparently not alter its affinity for uPA and vitronectin (Rønne et al., 1994; Wei et al., 1994).

#### Occurrence of suPAR and suPAR fragments

suPAR is present in the conditioned medium from endothelial cells, leukocytes, U937 and HT1080 cells (Chavakis et al., 1998; Lau and Kim, 1994; Ploug et al., 1991; Chapter 5) and in biological fluids such as plasma, urine, spinal fluid, ascites, and ovarian cyst fluid (Pedersen et al., 1993; Sier et al., 1999; Stephens et al., 1997; Wahlberg et al., 1998).

Until recently, soluble forms of cleaved uPAR (D2D3) have only been described in ovarian cyst fluid (Wahlberg et al., 1998) while it had been suggested that D2D3, unlike fulllength uPAR, was not released from the cell surface (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999). However, data presented in this thesis demonstrate the presence of a soluble D2D3 fragment in the conditioned medium from several different cell types as well as in human and mouse urine (Sier et al., 1999;

- 22 -

Chapter 5; Chapter 6), suggesting that cleaved uPAR is indeed shed from the cell surface both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Serum and plasma from healthy individuals contain suPAR with a reported median value of 1.2-1.5 ng/ml (Sier et al., 1998; Stephens et al., 1997). Leukocytes and endothelial cells are likely sources for the circulating suPAR as these cells indeed shed uPAR (Chavakis et al., 1998; Chapter 5).

Enhanced levels of suPAR have been observed in plasma from patients with paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria (PNH)(Ninomiya et al., 1997; Rønne et al., 1995). PNH is a rare acquired defect in the membrane attachment of GPI-anchored proteins on bone marrow derived cells. The reduced GPI-anchoring in leukocytes from PNH patients results in the secretion of suPAR (Ploug et al., 1992; Ploug et al., 1992a), and it is therefore likely that the increase in circulating suPAR present in these patients is caused by suPAR release from leukocytes.

Elevated levels of suPAR in serum have also been described in ovarian, breast and colon cancer patients (Sier et al., 1998; Stephens et al., 1999; Stephens et al., 1997), and recently also in patients with leukaemia (Mustjoki et al., 1999). The excess serum suPAR in these patients has been suggested to derive from malignant tumour cells or surrounding stromal cells (Sier et al., 1998; Stephens et al., 1997). Nude mice xenografted with human tumours have human suPAR in the blood demonstrating that the tumour releases suPAR the circulation (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999; Chapter 6).

suPAR is also found in urine (Sier et al., 1999; Chapter 6). While all suPAR in the circulation is full-length (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999; Chapter 6), urine also contains the D1 and D2D3 fragments (Chapter 6). There is a strong correlation between the levels of suPAR antigen in serum and in urine and it is therefore likely that suPAR present in the urine derives from the circulation (Sier et al., 1999). Leukocytes and endothelial cells release suPAR fragments *in vitro* (Chapter 5) and similar fragments are present in urine (Chapter 6), suggesting the transient presence of these fragments in the circulation. Urine from ovarian cancer patients contains elevated levels of suPAR antigen and experiments with mice xenografted with human tumours demonstrate that the tumour derived suPAR indeed ends up in the urine (Chapter 6). The pattern of suPAR fragments in urine of xenografted mice correlates with uPAR cleavage on tumour cells. Mice xenografted with a tumour having high degree of cleaved uPAR in the tumour tissue have high levels of the D1 fragment in the urine, while D1 is not present in urine from mice xenografted with a tumour that expresses only intact uPAR. These data indicates that uPAR fragments in urine may reflect uPAR cleavage in distant parts of the organism.

# **Functions of uPAR**

## The function of uPAR in plasminogen activation

#### Acceleration of plasminogen activation

In solution, the binding to purified suPAR does not strongly affect the proteolytic activity of uPA towards plasminogen, or the activation of pro-uPA by plasmin (Behrendt and Danø, 1996; Ellis, 1996; Ellis et al., 1991). Whether uPAR binding affects the zymogenic nature of prouPA is still an open question (Behrendt and Danø, 1996; Behrendt and Danø, 1997; Higazi et al., 1995; Higazi, 1997).

The reciprocal activation of pro-uPA and plasminogen is strongly accelerated by the presence of cells and both plasmin-catalysed conversion of pro-uPA to uPA and the uPA-catalysed conversion of plasminogen to plasmin are accelerated (Ellis et al., 1991; Ellis et al., 1989). The cell surface acceleration of plasminogen activation requires both pro-uPA binding to uPAR and plasminogen binding to other cell surface elements (Rønne et al., 1991). It is thus likely that the higher local concentration and the spatial organisation of the reagents caused by the binding to the cell surface is responsible for the acceleration of the reactions. Cell surface acceleration of plasmin can almost be abolished by molecules that block the interaction between pro-uPA and uPAR (Stephens et al., 1989).

Cell surface bound plasmin is protected against its abundant plasma inhibitors  $\alpha 2$ antiplasmin and  $\alpha 2$ -macroglobulin, restricting the presence of active plasmin to the surface of cells under conditions where serum proteins are present (Ellis et al., 1991; Stephens et al., 1991). In contrast to plasmin, cell surface bound uPA is not protected from its specific inhibitors PAI-1 and PAI-2, which inactivate both free and uPAR bound uPA with comparable efficiency (Cubellis et al., 1989; Ellis et al., 1990; Stephens et al., 1989).

The reduced capacity of peritoneal macrophages isolated from uPA-deficient mice to promote plasminogen activation *in vitro* confirms the important role of uPAR in plasminogen activation (Dewerchin et al., 1996).

#### Internalisation of uPA inhibitor complexes

Enzymatically inactive uPA/PAI complexes are internalised in a process which requires the binding to uPAR (Cubellis et al., 1990; Estreicher et al., 1990; Jensen et al., 1990) and involves cell surface proteins from the family of low-density lipoprotein receptor (Heegaard et al., 1995; Herz et al., 1992; Moestrup et al., 1993; Nykjaer et al., 1992). The process of internalisation leads to the degradation of both uPA and PAI-1 but uPAR is recycled to the cell surface (Nykjaer et al., 1997).

As the acceleration of plasminogen activation depends upon pro-uPA binding to uPAR, the clearance of inactive uPA/PAI complexes and recycling of uPAR, is a process that maintains the cells capacity to bind pro-uPA and therefore to promote plasminogen activation.

#### Localisation of uPA activity

Besides concentrating pro-uPA to the cell surface, uPAR is also capable of localising the protein to specific sites where plasminogen activation is required. uPAR is usually located to specific compartments of the cell surface such as cell-ECM contacts, cell-cell contacts and in particular to the leading edge of migrating cells (Conese and Blasi, 1995; Conforti et al., 1994; Estreicher et al., 1990; Rømer et al., 1994a; Xue et al., 1997). The localisation of uPAR and of uPA activity is often overlapping or identical, supporting the idea that uPAR plays an important role in the regulation of localised pericellular proteolysis. The mechanism that governs the spatial localisation of uPAR on the cell surface has not been determined yet but may very well depend on the association of uPAR with uPA, integrins and the extracellular matrix protein vitronectin. In polarised MDCK cells uPAR is sorted to the apical surface (Limongi et al., 1995).

uPAR is also found in cellular structures known as caveolae (Stahl and Mueller, 1995) but the significance of this localisation is not known.

# The function of uPAR in cell adhesion and migration

Adhesion is the process by which cells make contacts to extracellular matrix proteins (ECM) and other cells. The mechanism of cell adhesion is fundamental to many, if not all, morphogenic processes occurring throughout the entire life span of multicellular organisms. Adhesive interactions regulate the mechanical strength of cell contacts and thereby determine cell morphology and motility.

It is important to note that increased cell adhesion is not necessarily associated with increased cell migration. In fact, too strong adhesion may block cell migration as the process of cell migration requires repeated cycles of cell attachment and release.

Integrins are ubiquitous transmembrane receptors and represent the major family of adhesion receptors regulating dynamic cell-cell and cell-ECM contacts by providing the physical link between extracellular proteins and the intracellular cytoskeleton. Integrins are heterodimeric membrane proteins composed of an  $\alpha$ - and a  $\beta$ -subunit. The difference between the various integrins is mostly determined by their binding selectivity and their affinity for binding sites on the extracellular adhesion ligands such as the versatile integrin-binding RGD-motif located in many extracellular matrix proteins. Integrin occupancy and clustering causes the short intracellular portion of the integrin molecules to connect with the cytoskeleton by the associating with a variety of intracellular proteins such as talin, vinculin,  $\alpha$ -actinin, focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and many more. These intracellular proteins provide the regulated physical link between the integrins, actin filaments, and the rest of the cytoskeleton. Signal transduction by integrins plays an important role in the biology of these receptors and can be classified depending on the directionality of the signal flow. Signalling information originating from the ligand binding interactions between the integrins and the ECM proteins may be transduced across the plasma membrane into a variety of signal transduction pathways in a process termed "outside-in" signalling. In addition, intracellular regulators may modify the binding affinity of the integrins in a process termed "inside-out" signalling.

Over the last years evidence has accumulated for an important role of uPAR in cell adhesion in which it appears to play a dual role. First, uPAR may promote cellular adhesion to vitronectin by a direct high affinity interaction. Second, uPAR may modulate cellular adhesion to a number of different ECM proteins by lateral interactions with integrin receptors and regulation of their activity.

#### uPAR mediated cell adhesion to vitronectin

Stimulation of in suspension-growing HL60 and U937 cells with phorbol esters, or with a combination of vitamin D3 and transforming growth factor TGF $\beta$ , leads to differentiation into

macrophage-like cells with an adherent phenotype. Antibodies against uPA block the adherence phenotype and the function of uPA in this adhesion can be traced to a requirement for uPAR occupancy (Nusrat and Chapman, 1991; Waltz and Chapman, 1994). The ECM protein responsible for the observed adhesion is vitronectin (Waltz and Chapman, 1994; Wei et al., 1994; Chapter 3) and it has been shown that both cellular and soluble forms of uPAR bind vitronectin in a reaction which is stimulated by uPA occupancy of uPAR and requires intact, three domain uPAR (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a; Waltz and Chapman, 1994; Wei et al., 1994; Chapter 3).

Binding to vitronectin mediated by uPAR most likely depends on a direct interaction between cellular uPAR and vitronectin, because agents blocking the uPAR/vitronectin interaction also block cell adhesion (Chapter 3). Vitronectin adhesion mediated by uPAR has also been observed in smooth muscle and thyroid cells lines (Chang et al., 1998; Ragno et al., 1998), suggesting that it may be a general phenomenon and not only restricted to leukocytes.

Inhibitors of integrin binding function such as RGD-containing peptides and EDTA do not inhibit uPAR mediated adhesion to vitronectin, suggesting that the underlying mechanism does not require direct ligand interactions between integrin receptors and the extracellular matrix (Waltz and Chapman, 1994; Wei et al., 1994; Chapter 3). uPAR does not have any intracellular or transmembrane spanning segments and is therefore incapable of providing a direct protein/protein connection between the ECM and the cytoskeleton. However, it is possible that the GPI-anchor interacts with lipid anchors of intracellular membrane-associated proteins. It appears that uPAR mediated cell spreading on vitronectin requires integrin activation and function as evidenced by the observation that low temperatures or dominant negative integrin molecules (lacking the intracellular domain) inhibit uPAR mediated vitronectin adhesion of uPAR transfected HEK293 kidney cells (Wei et al., 1996).

#### uPAR as a regulator of integrin function

Besides mediating direct cellular adhesion to vitronectin uPAR also associates with and modulates the function of adhesion receptors from the integrin family. The connection between these properties and the vitronectin-binding features are not clear.

#### Interactions between uPAR and $\beta$ 1 and $\beta$ 3 integrins

As demonstrated by resonance energy transfer (RET) and immunoprecipitation, uPAR is found associated with  $\beta_1$  integrins on the surface of HT1080 fibrosarcoma cells and in particular at focal adhesions contacts (Xue et al., 1997). The association between uPAR and  $\beta_1$  integrins in these cells does not depend on the substrate as it is observed on fibronectin, vitronectin and laminin. In contrast, the pattern of  $\beta_3$  and  $\alpha$ -subunits which closely associated with uPAR does depend on the substrate. On fibronectin uPAR is associated with the  $\alpha_5$  subunit, on vitronectin

- 27 -

with  $\beta_3$ ,  $\alpha_5$  and  $\alpha_v$ , and on laminin with  $\alpha_3$  and  $\alpha_6$ . Importantly, uPAR is not closely associated with any of the integrins when the cells are plated on the non-specific poly-D-lysine substrate. Although these data do not provide any information regarding the functional role of uPAR in cell adhesion, they do suggest that the uPAR/integrin interactions are dynamic and that uPAR mostly forms close associations with ECM engaged integrins. In uPAR transfected HEK293 kidney cells, uPAR associates and modulates the function of  $\beta_1$  integrins (Wei et al., 1996). Upon uPAR transfection these cells become adherent to vitronectin and lose the  $\beta_1$  mediated adhesion to fibronectin. The adhesion to fibronectin can be restored by a synthetic uPAR-binding peptide blocking the interaction between uPAR and integrins.

The functional interaction between uPAR and  $\beta_1$  integrins apparently also involves the membrane protein caveolin (Wei et al., 1996). Caveolin has been demonstrated to associate with a number of signalling molecules, including src-family kinases, G proteins, and notably uPAR (Li et al., 1996; Stahl and Mueller, 1995; Wary et al., 1998). Caveolin co-immunoprecipitates with  $\beta_1$ -integrins and uPAR in transfected HEK293 cells, and the majority of  $\beta_1$  /uPAR complexes in these cells appears to contain caveolin (Wei et al., 1996). Evidence for a functional role for caveolin in uPAR and integrin mediated adhesion comes from recent experiments demonstrating that down regulation of caveolin expression (by antisense technology) inhibits both  $\beta_1$  and uPAR mediated cell adhesion of HEK293 cells (Wei et al., 1999). The inhibition is on the biochemical level characterised by the disruption of the association between  $\beta_1$  integrins, scr-kinases and uPAR. It thus appears that caveolin plays an important role for  $\beta_1$  and uPAR mediated aghesion, maybe by providing the physical link between uPAR, integrins and the signalling machinery including src-kinases.

#### Interaction between uPAR and leukocyte integrins

The integrin subunit  $\beta_2$  is specifically expressed in leukocytes and plays a pivotal role in cellular adhesion and migration in connection with processes such as inflammation, extravasation and in the resolution of fibrin clots. The  $\beta_2$  integrin subunit associates with different  $\alpha$ -subunits forming the  $\alpha_M\beta_2$  (Mac-1, CR3),  $\alpha_L\beta_2$  (leukocyte function-associated antigen, LFA-1), and  $\alpha_X\beta_2$  (complement receptor 4, CR4). These integrins mediate the cell-cell binding of leukocytes to the vascular wall by interactions with cellular integrin ligands such as ICAM-1 and to vascular fibrin deposits. Other important ligands for these integrins receptors include fibrinogen that is bound and degraded through its interaction with Mac-1, and Factor X, which is bound by Mac-1 and may be activated and cause blood clotting. Most of these integrins are expressed at rather low levels in resting leukocytes but can be rapidly up-regulated, both in number and affinity, by stimulation with cytokines and chemokines.

Histological analysis, co-capping and immunoprecipitation experiments have provided extensive documentation for the co-localisation of uPAR and  $\beta_2$  integrins in monocytes and neutrophils (Bohuslav et al., 1995; Petty et al., 1997; Simon et al., 1996; Xue et al., 1994).

On monocytes uPAR and Mac-1 form a functional complex with reciprocal stimulation of the two receptor functions (Simon et al., 1996). uPAR mediated cellular adhesion to vitronectin is stimulated by Mac-1 engagement with fibrinogen, while Mac-1 mediated degradation of fibrinogen is stimulated by uPAR mediated vitronectin adhesion. In accordance with these data, monoclonal antibodies against uPAR and antisense-mediated down regulation of uPAR expression partially inhibit Mac-1 mediated adhesion of monocytes to fibrinogen (Sitrin et al., 1996).

In neutrophils, antibodies against uPAR block chemotactic migration (Gyetko et al., 1994) and neutrophils isolated from PNH-patients deficient in cell surface uPAR (and other GPIanchored proteins!) fail in chemotaxis and trans-endothelial migration (Pedersen et al., 1996). The association between uPAR and  $\beta_2$ -integrins in neutrophils is a dynamic process, as uPAR is associated with Mac-1 on resting cells, and with CR4 at lamellipodia of migrating cells (Kindzelskii et al., 1997).

The important functional role of uPAR in leukocyte adhesion and migration is evidenced by recent experiments with uPAR-deficient mice. Leukocyte adhesion to endothelial cells and recruitment to an inflamed peritoneum is significantly impaired in uPAR-deficient mice as compared to wild-type control animals (May et al., 1998).

The role of uPA in these processes seems to be inhibitory. In monocytes uPAR engagement by uPA or ATF inhibits the Mac-1 mediated binding of fibrinogen and Factor X (Simon et al., 1996). Adhesion of leukocytes to vascular endothelium is inhibited by binding of inactivated uPA, suggesting that it is the ligand-free form of uPAR that stimulates  $\beta_2$  mediated adhesion (May et al., 1998).

The tight functional connection between  $\beta_2$ -integrins and uPAR is further substantiated by the fact that similar signalling pathways regulate the expression of both receptor types as exemplified by transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), which strongly upregulates both integrins and uPAR (Lund et al., 1991). Co-engagement of  $\beta_2$ -integrins and the T cell receptor in lymphocytes upregulate uPAR expression (Bianchi et al., 1996), illustrating the cross talk between these systems.

Mac-1 represents the only integrin for which a direct molecular interaction with uPAR has been demonstrated *in vitro* (Wei et al., 1996). Soluble uPAR binds to purified Mac-1 immobilised on plastic surfaces and the interaction requires the active conformation of the integrin. Freshly isolated monocytes and neutrophils do not express caveolin and the interaction between  $\beta_2$
integrins and uPAR is therefore different from the stable uPAR/ $\beta_1$ /caveolin complexes observed in epithelial cells (Wei et al., 1996; Wei et al., 1999).

#### PAI-1 and cell adhesion

Another member of the plasminogen activator system, PAI-1, plays a pivotal role in cell adhesion and migration (Blasi, 1997). The structural basis for the regulatory function of PAI-1 on cell adhesion is its capacity to interact with both vitronectin and uPA. PAI-1 binds with high affinity to vitronectin in a reaction that stabilises PAI-1 in its active conformation (Knudsen and Nachman, 1988). Vitronectin bound PAI-1 can still bind and inactivate uPA, but the formed uPA/PAI-1 complex has only low affinity for vitronectin and is rapidly released.

The fact that PAI-1 inhibits uPAR mediated cell adhesion was first suggested to be caused by the capacity of PAI-1 to mediate the internalisation of uPAR/uPA/PAI-1 complexes (Waltz and Chapman, 1994). However, later it was demonstrated that the binding sites for PAI-1 and uPAR on vitronectin are overlapping and that the binding of these proteins is competitive and mutually exclusive (Deng et al., 1996; Seiffert and Loskutoff, 1991). Low levels of active PAI-1 are capable of releasing U937 cells adherent to vitronectin and an excess of uPA can revert this process by the formation of uPA/PAI-1 complexes (Deng et al., 1996).

The binding site of PAI-1 in vitronectin is also very close and overlapping with the binding site utilised by the vitronectin receptor ( $\alpha_v\beta_3$ , VNR) (Stefansson and Lawrence, 1996). PAI-1 binding blocks the interaction between  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  and vitronectin and causes a functional inhibition of  $\alpha_v\beta_3$  mediated migration of smooth muscle cells, human amnion WISH cells, and human epidermoid carcinoma HEp-2 cells on vitronectin (Kjøller et al., 1997; Stefansson and Lawrence, 1996).

These data demonstrate the central role of PAI-1 in both uPAR and integrin-mediated cell adhesion on vitronectin. An excess of active PAI-1 over uPA inhibits cell adhesion mediated by  $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$  and uPAR, whereas an excess of uPA will stimulate this process. Complexes between uPA and PAI-1 are internalised and degraded in a mechanism that involve uPAR and the LRP receptor, adding further complexity to these processes.

# The biological function of soluble and cleaved forms of UPAR

uPAR plays a fundamental role in pericellular proteolysis by accelerating and localising the process of plasminogen activation. The basis for this function of uPAR is the anchoring of the protein to the cell membrane, and its capacity to bind pro-uPA. Cleavage of uPAR in the linker region between D1 and D2 generates receptor fragments that fail to bind uPA and vitronectin and thus inactivates the receptor with respect to uPA and vitronectin binding. The shedding of uPAR and uPAR fragments is expected to destroy the receptor functions of uPAR but creates the possibility of novel "paracrine" effects on other cells.

The broad occurrence of uPAR cleavage and shedding suggests that these phenomena play a functional role in the biology of uPAR.

#### uPAR cleavage and plasminogen activation

The shedding of uPAR from the cell surface does not affect the affinity for pro-uPA, but is expected to impair plasminogen activation as the co-localisation between plasminogen and prouPA on the cell surface is lost. Soluble uPAR may still associate with the cell surface and the extracellular matrix through its interactions with integrins (Mizukami and Todd, 1998) and the extracellular matrix protein vitronectin (Chavakis et al., 1998). The efficiency of cell associated suPAR in promoting plasminogen activation has not been analysed but is most likely inferior to that of the GPI-anchored protein. First, not all the suPAR is retained at the cell surface, as significant levels of suPAR can be found in the circulation and in urine (Sier et al., 1999; Sier et al., 1998; Stephens et al., 1999; Stephens et al., 1997; Chapter 6). Second, suPAR associated uPA/PAI-1 complexes are not expected to be internalised efficiently, although they might still bind LRP.

It should be noted that recently it has been found that suPAR/pro-uPA complexes may have fibrinolytic activity (Higazi et al., 1998). However the importance of this observation *in vivo* remain to be established.

Cleavage of uPAR in the linker region between D1 and D2 dramatically reduces the receptors affinity for pro-uPA (Behrendt et al., 1991) and is therefore expected to result in a complete loss of the receptors function in acceleration of plasminogen activation. In fact, the cleavage of uPAR has been suggested to be a negative feedback mechanism occurring at sites of high proteolytic activity (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b).

Taken together, it appears likely that the processes of uPAR shedding and cleavage predominantly have a negative effect on plasminogen activation.

#### Consequences of uPAR cleavage and shedding in cell adhesion and migration

The function of uPAR in cell adhesion and migration is mediated through its interactions with uPA, vitronectin and integrins. Cleavage of uPAR destroys the high affinity interaction between uPAR and vitronectin (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a; Chapter 3) and also uPAR mediated adhesion to vitronectin requires intact uPAR (Chapter 3).

Impaired adhesion of PIPL-C treated leukocytes to vascular endothelium is reconstituted by pre-incubation with suPAR, suggesting that the function of uPAR in  $\beta_2$  mediated cell adhesion does not require the GPI-anchor (May et al., 1998). The same stimulation was not observed using a suPAR lacking D1, demonstrating that intact uPAR is required for the modulation of integrin function. In another study the exogenous addition of suPAR was shown to have the same inhibitory function as GPI-anchored uPAR on the integrin mediated adhesion of HEH293 cells to fibronectin (Wei et al., 1996).

It thus seems clear that suPAR may affect integrin mediated adhesion even in the absence of the GPI-anchor. However, as uPAR shedding results in the release from the cell surface it is questionable whether sufficiently high concentrations of suPAR occur *in vivo*.

## uPAR in cell chemotaxis and chemokinesis

uPA has been known for many years to have chemotactic and chemokinetic effects on the migration of a range of different cell types (Fibbi et al., 1988; Sato and Rifkin, 1988; Sato et al., 1990) (Busso et al., 1994; Fazioli et al., 1997; Nguyen et al., 1998; Resnati et al., 1996). Although binding to uPAR seems to be required for all of the chemotactic effects of uPA, the phenomena can be divided into two groups depending on whether uPA activity is also required.

By proteolysis uPA can directly activate pro-HGF (Naldini et al., 1995) and indirectly, through the activation of plasminogen to plasmin, also basic FGF and TGF $\beta$  (Sato and Rifkin, 1988; Sato et al., 1990). The activated cytokines may in these cases be responsible for the observed effects on cell migration.

In most cases there is no apparent requirement for uPA activity, because proteolytically inactive uPA or an uPA fragment lacking the catalytic domain (the aminoterminal fragment, ATF) are able to induce cell migration equally well (Busso et al., 1994; Fibbi et al., 1988; Nguyen et al., 1998; Odekon et al., 1992; Resnati et al., 1996). The protease-independent effects of uPA on chemotaxis, at least in THP-1 cells and fibroblasts, is strictly dependent upon uPAR as they can be inhibited by anti-uPAR antibodies preventing the ligand interaction, and fails to occur on cells lacking uPAR (Resnati et al., 1996).

Taken together, these data suggest that the binding of uPA to uPAR in some cell types causes the transmission of signalling over the cell membrane leading to increased motility. Indeed, ligand engagement of uPAR causes the transient activation of a variety of signalling proteins including *src*-family members (Chiaradonna et al., 1999; Fazioli and Blasi, 1994; Resnati et al., 1996), ERK-1 and ERK-2, (Nguyen et al., 1998), FAK (Tang et al., 1998), JAK and STAT1 (Dumler et al., 1998), and *fos, jun* and *myc* (Rabbani et al., 1997).

Chymotrypsin-cleaved suPAR is a potent chemoattractant for several different cell lines (Fazioli et al., 1997; Resnati et al., 1996). The chemotactic response and kinetics of p56/59^{hck} phosphorylation induced by proteolytically inactive uPA derivatives and that of cleaved suPAR

are similar, suggesting that the same signalling pathway is activated by these molecules (Resnati et al., 1996). Inhibitors of tyrosine kinases and heterotrimeric G proteins block the chemotactic response and the induced phosphorylation of  $p56/59^{hck}$ . The fact that the pertussis toxin inhibitor of heterotrimeric G proteins also blocks the phosphorylation of  $p56/59^{hck}$ , suggests that the heterotrimeric G protein is upstream of the tyrosine kinase in the signalling pathway.

Experiments using recombinant soluble uPAR mutants and synthetic peptides has mapped the uPAR chemotactic epitope to the linker region connecting D1 and D2 (Fazioli et al., 1997). This linker region is susceptible to cleavage by several different proteases including plasmin and uPA itself (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b; Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992; Ploug and Ellis, 1994). Both GPI-anchored and soluble forms of cleaved uPAR have indeed been observed on different cell types and in diverse biological fluids.

The fact that cleaved soluble uPAR and peptides containing the uPAR chemotactic epitope are strong chemokine-like molecules this strongly suggests the existence of one or more membrane "adapter" molecule(s) capable of transmitting the chemotactic signal over the membrane (Fazioli et al., 1997; Resnati et al., 1996). However, this adapter protein still has to be identified.

The strong chemotactic properties of suPAR fragments generated in the laboratory taken together with the cellular release of similar fragments *in vivo*, strongly suggests that these fragments may play a role in biological processes such as leukocyte recruitment to sites of inflammation.

# uPAR in cancer

Tumour invasion and metastasis are processes associated with extensive ECM proteolysis and the plasminogen activator system together with the MMPs appear to play a central role in these processes.

In human cancers the components of the plasminogen activator and MMP system are expressed both by tumour and stromal cells. The cellular expression of individual components is often similar between different cases of the same type of cancer, but may vary a lot between different types of tumours. The expression pattern of the components of the plasminogen activator and MMP system has been determined in several tumour types, but I will in the following just give a brief introduction to the expression patterns observed in colon cancer (for a recent review see Danø et al., 1999).

In colon cancer the cells responsible for uPA production are fibroblast-like stromal cells while uPAR is expressed by cancer cells located adjacent to the uPA producing fibroblasts (Pyke et al., 1991). The uPAR-expressing tumour cells might therefore bind the fibroblast-expressed uPA and thus localise plasminogen activation to the surface of the tumour cells. uPAR is not expressed by all the tumour cells but is restricted to the budding cancer cells located at the tip of the invading malignant epithelium (Pyke et al., 1991; Pyke et al., 1994; Pyke et al., 1995). PAI-1 is expressed by stromal endothelial cells surrounding the tumour and PAI-1 may serve to protect the tumour against excessive uPA-mediated plasminogen activation (Pyke et al., 1994). Several members of the MMP family are also expressed in human colon cancer. Stromal fibroblasts express among others MMP-2 and MT1-MMP, while the only MMP expressed by the tumour cells appears to be MMP-7 (McDonnell et al., 1991; Okada et al., 1995; Pyke et al., 1993).

The high levels and the localisation of components of the plasminogen activator system in tumour tissues provides a "smoking gun" link between plasminogen activation and the malignant process of cancer invasion. The correlation's between plasminogen activation and tumour invasion lead to a major interest in the possible usefulness of uPAR as a target for anti-cancer therapy and as a prognostic marker.

#### uPAR as a target for anti-cancer therapy

Urokinase mediated plasminogen activation appears to play an important role in tumour invasion and metastasis, and inhibition of this system is therefore an attractive target for anticancer therapy. Inhibition of uPA mediated plasminogen activation can be obtained by a direct inhibition of uPA activity, or by blocking the interaction between uPA and uPAR. Inhibition of uPA activity poses the problem of specificity, because the activity of tPA, which plays important functions in the maintenance of fibrinolytic activity in the vasculature, should not be affected. Interest has therefore mostly been focused on inhibition of the uPA/uPAR interaction, as this should provide a specific inhibition of uPA-mediated cell surface plasminogen activation associated with tumour invasion and metastasis.

Agents inhibiting the interaction between uPAR and uPA (uPAR antagonists) range from catalytically inactive fragments of uPA, to synthetic peptides constructed on basis of the uPAR binding region of uPA or isolated by phage-display techniques, to low molecular weight compounds isolated from chemical libraries by systematic screening (Appella et al., 1987; Goodson et al., 1994). The efficacy of these compounds in inhibiting tumour invasion and metastasis has been analysed in mouse models using syngeneic mouse tumours or human tumours xenografted in nude mice.

Spontaneous lung metastasis of the murine Lewis-Lung tumour grown subcutaneously in syngeneic mice can be efficiently inhibited by a peptide derived from the binding region of murine uPA (aminoacid 17-34)(Kobayashi et al., 1994) and metastasis of human prostate carcinoma cell line PC3 grown in nude mice is inhibited by a catalytically inactive uPA-IgG fusion protein (Crowley et al., 1993). Inhibition of tumour growth by uPAR antagonists may also work through other mechanisms than on the invasion of tumour cells. *In vivo*, basic fibroblast growth factor-induced neo-vascularisation and B16 melanoma growth in syngeneic mice is substantially suppressed by uPAR-antagonists suggesting that these compounds may provide additional anti-cancer effects through inhibition of angiogenesis (Min et al., 1996). Tumour cells often express reduced levels of adhesion receptors and also often fail to deposit ECM around themselves. The fact that uPAR is up-regulated in many tumour cells suggests that the cells may use this alternative adhesion pathway as a response to the altered expression of normal cell adhesion proteins. Some (but not all) uPAR antagonists stimulate uPAR mediated cell adhesion to vitronectin (Waltz and Chapman, 1994; Chapter 3) and it is possible that their effects on tumour metastasis may depend also on their effects on cellular adhesion.

The redundancy within the proteolytic system suggests that efficient inhibition of tumour invasion and metastasis will require the simultaneous inhibition of both plasminogen activation and of the MMPs. MMP inhibitors are indeed promising anti-cancer drugs and, in contrast to the uPAR antagonists, clinical trials are already underway (reviewed by Brown, 1999).

# uPAR as a prognostic marker in cancer patients

Prognosis in cancer patients typically involves evaluation of tumour size, degree of differentiation, the extent of invasion and the presence or absence of metastasis. However, even patients with similar prognosis based on these parameters may very well have dramatically different disease progression. Identifying patients with good and bad prognosis might provide the

physicians with a tool to tailor the therapy. For example, if it was possible to identify patients with a good prognosis one might avoid unnecessary adjuvant therapy and the associated suffering.

Not surprisingly, members of the plasminogen activator system, including uPA, uPAR and PAI-1, have been found to have prognostic value in several different cancers (reviewed by Schmitt et al., 1997). High levels of these proteins in extracts from the primary tumour are associated with poor survival in different cancers including lung, colon, bladder, ovarian and breast cancer. The fact that high levels of PAI-1, which is a negative regulator of plasminogen activation, is strongly correlated with poor survival may be explained by its capacity to protect the tumour against the high levels of proteolytic activity present at points of invasion. Another possibility is that PAI-1 facilitates tumour dissemination by modulation of cell adhesion (Deng et al., 1996). High levels of uPAR antigen in tumour extracts are associated with poor prognosis in patients with squamous cell lung cancer (Pedersen et al., 1994), breast cancer (Grøndahl-Hansen et al., 1995) and colon cancer (Ganesh et al., 1996).

Measuring tumour markers and prognostic factors in plasma and serum samples of cancer patients provides at least two advantages to the measurement in tumour lysates. First, the measurements do not require tumour biopsies and can be performed prior to the surgical removal of the tumour. Second, the measurements can be performed repeatedly and may be used in the follow-up analysis of patients. The serum level of soluble uPAR (suPAR) is elevated in plasma and serum from patients suffering from ovarian (Sier et al., 1998), non-small-cell lung and colorectal cancer (Stephens et al., 1997). Indeed, it has recently been demonstrated that the plasma suPAR level in colorectal cancer patients is a strong and independent prognostic marker (Stephens et al., 1999).

Recently, we have demonstrated that suPAR is also present in urine, and that the suPAR antigen levels in urine and serum are highly correlated (Sier et al., 1999). The level of suPAR antigen in urine is stable under relevant storage conditions and might therefore substitute for the measurement of suPAR in serum samples (Sier et al., 1999).

# Chapter 2:

# MATERIALS & METHODS

## **Materials**

#### **Chemicals**

General chemicals used in this study were obtained from Sigma or Boehringer Mannheim and were of the highest available quality.

#### **Enzymes**

Restriction enzymes, alkaline phosphatase, bacteriophage T4 ligase, Klenow fragment, Taq polymerase and PNGase F were purchased from Boehringer Mannheim, Italy.

#### **Antibodies**

Monoclonal mouse antibodies against human uPAR (mAb: R2, R3, R4 and R5) and uPA (mAb: c6) were obtained from the Finsen Laboratory, Denmark. Monoclonal mouse antibody directed against the FLAG[™]-epitope (mAb: M2) was purchased from Sigma, Italy. Polyclonal rabbit antibody against human uPAR used in ELISA and immunoblotting analysis of native human uPAR, was obtained from the Finsen Laboratory, Denmark. Rabbit polyclonal antibodies against the FLAG-epitope were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, California, USA. The polyclonal rabbit antibody against human uPAR used in the analysis of reduced and deglycosylated uPAR was previously prepared in our laboratory by immunisation of rabbits with recombinant soluble human uPAR. All polyclonal rabbit antibodies used in this study were purified by affinity chromatography on protein-A Sepharose (Pharmacia Biotech, Sweden) according to manufactures instructions.

#### Radioactive isotopes

Radioactive isotopes were purchased from Amersham, Italy.

#### Cell culture reagents

Cell culture reagents (RPMI, DMEM, glutamine, penicillin, streptomycin, FCS, trypsin) were purchased from Gibco-BRL, Italy. Serum free growth supplement Nutridoma NS and recombinant murine IL-3 were obtained from Boehringer Mannheim, Italy. Tissue culture plastic ware was from Costar, Italy. ELISA plates.

#### **Peptides**

Synthetic peptides had the following sequences (N-C): Peptide-1: AVTYSRSRYLEC; Peptide-2: YTARLWGGTLLT; Peptide-3: SRSRYLEC; Peptide-4 (scrambled version of peptide 1): TLVEYYSRASCR.

#### **Oligonucleotides**

Oligonucleotides were purchased from PRIMM (Italy) or GENSET (France) and had the following sequences (3'-5'):

FRA18: ATTATACTCGAGGAAGACGTGCAGGGACCCCGCGCA

FRA19: TATATTGATCATTTAGGTCCAGAGGAGAGTGCCTC

D2.5'T: AATGCATTCGAGGCCCCCAAGAGGCTGGGA

FRA18: ATTATACTCGAGGAAGACGTGCAGGGACCCCGCGCA

D1.3'T: TTATCGATGGTAACGGCTTCGGGAATA

D2.3'T: TTATCGATGGCCATTCTGCGGCAGATT

D3.3'T: TTATCGATGTGGGTGGTTACAGCCACT

D3.5'T: TCCATGGGTGCTGTTCCCCTTGCAGCTGTAACACTGGCGGCCC-CAAGAGGCTGGGA

K/FOcs: CGACGAGCATCTGTCGACTATAAGGATGACGACGACAAGTAA K/FOas: CGTTACTTGTCGTCGTCATCCTTATAGTCGACAGATGCTCGT

NS1: CCGCGGAAGAACCCATGGGACTCCCAA;

46D: CAAGCTTACTTGTCGTCGTCATCC.

#### Other reagents

Human ATF was a generous gift of Dr. Jack Henkin (Abbott Laboratories, IL, USA). Recombinant Pertussis toxin and its inactive mutant (Pizza et al., 1989) were generous gifts of Dr. Maria Grazia Pizza (IRIS, Siena, Italy). Native human vitronectin was obtained from Molecular Innovations INC, Michigan, USA. Fibronectin was obtained from Boehringer Mannheim, Italy.

#### <u>Cells</u>

The 32D and WEHI-1 cell lines were obtained from Drs. Jacalyn H. Pierce. U937, THP-1 and COS7 cells were obtained from the ATCC (Rockville, MD, U.S.A.). The uPAR^{-/-} cells were derived from spontaneous immortalisation of embryo fibroblasts prepared from uPAR^{-/-} mice (Dewerchin et al., 1996) and kindly donated by Drs. Peter Carmeliet and Desiré Collen.

#### Chapter 2:

#### Materials & Methods

#### Human urine samples

Urine from twenty-five patients (mean age 62, range 20-78) admitted for surgery of ovarian carcinoma was sampled at the Department of Gynaecology and Obstetrics, San Raffaele Hospital, Milan. The FIGO (International Federation of Gynaecology and Obstetrics) stages of the tumours comprised 14 women with stage I/II, and 11 with stage III/IV respectively. Urine from 20 age-matched healthy women (median age 56, range 36-78) was used as controls. All samples were snap frozen and kept at -80°C. Before analysis, the samples were quickly thawed at 37°C and centrifuged at 10.000 g for 10 minutes. In specific cases urine was 20-fold concentrated using ultrafiltration with a Centricon YM-10 filtration membrane (Amicon), followed by overnight dialysis against PBS.

#### Human serum samples

Serum from twenty-five patients (mean age 62, range 20-78) admitted for surgery of ovarian carcinoma was sampled at the Department of Gynaecology and Obstetrics, San Raffaele Hospital, Milan. The serum samples were obtained from the same patients, and on the same day, as the urine samples described above.

# **Methods**

# **Recombinant DNA techniques**

#### **Bacterial strains**

The *E.coli* strain HB101 was used for the propagation of all plasmids.

#### Maintenance and media

*E.coli* were grown at 37°C in L-broth or on L-broth agar plates as described elsewhere (Sambrook et al., 1989). For selection of transformants and for plasmid preparations the L-broth was supplemented with 200  $\mu$ g/ml ampicillin.

#### Preparation of competent cells

500 ml of L-broth was inoculated with 5 ml of an over night culture of HB101 cells and allowed to grow to until OD436 = 0.6. Cells were cooled on ice for 60 minutes and pelleted by centrifugation (3000 rpm, 15 minutes, 4°C). The supernatant was removed by decanting and the cells resuspended in 200 ml ice cold 100 mM CaCl₂ by vortexing. After 20 minutes incubation on ice, the cells were pelleted and resuspended in 45 ml ice cold 100 mM CaCl₂. The cells were incubated at room temperature for 20 minutes, pelleted by centrifugation (at 4°C), resuspended in 5 ml ice cold 100 mM CaCl₂ and added 1.2 ml 50% glycerol (v/v). The competent cells were aliquoted (200 µl), snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C.

#### **Transformations**

Aliquots of competent cells were thawed on ice and added the plasmid or ligation mixture (10  $\mu$ l) to be transformed. The cells were incubated for 30 minutes on ice and heat-shocked for 90 seconds at 42°C before plating on L-broth agar plates containing 200  $\mu$ g/ml ampicillin.

### Mini-preparations of plasmid DNA

Plasmid DNA was isolated by the alkaline lysis method: 1.5 ml overnight culture was pelleted by centrifugation and washed in 1 ml Tris-HCl, EDTA buffer (TE, 1 mM ethylenedinitro-tetraacetic acid disodium salt (EDTA), 10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8). After centrifugation the pellet was resuspended in 50  $\mu$ l Sol A (50 mM glucose, 10 mM EDTA, 25 mM Tris-HCl pH 8). Cells were lysed by addition of 200  $\mu$ l Sol B (0.2 M NaOH, 1% sodium dodecyl

- 41 -

sulfate (SDS) and incubated 5 minutes on ice. Cell/SDS aggregate was precipitated by adding 150  $\mu$ l Sol C (3 M KAc pH 4.5) and incubated 5 minutes on ice. After centrifugation, 400  $\mu$ l of the supernatant was extracted once with phenol mix (PhChIaa: phenol/chloroform/isoamylalcohol (25/24/1) with 1 mg/ml hydroxyquinoline, neutralized with Tris-HCl pH 8 and equilibrated with TE) and precipitated with 2.5 volume 96% ethanol. The DNA was pelleted by centrifugation, washed once with 70% ethanol, dried and resuspended in TE. Plasmid DNA obtained by this method was sufficiently pure to be used in cloning and for sequencing.

#### Maxi-preparations of plasmid DNA

Plasmid DNA used for transfection of mammalian cells were prepared by CsCl density equilibrium centrifugation as described elsewhere (Sambrook et al., 1989).

#### Agarose gel electrophoresis

Agarose gels of appropriate percentage were cast using multi purpose agarose (Boehringer Mannheim) dissolved in TAE buffer by boiling in a microwave oven. Before casting, ethidiumbromide (Sigma) was added to 1  $\mu$ g/ml from. Agarose gels were allowed to solidify and were run under standard conditions using TAE as running buffer.

#### DNA sequencing

Sequencing was performed using a T7 sequencing kit (Pharmacia) according to the manufactures directions using  ${}^{35}S-\alpha$ -dATP. The extension products were separated by electrophoresis on denaturing 8% acrylamide/urea gels.

#### General DNA techniques

Standard recombinant DNA techniques were employed (Sambrok et al., 1989). T-tailing of EcoRV digested pBluescript SK- vector was performed as described elsewhere (Holton and Graham, 1991).

#### Restriction enzyme digestions

Plasmids and PCR products were digested with restriction enzymes in the buffers supplied, and according to the manufactures instructions. Klenow filling of blunt ends and dephosphorylation using alkaline phosphatase were performed as described (Sambrok et al., 1989).

- 42 -

#### Purification of DNA fragments

Prior to ligation all DNA fragments were purified by gel electrophoresis on agarose gels of appropriate concentration. Desired DNA fragments were cut out from the gels on a transilluminator and the DNA isolated from the gel pieces using the QiaQuick gel extraction kit (Qiagen).

#### <u>PCR</u>

PCR reactions were performed using Taq polymerase and the buffer supplied by the manufacturer. All reactions were performed using 1  $\mu$ M of each oligonucleotide and 0.2 mM deoxynucleotides in a total volume of 50  $\mu$ l. PCR reactions were generally performed using the following cycle parameters: an initial denaturation (3 min at 94°C) followed by cycles consisting of: denaturation (1 min, 94°C), annealing (1 min, 55°C), extension (2 min, 72°C), and a single final extension step (10 min, 72°C). Preparative PCR reactions were performed using a high concentration of template (typically 5  $\mu$ g plasmid) and a low number of amplification cycles (typically 12) to minimise the introduction of mutations. Prior to restriction digestions, the PCR products were purified using the QuiaQuick PCR purification kit (Qiagen).

To limit the tedious work of plasmid preparations, PCR was extensively used to identify colonies containing plasmids with the desired structure. In this case, a fraction of fresh colonies were picked with a pipette tip and transferred to PCR reactions containing oligonucletides generating PCR products informative with respect to the presence and orientation of the insert. Amplifications were performed as before but using 30 cycles.

#### **Ligations**

In a total volume of 20  $\mu$ l were mixed: DNA fragments, water, 10-fold concentrated ligation buffer, and 2 units of bacteriophage T4 ligase (Boehringer Mannheim, Italy). Ligation was allowed to proceed over night at room temperature. Control reactions, receiving no vector or no insert, were always performed and colonies were only screened if the number of colonies in transformations receiving both vector and insert was significantly higher than in controls.

#### Vector construction

#### Expression vectors encoding GPI-anchored uPAR

Vectors expressing the wild type receptor (uPAR) and a deletion mutant lacking the first 92 amino acids corresponding to domain 1 (D2D3) were constructed by first amplifying the

- 43 -

entire uPAR cDNA (Roldan et al., 1990) with the primers FRA18 and FRA19 and cloning the product in a EcoRV digested and T-tailed pBluescript SK- vector. The expression vector LTR-2/uPAR was generated by transferring a XhoI-ClaI fragment, containing the entire uPAR-coding region, from the pBluescript sub-clone to the LTR-2 expression vector digested with same enzymes. The LTR-2/D2D3 expression vector was constructed by first replacing the NruI-NsiI fragment (containing the entire D1 coding region) of the pBluescript uPAR sub-clone with a PCR product generated by amplification of the uPAR cDNA with the primers FRA18 and D2.5'T and digested with the same enzymes (thereby restoring the desired signal-peptide/D2D3 junction aminoacid -1/93). Finally, the modified uPAR cDNA was transferred to the LTR-2 vector as described for the wild type cDNA.

#### Expression vectors encoding soluble uPAR molecules.

Mutant cDNAs encoding soluble uPAR were generated by PCR with the following primers: D11-92: oligonucleotides FRA18 and D1.3'T; D121-191: oligonucleotides FRA18 and D2.3'T; D1231-274: oligonucleotides FRA18 and D3.3'T. The PCR-products were digested with BclI and ClaI, and cloned in pBluescript SK-(Stratagene) digested with BamHI and , ClaI. To generate the constructs encoding D293-191 and D2393-274 the D1 region in the D12 and D123 constructs was deleted by substituting the NruI/NsiI fragment containing the D1 coding region, with a fragment generated by amplifying the uPAR cDNA with the primers FRA18 and D2.5'T and digested with the same enzymes. To generate D3₁₉₂₋₂₇₄, the D12 region in D123 was deleted by substituting the NruI/NcoI fragment containing the D12 coding region, with a fragment generated from uPAR cDNA with the primers FRA18 and D3.5'T and digesting with the same enzymes. All mutant receptors were tagged at the carboxyterminus with the peptide sequence HRRASVDYKDDDDK, which includes a protein kinase substrate and the FLAGTM epitope, by inserting in the carboxyterminal ClaI site a linker made by annealing the two oligonucleotides K/FOcs and K/FOas. All the recombinant coding regions were amplified with the primers NS1 and 46D, digested with NcoI and transferred to the eukaryotic expression vector pBNSEN (Pallisgaard et al., 1994) digested with NcoI and Klenow-treated EcoRI.

# **Protein techniques**

#### Cell and tissue lysates

Tumour tissue and cell detergent lysates were prepared by Dounce homogenisation (only tissue) in PBS (10 ml / gram of tissue) containing 1% Triton X-100 and protease inhibitors (Complete[™], Boehringer, Mannheim) for 1 hour on ice. Lysates were centrifuged at 14.000 x g

for 20 min at 4°C and the supernatants were stored at -80°C until analysis. Total protein was determined by the Dc protein assay (Bio-Rad) with bovine serum albumin as a standard.

#### Tyrosine Kinase Assay.

Kinase assay was performed as previously described (Resnati et al., 1996). THP-1 cells were metabolically labelled with  35 S-*Trans*Label, acid washed (Stoppelli et al., 1986) and either mock-treated or treated with 1 pM peptide 1 (AVTYSRSRYLEC) for the indicated time at 37°C. Radiolabeled cell lysates were immunoprecipitated with a polyclonal anti-p56/p59^{hck} antibody (Resnati et al., 1996) and part analysed by SDS-PAGE to control the amount of protein. The rest was used for *in vitro* kinase assay (5-10 µCi of  $\gamma$ -³²P-ATP, ~3000 Ci/mmol, Amersham, 5 µg rabbit muscle enolase substrate, 5 minutes, room temperature) and resolved by SDS-PAGE.

#### **Biotinylation of antibodies**

Antibodies (concentration 0.5-1 mg/ml) were dialysed against 0.05 M NaHCO₃ pH 8.5 prior to biotinylation. The antibody solution was added the biotinylation reagent (EZ-LinkTM Sulfo-NHS-LC-Biotin, Pierce Chemicals) dissolved in water (10 mg/ml) immediately before use. The biotinylation was performed at room temperature for two hours using a molar ratio of biotinylation reagent to antibody of 100:1. The biotinylation was stopped by addition of concentrated NH₄Cl to a final concentration of 0.01 M and the biotinylation regent removed by extensive dialysis against PBS. The biotinylated antibodies were diluted 1:1 with 100% glycerol and stored at -20°C.

#### **Immunoprecipitations**

In 1 ml of RIPA/PBS (1:1 mixture of PBS and 2-fold concentrated RIPA buffer (0.2 M TrisHCl pH 7.5, 0.3 M NaCl, 2% Triton X-100, 2% sodium deoxycholate, 0.2% SDS)) 2 µg of biotinylated antibody and 10 µl of a 50% suspension of streptavidin beads (Boehringer Mannheim) were mixed and incubated at 4°C for one hour under gentle agitation. The beads were pelleted by centrifugation (15 seconds at full speed in a micro centrifuge) and the supernatant aspirated. The beads were washed once with 1 ml of RIPA/PBS to remove unbound antibodies. The volume of the samples to be analysed were adjusted to 0.5 ml using PBS and then added 0.5 ml 2-fold concentrated RIPA buffer containing protease inhibitors (CompleteTM, Boehringer Mannheim). The mixture was transferred to a tube containing the pellet of beads with pre-bound antibodies and binding was allowed to occur for 16 hours at 4°C under gentle agitation. At the end of the incubation, the beads were washed 3 times for 30 minutes with 1 ml aliquots of RIPA/PBS to remove unspecific proteins. For western blotting, the bound proteins were eluted in 15  $\mu$ l non-reducing sample buffer (0.125 M TrisHCl pH 6.8, 20% glycerol (v/v), 4% (w/v) SDS, 20% (w/v) glycerol, 0.02% (w/v) bromphenol blue) by incubation at 95°C for 3 minutes and 12  $\mu$ l of the eluate used in 10% SDS-PAGE.

#### Deglycosylation of uPAR

Immunoprecipitates prepared as described above were deglycosylated in a modified previously described procedure (Behrendt et al., 1990). The washed beads were added 10  $\mu$ l of PBS containing 0.5% SDS and 1.6 mM DTT and the samples were incubated at 98°C for 3 minutes to denature the proteins under mildly reducing conditions. The samples were added 20  $\mu$ l of 1.5-fold concentrated deglycosylation buffer (PBS containing 1% Triton X-100 and 15 mM EDTA), 1 unit of peptide-N-glycosidase F (PNGase-F) and incubated at 37°C for two hours. Control samples were treated in the same manner but did not receive PNGase-F. Prior to SDS-PAGE the samples were added 30  $\mu$ l of 2-fold concentrated reducing sample buffer (0.125 M TrisHCl pH 6.8, 0.1 M DTT, 20% (v/v) glycerol, 4% SDS (w/v), 20% (w/v) glycerol, 0.02% (w/v) bromphenol blue) and the samples were incubated for 5 minutes at 95°C. For Western blotting 15  $\mu$ l of the samples were analysed on 10% SDS-PAGE gels.

#### **SDS-PAGE**

SDS-GELS (0.75 mm thick) were cast and run in a Hoefer Mighty Small SE250 gel apparatus at 20 mA/gel (constant current) until the bromphenol blue front was about to exit the gel. Separation gels (10% acrylamide, 10 ml of solution) were prepared using the following ingredients: 3.33 ml 30% acrylamide monomer solution (acrylamide:bis-acrylamide, 29:1), 2.5 ml 1.5 M Tris.HCl pH 8.8, 0.1 ml 10% SDS, 4.0 ml H₂O, 50  $\mu$ l of 10% (w/v) ammonium persulfate (APS) and 5  $\mu$ l of N,N,N,N,-tetramethylethylene diamine (TEMED). Separation gels were overlaid with water saturated isobutanol until polymerised. Stacking gels were prepared using the following ingredients (5 ml of solution): 0.67 ml 30% (w/v) acrylamide monomer solution (29:1), 1.25 ml 0.5 M Tris.HCl pH 6.8, 0.05 ml 10% (w/v) SDS, 3 ml H₂O, 25  $\mu$ l 10% (w/v) APS and 2  $\mu$ l TEMED. The running buffer used for electrophoresis had the following composition: 0.025 M Tris, 0.192 M glycine and 0.1% SDS, pH 8.3.

#### Protein blotting

Semi-dry blotting, using a Sigma apparatus, was used to transfer proteins from SDS-PAGE gels to PVDF membranes. The following sandwich was made (bottom to top): Steel anode; three layers of Whatman 3MM filterpaper soaked with transfer buffer (39 mM Glycine, 48 mM Tris, 10% methanol (v/v)); PVDF membrane (Immobilon P, Millipore) activated by soaking in methanol (20 seconds), equilibrated with water gel (5 minutes), and transfer buffer (5 minutes), gel, three layers of filter paper soaked with transfer buffer, and finally the platinum coated cathode. Transfer was allowed to proceed for 90 minutes at 0.8 mA/cm² constant current. The transfer of pre-stained protein molecular weight markers was used to confirm efficient transfer.

#### Western hybridisation

After transfer the membrane was briefly washed with TBS-T (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM TrisHCL pH 7.5, 0.2 % Tween-20) and blocked over night at 4°C in blocking solution (5% nonfat dry milk (Carnation, USA) in TBS-T). Membranes were probed for uPAR antigen by incubation for 1 hour at room temperature in blocking reagent containing 1 µg/ml of a rabbit polyclonal anti-uPAR antibody. The antibody solution was recycled for several blots and a dramatic improvement of the signal/noise ratio was observed after the first use. Membranes were washed 5 times (2 x 1 minute and 3 x 15 minutes) in TBS-T and probed for bound antibody by incubation with a horseradish conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody (Amersham) diluted 1:10.000 in blocking buffer for 1 hour at room temperature. The secondary antibody solution was made fresh every time. The blots were washed as before and developed using a chemoluminescent substrate according to the manufactures instructions (SuperSignal Ultra[™], Pierce Chemicals). Briefly, the humid membranes (protein side facing upwards) were overlaid with the chemoluminescent substrate solution for 5 minutes at room temperature. The membranes were placed between two sheets of transparency film and exposed in ordinary x-ray cassettes (without amplifying screens) using Amersham multi-purpose films. Exposure times varied according to signal strength.

#### Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Three different ELISA were applied in this study. The first two (from now on termed the "uPAR" and the "R2" ELISA) were developed at the Finsen Laboratory in Denmark and measures human uPAR antigen. Although very similar, these two ELISA have different selectivity and specificity. The third ELISA (the FLAG ELISA) was developed by me and was used to quantify recombinant FLAG-tagged proteins.

The uPAR ELISA (Stephens et al., 1997) uses a polyclonal rabbit anti-uPAR antibody to catch, a mixture of three different monoclonal anti-uPAR antibodies (mAb R2, R3 and R5) to detect, and an alkaline phosphatase conjugated rabbit anti-mouse antibody to report. The ELISA measures all known forms of uPAR including all known uPAR fragments and complexes. The ELISA is designed to measure uPAR antigen in biological samples of human origin. The R2 ELISA (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999; Stephens et al., 1999) uses a mouse monoclonal anti-uPAR

- 47 -

. .

antibody (mAb R2) to catch, a polyclonal rabbit anti-uPAR to detect, and an alkaline phosphatase conjugated anti-rabbit IgG monoclonal mouse antibody to report. The R2 ELISA is an "inverted" variant of the uPAR ELISA and was developed to measure human uPAR in serum samples from mice xenografted with human tumours. This ELISA does not detect free D1 but is otherwise similar to the general uPAR ELISA.

I developed the FLAG ELISA to measure the concentration of recombinant proteins expressed in cell culture. The assay uses a mouse monoclonal anti-FLAG antibody (mAb M2) to catch, a rabbit polyclonal anti-FLAG to detect, and a horseradish peroxidase coupled polyclonal donkey anti-rabbit antibody to report.

96 well ELISA plates were coated O.N. at 4°C with 0.1 ml antibody diluted in 0.1 M sodium carbonate buffer (pH 9.7) in the following concentrations; uPAR ELISA: 0.5 µg/ml antiuPAR rabbit IgG; R2 ELISA: 0.5 µg/ml mAb R2; FLAG ELISA: 2 µg/ml mAb M2. The wells were washed six times with wash solution (PBS containing 0.1% Tween-20, PBS-T) and unspecific binding sites saturated by incubation with 0.2 ml blocking solution (PBS containing 2% BSA) for one hour at room temperature. Wells were washed six times with wash solution. Samples to be analysed were diluted in dilution buffer (PBS containing 1% BSA) and added to the wells in duplicates. The plates were incubated for 1 hour at room temperature and washed six times with PBS-T. The plates were probed with secondary antibodies diluted to the following concentrations; uPAR ELISA: 0.375 µg/ml of a mix of mAb R2, mAb R3, and mAb R5 (mixed in the weight ratio 1:4:1); R2 ELISA: 0.5 µg/ml anti-uPAR rabbit IgG; FLAG ELISA: 2 µg/ml anti-FLAG rabbit IgG. Binding was allowed to proceed for 1 hour at room temperature and followed by six washes using PBS-T. Bound secondary antibodies were detected using enzymeconjugated antibodies diluted in blocking buffer as follows; uPAR ELISA: alkaline phosphatase conjugated rabbit-anti-mouse IgG 1:1000 (DAKO); R2 ELISA: alkaline phosphatase conjugated mouse-anti-rabbit IgG 1:2000 (SIGMA); FLAG ELISA: horseradish conjugated donkey-antirabbit IgG 1:10000 (Amersham). After incubation for 1 hour at room temperature the plates were washed six times with PBS-T and 3 times with water. Colorimetric enzyme substrates (alkaline phosphatase conjugates: 1.7 mg/ml p-nitrophenyl phosphate (pNPP, Sigma) in 100 mM NaCl, 100 mM TrisHCl pH 9.5, 5 mM MgCl₂; horseradish peroxidase conjugates: ready-to-use ABTS substrate solution (Boehringer Mannheim). The absorbance at 405 nm (pNPP substrate) and 436 nm (APTS substrate) was measured after 1 hour incubation at room temperature using an ELISA reader.

Concentrations of antigen in the individual samples were calculated by comparison with a standard curve obtained by a two-fold dilution series of purified soluble human uPAR (1.0, 0.5, 0.25, 0.12, 0.06, 0.03, 0.015 ng/ml). Inter-assay variations were, if necessary, corrected by the value obtained for a reference sample included on all plates.

# Purification of recombinant soluble uPAR molecules.

Recombinant proteins were purified from COS7 conditioned medium by passage over an anti-FLAGTM affinity column (M2 Affinity gel, Sigma). After washing of the column with PBS, the recombinant proteins were eluted using 0.1 M glycine pH 3.0. The fractions were immediately neutralised using 1/10 volume of 1 M TrisHCL pH 8.0 and analysed by SDS-PAGE and ELISA. Fractions containing the recombinant protein were pooled and dialysed against PBS. Recombinant proteins were stored at -80°C until use.

# Purification of chymotryptic fragments of soluble uPAR

Purified soluble uPAR (D123₁₋₂₇₄) was dialysed against 0.1 M (NH₄) ₂CO₃ and digested with chymotrypsin (Boehringer Mannheim) in the molar ratio 1:2000 (chymotrysin:suPAR) for 16 hours at 37°C. Complete digestion was confirmed by SDS-PAGE and the mixture was added PMSF to 1 mM to stop the digestion. The domain 1 fragment (D1₁₋₈₇) was separated from the domain 2+3 fragment (D23₈₈₋₂₇₄) by chromatography on a small FLAGTM affinity column. The D1₁₋₈₇ was recovered in the flow-through and the FLAG tagged D23₈₈₋₂₇₄ fragment eluted from the column with 0.1 M glycine pH 3.0. Both flow-through and eluate were dialysed against PBS and the concentration of the purified fragments estimated by SDS-PAGE and commassie staining.

#### Purification and iodination of recombinant suPAR

Recombinant soluble uPAR was purified by affinity chromatography from conditioned medium of Chinese hamster ovary cells transfected with a soluble (non membrane-anchored) mutant uPAR cDNA (Masucci et al., 1991). The purified suPAR was labeled with ¹²⁵I using the Iodogen procedure (Pierce Chemicals), resulting in a specific activity of 80 x 10⁶ cpm/µg. For the analysis of suPAR degradation in urine, aliquots were supplemented with ¹²⁵I-suPAR to a concentration of 2 ng/ml and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C. Non-reducing sample buffer was added, and the samples were boiled and separated by 12% SDS-PAGE. Dried gels were analysed by autoradiography at -80°C using two amplifying screens. The chymotrypsin used in suPAR cleavage experiments was from Boehringer (Mannheim), whereas the uPA was a kind gift from Dr J. Henkin, Abbott Laboratories, Chicago).

#### In vitro binding assays

ELISA plates (Nunc Maxisorb) were coated with vitronectin (0.1 ml, 5  $\mu$ g/ml, unless otherwise indicated) in PBS for two hours at 37°C or over night at 4°C. The remaining protein binding sites were blocked using 1% blocking reagent (Boehringer Mannheim) in TBS for one

hour at room temperature. All further incubations were performed with gentle agitation at room temperature in 0.1 ml TBS containing 1% blocking reagent (Boehringer Mannheim) and followed by extensive washing with TBS containing 0.1% Tween-20. First, wells were incubated with the FLAGTM-tagged soluble uPAR molecules diluted to the indicated concentrations for 1 hour at room temperature. In some cases the recombinant suPAR was co-incubated with pro-uPA, ATF and/or antibodies. After washing, wells were probed for the FLAG-epitope by incubation with 0.2  $\mu$ g/ml rabbit anti-FLAG antibody (Santa Cruz) for one hour. After washing, wells were probed for bound antibody by incubation with a horseradish conjugated goat anti-rabbit antibody (Amersham) diluted 1:1000. After another round of washing, bound horseradish conjugate was quantified by colorimetric development using the chromogenic substrate ABTS (Boehringer Mannheim). The absorption at 436 nm was recorded in an ELISA plate reader and the signal obtained from wells that were coated with blocking reagent subtracted.

#### Creatinine measurement

Urinary creatinine was measured with a modification of the Jaffé-method according to the manufacturers instructions (Boehringer Mannheim), using a BM/Hitachi 747 analyser.

## **Cell culture techniques**

#### General cell culture

All cell culture media used were supplemented with glutamine (5 mM), penicillin (100 U/ml), streptomycin (100  $\mu$ g/ml). WEHI-1 cells were cultured in complete RPMI medium containing 15% FCS. U937 cells were cultured in complete RPMI medium supplemented with 5% FCS and the cells split by dilution. 32D cells were cultured in complete RPMI medium supplemented with 10% FCS and 10% conditioned medium from the cell line WEHI-1 as a source of IL-3. Stable pools and clones of transfected 32D cells were maintained under weak selective pressure in medium containing 0.2 mg / ml G418.

#### Preparation of conditioned WEHI medium

Cultures of proliferating WEHI-1 cells were split 1:100 in fresh medium and allowed to grow until the medium turned acidic (5-6 days). Cells were pelleted by centrifugation and the conditioned medium sterile filtered (0.2  $\mu$ m) and stored at 4°C until use.

# Isolation and purification of blood leukocytes

Whole blood was fractionated by Ficoll-Hypaque gradient centrifugation (Seromed-Biochem KG). Monocytes were isolated from the peripheral blood mono-nuclear cells (PBMC) by gradient centrifugation on 46% Percoll (Pharamacia & Upjohn). Polymorph nucleated cells (predominantly neutrophils) were collected from the pellet of the initial Ficoll-Hypaque fractionation and further purified by gradient centrifugation on 62% Percoll.

# Transfections

#### Transfection of COS7 cells

Semi-confluent COS7 cells were harvested in PBS containing 1 mM EDTA, washed 3 times with RPMI medium. The cell suspension (0.8 ml,  $1-2x10^7$  cells/ml in RPMI) was electroporated in 0.4 cm, Bio-Rad cuvettes containing plasmid DNA (30 µg, 1 mg/ml in water) at 960 µF, 240 V (GenePulser, Bio-Rad). After recovery overnight in complete DMEM medium containing 10% FCS, cells were washed with PBS and supplemented with 50 ml of serum-free medium (DMEM containing 1% Nutridoma NS, Boehringer Mannheim). Every 4-5 days, conditioned medium was collected and fresh medium added. The conditioned medium was stored frozen at -20°C until purification of the recombinant proteins.

#### Transfection of 32D cells

Growing 32D cells  $(0.5 \times 10^6 / \text{ml})$  were harvested and washed twice in RPMI medium. Cells were resuspended in RPMI (50 x 10⁶ / ml) and 0.2 ml aliquots were added to electroporation cuvettes (0.4 cm, Bio-Rad) already containing 20 µg of the desired expression vector and 2 µg of pRSVneo (1 µg/ml in water). Cells were electroporated using a single 280 V, 960 µF pulse in an electroporation apparatus (Bio-Rad, Gene Pulser II) and transferred to complete medium for recovery. After 48 hours cells were transferred to complete medium containing 0.8 mg/ml G418 for selection of stable transfectants. Single clones of transfectants were obtained by limited dilution of G418 resistant pools into 96 well tissue culture plates.

#### Chemotaxis Assays.

Chemotaxis analyses were performed in modified Boyden chambers, using polyvinylpyrrolidone-free polycarbonate filters (13 mm diameter, 5  $\mu$ m pore size) coated with type I collagen (100  $\mu$ g/ml in PBS pH 7.4). After an acid wash (Stoppelli et al., 1986), 2x105 THP-1 cells in serum-free medium were added in the upper chamber. Attractants were diluted in

serum-free medium at the indicated concentrations and added in the lower chamber. The assays were incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂ in air for 90 minutes. The upper surface of filters was scraped free of cells, the filters fixed in methanol, stained with crystal violet and cells counted. All experiments were performed in triplicate; data are reported as the number of cells counted for high power field (ten fields for each condition) and expressed as percentage of the control values. Data points represent the mean of three independent experiments ( $\pm$  SEM). When cells of the fibroblast-type were employed for the assay, the time required for migration was longer and the Boyden chambers were usually incubated overnight.

Pertussis toxin sensitivity was carried out by pre-incubating cells with 100 ng/ml wild-type or mutated (Pizza et al., 1989) pertussis toxin in RPMI for 4 hours at 37°C. After treatment, cells were exstensively washed, resuspended in RPMI and assayed in chemotaxis, as described above, or in kinase assays (see below).

#### Adhesion assays

Coating of 96 well tissue culture dishes were performed by incubation with 5 µg/ml vitronectin or 10 mg/ml fibronectin in PBS for 2 hours at 37°C or over night at 4°C. Remaining binding sites were saturated by incubation of the wells with 2 % bovine serum albumin in PBS for 1 hour at 37°C. Immediately before the adhesion assay, cells were washed twice in RPMI containing 0.1% BSA and resuspended in the same medium at 2 x 10⁶/ml. Cells (0.05 ml) were added to wells already containing 50 µl RPMI with 0.1 % BSA and the agonists / antagonists to be tested. The plates were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for one minute to sediment the cells and incubated in a humidified incubator at 37°C for 1 hour. At the end of the incubation the wells were washed with 37°C warm RPMI as follows: to the medium already present in the wells was added 2 x 100 µl medium, at normal pipetting speed, using a multi-well pipettor, row by row, and from two opposite sites of the wells. The medium (containing the suspended non-adherent cells) was then immediately aspirated from one side of the well and 100 µl of fresh medium added. The procedure of washing was repeated, if necessary, until BSA coated wells contained only few remaining cells. Adherent cells were fixed for 10 minutes with 37°C warm PBS containing 3 % (w/v) formaldehyde and the cells stained for 5 minutes with 0.05 ml crystal violet solution (0.5 % (w/v) in 20 % (v/v) methanol). After washing of the plate by immersion in tap-water, the cells were lysed in 1% SDS in water and the absorption at 540 nm was measured in an ELISA plate reader. To obtain a measure for specific adhesion the readings were subtracted the value obtained in BSA coated wells, unless otherwise indicated. All experiments were performed at least twice and the shown values are the mean +/- SD of triplicate or quadruplicate determinations from a representative experiment.

#### Chapter 2:

# FACS analysis

32D cells to be analysed  $(1 \times 10^6)$  were pelleted by centrifugation and resuspended in 0.1 ml ice-cold wash buffer (PBS containing 5% FCS) containing 10 mg/ml of the R2 monoclonal antibody and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. The cells were washed twice with 3 ml ice cold wash buffer and resuspended in 0.1 ml wash buffer containing a FITC conjugated goat antimouse antibody (DAKO) diluted 1:50 in wash buffer and incubated for 20 minutes on ice. After another round of washing, the cells were resuspended in 0.5 ml PBS and analysed in a Becton Dickinson flow cytometer according to manufactures instructions. Relative values for the mean fluorescence were calculated using the Lysis II software package. Non-transfected cells were used as controls for specificity.

### **Animal experiments**

The HOC8 xenografts were established and maintained as ascites in NCr nu/nu mice (Taconic, Germantown, NY) as described previously (Massazza et al., 1989; Pedersen et al., 1993). Urine, serum and tumour cells were obtained four weeks after the interperitoneal injection of a tumour suspension (10 million cells) from nude mice all bearing ascites and metastatic tumours in the peritoneal cavity (Pedersen et al., 1993). Urine collected from 5 mice, kept in a metabolic cage for 24 hours, was centrifuged and stored frozen at -80°C until analysis. Blood was obtained by intracardiac puncture from anaesthetised mice. As control, blood and urine were collected from five non tumour bearing nude mice and processed in the same way.

The MDA-MB-435-BAG (MDA435) cells (Brünner et al., 1992) were cultured in EagleMEM containing glutamax (Life Technologies) and 5% foetal bovine serum. Semiconfluent cell cultures were harvested by scraping and the concentration was adjusted to  $10 \times 10^6$  cells/ml. Six to eight weeks old male META-Bom-nu/nu mice (Bomholdtgaard, Denmark) were injected subcutaneously and bi-laterally with 0.1 ml MDA435 cell suspension. After 50 days, urine, plasma, and tumor tissue, were collected from two tumour-bearing mice as described for the HOC8 xenografted animals.

Procedures involving animals and their care were conducted in conformity with the institutional guidelines that are in compliance with national (D.L. n.116, G.U., suppl. 40, 18 Febbraio 1992, Circolare No. 8, G.U., Luglio 1994) and international laws and policies (EEC Council Directive 86/609, OJ L358;1, Dec. 12, 1987; Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, U.S. National Research Council, 1996).

- 53 -

# **Statistics**

To evaluate differences between group median values, the data were analysed with the Mann-Whitney rank-test. P values below or equal to 0.05 were considered significant.

- 54 -

# Chapter 3:

# **RESULTS & DISCUSSION (I)**

# Molecular analysis of uPAR mediated vitronectin adhesion.

# Summary

In this chapter I analyse uPAR mediated cellular binding to vitronectin using the murine erythroid progenitor cell line 32D. I show that expression of uPAR in the 32D promotes cellular binding to vitronectin, but fails to support cell spreading. The strength of binding is correlated to the expression level of uPAR and is strongly stimulated by the presence of the uPAR ligand prouPA. Using a recombinant truncated variant of uPAR lacking domain 1, and by antibody inhibition experiments, I demonstrate that domain 1 plays a crucial role in uPAR mediated cellular binding. The failure of the mutant uPAR lacking domain 1 to promote cellular binding is paralleled by strong reduction in the affinity for vitronectin *in vitro*.

# **Introduction**

The presence of a cellular proteolytic variants of uPAR composed of domain 2 and 3 (D2D3), and thus lacking the major uPA binding domain 1 (D1), was first identified in U937 cells (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992) and has since then been observed in other cell lines and tumour detergent extracts (Ragno et al., 1998; Solberg et al., 1994; Chapter 5; Chapter 6). The formation of the D2D3 uPAR variant may involve the proteolytic cleavage by uPA, which is capable of cleaving uPAR in the linker region between domain 1 and 2 both *in vitro* and at physiological concentrations *in vivo* (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b; Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992). The cleavage of uPAR in this region results in profound changes in the biological properties of uPAR: First, uPAR looses the capacity to bind uPA with a concomitant loss of potential to enhance uPA mediated cell surface plasmin generation (Ellis et al., 1989; Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b). Since the cleavage is expected to occur most efficiently under conditions of high uPA activity it might function as a negative feedback mechanism (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b). Second, the cleavage in the hinge region unmasks bioactive epitopes of uPAR that have the potential to induce cellular chemotaxis and activation of kinases from the *src*-family (Fazioli et al., 1997; Resnati et al., 1996).

Cellular binding to vitronectin, mediated by uPAR, was first shown in the human histiocytic lymphoma cell line U937. This cell line becomes strongly adhesive to vitronectin when stimulated with a combination of vitamin D3 and transforming growth factor  $\beta$ 1 or phorbol esters in the presence of uPAR ligands (Nusrat and Chapman, 1991; Waltz and Chapman, 1994). This has later been extended to other cell lines and it has been shown that both cellular and soluble uPAR interact directly with certain forms of vitronectin (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a; Waltz and Chapman, 1994; Wei et al., 1994). The region of uPAR responsible for the interaction with vitronectin was initially assigned to D2D3 (Wei et al., 1994) but recent data obtained using real-time biomolecular interaction analysis have demonstrated that also D1 is required for the

interaction *in vitro* (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a). At present, very few data on the effect of cleavage on the potential of uPAR to mediate cellular binding to vitronectin have been presented (Ragno et al., 1998).

Besides mediating cellular binding to vitronectin uPAR also modulates the function of adhesion receptors from the integrin family (Simon et al., 1996; Sitrin et al., 1996; Wei et al., 1996; Yebra et al., 1996) and data for a direct interaction between uPAR and purified Mac-1 have been presented (Wei et al., 1996).

In this chapter I analyse the consequence of uPAR cleavage on the affinity for vitronectin and on the capacity to mediate cell binding to vitronectin. Using cellular and soluble uPAR mutant receptors I report that D1 plays a crucial role for the capacity of uPAR to mediate cellular binding to vitronectin as well as for the high affinity interaction with vitronectin *in vitro*. The system employed, 32D erythroid progenitor cells, is suitable for this analysis as these cells display low intrinsic binding to the extracellular matrix proteins vitronectin. Thus the uPARmediated binding is not confused with possible integrin mediated binding.

# **Results**

#### Adhesive properties of 32D cells

To analyse the structural requirements of uPAR as an adhesion receptor I wanted to use a cell system that fulfils two criteria. First, the cell line should be easy to transfect in order to introduce the desired recombinant uPAR receptors to test for their properties as adhesion receptors. Second, the cell line should have low basal binding to vitronectin in order to discriminate between binding caused by the transfected molecules and binding mediated by endogenously expressed adhesion receptors.

To evaluate the murine myeloid 32D cell line as a model system for uPAR mediated adhesion I compared the adhesive properties of these cells with those of the well characterised human myeloid U937 cells (figure 3.1, panel A). While U937 cells displayed significant binding to both fibronectin and vitronectin, 32D cells completely failed to adhere to vitronectin and only displayed moderate binding to fibronectin. Stimulation with cytokines or phorbol-esters have been shown to enhance the cellular binding of U937 cells to vitronectin as a result of enhanced expression of uPAR and of its ligand uPA (Waltz and Chapman, 1994). To analyse the effect of phorbol-esters stimulation on the cellular binding of 32D cells I stimulated cultures of 32D and U937 with PMA for 18 hour prior to the adhesion assay (figure 3.1, panel B). As expected, PMA treatment strongly stimulates the binding of U937 cells to vitronectin as previously described (Waltz and Chapman, 1994). However, the PMA treatment fails to modulate the binding of the 32D cells to any of these substrates. The 32D cells express a range of integrin receptors including fibronectin and vitronectin receptors (Bazzoni et al., 1996; Zhang et al., 1996) and it has been shown that the failure of PMA to induce the activation of these receptors can be reverted by the expression of protein kinase C- $\delta$  (Mischak et al., 1993). The activation state of integrin receptors and the binding to fibronectin of 32D cells has been reported to be regulated by the IL-3 stimulation state of the cells (Bazzoni et al., 1996). My experimental protocol uses cells grown in medium where the IL-3 is supplied in the form of conditioned medium from the WEHI cell line and the level of IL-3 stimulation is therefore ill defined. To analyse the effect of IL-3 stimulation on binding to fibronectin and vitronectin I performed experiments where the 32D cells had been IL-3 starved for 8 hours prior to the adhesion assay (figure 3.2). Under these conditions the presence of IL-3 stimulate the cellular binding of 32D cells to fibronectin approximately 2-fold, but fails to modulate the binding to vitronectin.

From these experiments I conclude that the 32D cells represent a suitable model system for the analysis of uPAR-mediated cellular binding to vitronectin as these cells fails to display any notable binding to vitronectin under all the conditions analysed.

# uPAR expression promotes 32D cell binding to vitronectin

To analyse uPAR-mediated cell binding I transfected 32D cells with an expression vector in which I had engineered the full-length human uPAR cDNA (Roldan et al., 1990). By selection of the transfected cells with G418 I obtained a pool of resistant cells representing a population of clones expressing variable amounts of uPAR on the cell surface as determined by FACS analysis using the anti-uPAR monoclonal antibody R2 (results not shown). I observed that during normal passage, the pool of uPAR transfected cells are notably more adherent to the tissue culture plates than the mock transfected cells (results not shown). To investigate whether this increased binding of the uPAR transfected cells is mediated by the vitronectin present in the culture medium, I performed adhesion assays with the stable pools of transfected 32D cells under serum free conditions, to purified vitronectin immobilised in 96 well tissue culture plates (figure 3.3). Indeed, the pool of uPAR transfected cells binds stronger to vitronectin than the mock-transfected cells over a range of coating concentrations, demonstrating that expression of uPAR in 32D cells causes specific cellular binding to vitronectin.

# Binding is proportional to the expression level of uPAR

Only a small fraction of the 32D cells (less than 10%, not shown) in the pool of uPAR transfected cells remain bound after washing, even at the highest vitronectin coating concentration, and I speculated that this is a result of heterogeneous uPAR expression in the pool of transfected cells. To analyse the relationship between the expression level of uPAR and the strength of binding to vitronectin I cloned the pool of transfected cells by end-point dilution. I analysed the cell surface expression of uPAR in 50 clones by FACS analysis using the anti-uPAR monoclonal antibody R2 (figure 3.4, panel B and not shown) and selected a number of clones representing a range of expression levels for analysis of their binding to vitronectin (figure 3.4, panel A). I found that there is a good correlation between the expression level of uPAR and the strength of binding to vitronectin as higher expression levels of uPAR are associated with stronger binding to vitronectin. In the highest expressing clones (clones 22 and 1) more that 90% of the cells remain bound after washing of the plates (not shown), while the lowest expressing clones (clones 21 and 24) display binding comparable to the pool of transfected cells. Some clones (clones 14 and 17) do not express detectable levels of cell surface uPAR and are included in the analysis as negative controls.

# Binding is stimulated by uPAR ligands

uPAR mediated binding of U937 cells to vitronectin is stimulated by uPA (Waltz and Chapman, 1994) and I therefore wanted to analyse the effect of uPA on the binding of the uPAR transfected 32D cells. To do this I performed adhesion assays in the presence of saturating levels of pro-uPA (figure 3.4, panel A). Clones expressing high levels of uPAR (clone 22 and 1) bind strongly to vitronectin in the absence of ligand and the addition of pro-uPA does not stimulate this binding further. The binding of clones expressing low and intermediate levels of uPAR are stimulated by pro-uPA and the stimulation is inversely correlated with the expression level of uPAR. Clones expressing low levels of uPAR (clone 24A and 21) are strongly stimulated and clones expressing intermediate to high levels of uPAR (clone 22.7, 8, and 2) are only weakly stimulated. The presence of pro-uPA during the adhesion assays has no significant effect on the binding of mock transfected cells (not shown) or control clones expressing undetectable levels of uPAR (clone 14 and 17) demonstrating that the stimulatory effect of uPAR ligands is indeed mediated by uPAR.

The dose-dependency of the stimulation by pro-uPA analysed in two clones (c21 and c24A) which are strongly stimulated by pro-uPA, is shown in figure 3.5. For both clones the stimulation is half-maximal at 0.1-0.3 nM pro-uPA which is consistent with the Kd for the interaction between uPAR and pro-uPA (0.1-1 nM). Also two-chain uPA and the amino-terminal fragment (ATF) of uPA, which contains the entire uPAR binding site, stimulates the binding with equal efficiency demonstrating that it is the ligand binding capacity, rather than the catalytic activity of uPA, responsible for the stimulation of binding (results not shown).

# A uPAR mutant lacking domain 1 fails to promote binding

The occurrence of uPAR cleavage in tumour cell lines and xenografted tumour tissue prompted me to investigate whether cleaved uPAR supports cellular binding to vitronectin. To analyse this I constructed a mutant uPAR cDNA encoding a deletion variant of uPAR where the region encoding domain 1 (amino acid 1-92) was deleted creating a receptor composed of domain 2 and 3 (termed D2D3). This recombinant receptor is equivalent to cellular cleaved uPAR observed in cell culture as it lacks domain 1. I cloned this mutant uPAR cDNA into the expression vector and generated clones of 32D cells expressing the mutant receptor as described for full-length uPAR. I identified several clones expressing the truncated receptor at levels comparable to what I observe with full-length uPAR (figure 3.4, panel B). However, even though the D2D3 receptor is efficiently expressed the cells fail to adhere to vitronectin (figure 3.4, panel A). The failure to adhere to vitronectin is independent of the addition of pro-uPA.

# Antibodies against domain 1 inhibit binding

To further analyse which region of uPAR is involved in cellular binding to vitronectin, I tested four monoclonal antibodies against uPAR for their ability to inhibit the binding of uPAR transfected 32D cells (figure 3.6). I used the 32D/uPAR clone 1 cells, as these adhere strongly to vitronectin in the absence of pro-uPA, and I performed the adhesion assay in the absence of pro-uPA to avoid the potential interference between antibody and pro-uPA binding to uPAR. Adhesion assays were performed in the presence of 50  $\mu$ g/ml of monoclonal antibodies recognising different epitopes on uPAR or an irrelevant control antibody. Two antibodies recognising epitopes within domain 3 of uPAR (mAb R2 and R4) and the control antibody (M2) do not affect the binding to vitronectin. The two antibodies recognising epitopes within domain 1 of uPAR (mAb R3 and R5) strongly inhibit the binding. In line with the data from the mutant D2D3 receptor, these results suggest a fundamental role of domain 1 in uPAR mediated cell binding.

# uPAR mediated binding to vitronectin is independent of integrin activation

uPAR mediated vitronectin adhesion of transfected HEK293 cells depends upon integrin activation as it is inhibited at low temperatures and by the introduction of dominant negative integrin molecules (Wei et al., 1996). To analyse the requirement for integrin function and activation in the 32D cell system, I performed adhesion assays in which I regulated the integrin activation state using IL-3 and temperature (figure 3.7). The binding to vitronectin is not significantly affected by IL-3 stimulation and is not reduced at 4°C, suggesting that uPAR mediated cell binding to vitronectin does not require integrin activation or metabolic energy in the 32D cell system. The binding to fibronectin, which is mediated by integrin receptors, is enhanced by IL-3 stimulation at 37°C, and almost completely inhibited at 4°C demonstrating the requirement for metabolic energy. The inhibitors of integrin function EDTA, and RGD containing peptides also fail to inhibit the binding uPAR-expressing cells to vitronectin (not shown).

In support of the lack of integrin involvement in the observed binding, I also fail to observe cellular spreading of the uPAR transfected cells on vitronectin (figure 3.8) as the morphology of the uPAR transfected cells bound to vitronectin or to BSA is indistinguishable.

The data suggest that uPAR mediated binding of the transfected 32D cells to vitronectin occurs independently of integrin function and activation. The observed binding may therefore simply reflect an affinity between the cells and the tissue culture plastic mediated by the interaction between uPAR (on the cell surface) and vitronectin (on the plastic). To investigate this possibility I performed adhesion assays to plates that I had coated with monoclonal antibodies

against uPAR (figure 3.9). In fact, uPAR transfected 32D cells bind strongly to wells coated with antibodies against both domain 1 (mAb R3) and domain 3 (mAb R2). The 32D cells transfected with the mutant D2D3 receptor, which fail to adhere to vitronectin, adhere to the uPAR antibody recognising an epitope within domain 3 (mAb R2). The results suggest that any high affinity interaction between a cell surface molecule (in this case uPAR) and an immobilised protein (in this case vitronectin or anti-uPAR antibodies) can mediate cellular binding of the 32D cells.

# Domain 1 and uPAR ligand are required for the high affinity binding of soluble uPAR to vitronectin

Taken together the data suggest that the inability of D2D3 receptors to mediate cellular binding is caused by a reduced or abolished ability to interact with vitronectin. I therefore proceeded to analyse if the D2D3 receptor also has a reduced affinity for vitronectin *in vitro*. To do this I performed *in vitro* binding assays to immobilised vitronectin using a soluble form of full-length uPAR and the mutant D2D3 receptor. The GPI-anchoring sequence in these recombinant receptors has been replaced with a short peptide sequence (the FLAG epitope) recognised by specific antibodies and thus represent soluble forms of the cellular receptors used in the 32D cells. The construction, expression and purification of these soluble receptors are described in detail in chapter 4. The *in vitro* binding assay used in this analysis is in principle similar to the adhesion assay as the molecules are allowed to bind to immobilised vitronectin. After washing, bound protein is quantified by virtue of the FLAG-tag in an ELISA-like assay (see material & methods).

I incubated vitronectin-coated wells with increasing concentrations of the recombinant proteins in the presence or absence of pro-uPA and detected bound proteins using an antibody directed against the FLAG-epitope located at the carboxy-terminus of the recombinant receptors (figure 3.10). In the presence of pro-uPA, I detect specific binding of the full-length receptor down to approximately 1 nM, while I fail to observe any significant binding in the absence of pro-uPA, even at 100-fold higher concentrations. The soluble D2D3 receptor mutant fails to bind notably to vitronectin over the entire concentration range analysed and does so both in the presence of pro-uPA.

# **Discussion**

Firm cellular attachment to the extracellular matrix is a complex process, which involve numerous molecular interactions between extracellular proteins, cell surface receptors and the intracellular cytoskeleton. The process is initiated with the cellular binding to the extracellular matrix, mediated by the interaction between cellular receptors and extracellular matrix proteins, and is followed by a complex process of signalling, receptor activation, and cytoskeleton reorganisation, eventually leading to cell spreading and firm attachment.

The expression of uPAR in 32D cells promotes cellular binding to vitronectin but not promote firm adhesion and cell spreading on the substrate. This is in contrast to the epithelial HEK293 cell line in which expression of uPAR leads to firm cell adhesion and spreading on vitronectin (Wei et al., 1994). The apparent discrepancy between these observations may be found in differences between the two cell lines. HEK293 grow firmly adherent and therefore clearly possesses the necessary cell program and machinery to promote firm cell adhesion and spreading. The 32D cells are highly undifferentiated, grow in suspension, and are only expected to undergo firm adhesion and cell spreading upon differentiation. It is therefore likely that these cells do not posses the required cell program and/or machinery to support cell spreading. Expression of uPAR in 32D cells evidently promotes the initial cellular binding to vitronectin, but fails to initiate the process of cell spreading. It is possible that in the 32D cells uPAR fails to associate to integrin molecules or that the uPAR/integrin complexes fail to connect to the cytoskeleton. The strength of binding of cells to vitronectin is comparable to that of anti-uPAR antibodies suggesting that the only requirement for binding is a sufficiently high number of interactions between the cell and the substrate to resist the hydro-dynamic pressure applied during washing of the plates.

The structural requirement for a high affinity interaction between vitronectin and uPAR has been addressed in a couple of studies (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a; Wei et al., 1994). Wei and co-workers have suggested that a region within the D2D3 part of uPAR is responsible for the interaction. This conclusion is based on experiments with a D2D3 fragment purified from chymotrypsin-cleaved suPAR and inhibition by the R4 antibody (recognising an epitope within domain 3). Høyer-Hansen and co-workers have, based on real-time biomolecular analysis, concluded that intact uPAR is required for the high affinity interaction between uPAR and vitronectin. My data are in accordance with the latter, as I do not observe any significant binding of D2D3 to immobilised vitronectin. A likely explanation for the discrepancy between the observations could be the presence of low levels of contaminating full-length soluble uPAR in the D2D3 preparations used by Wei and co-workers. In my experimental set-up this potential

problem has been eliminated using recombinant uPAR fragments expressed in cells that do not produce any full-length suPAR.

I observe a strict requirement for the pro-uPA to obtain significant binding of suPAR to immobilised vitronectin *in vitro*. This observation is in contrast to data published by others who observe no difference (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a) or a moderate to high stimulation (Wei et al., 1994) by uPAR ligands. The reason for this discrepancy probably lies in the different assays, as well as in the different soluble uPAR molecules or vitronectin preparations used in the experiments. The binding of suPAR to vitronectin is not a simple first order binding reaction and probably involves conformational changes of both uPAR and vitronectin (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a). This is in accordance with the model proposed by Wei and co-workers who suggest that uPAR, with respect to vitronectin binding, is in an equilibrium between a high and a low affinity conformation which is pushed towards the high affinity state upon ligand binding. Modifications such as radio labelling, biotinylation or the engineered addition of epitopes may potentially affect the equilibrium between the different conformations present in the recombinant soluble uPAR preparations used by different laboratories.

In contrast to my data *in vitro*, I did not observe a strict requirement for ligand binding in the process of cellular binding to vitronectin *in vivo*. This apparent difference may have a number of explanations. First, the local concentration of membrane bound uPAR at the interface between the cell and the substratum might be high enough to allow a sufficient number of low affinity interactions between uPAR and vitronectin to obtain the required resistance to the hydrodynamic stress applied in the adhesion assay. Second, the high affinity conformation of uPAR could be stabilised by the GPI-anchor, which is not present on soluble uPAR, or by the interaction with other membrane proteins. Third, the presence of the FLAG-epitope on our soluble uPAR might stabilise the low affinity conformation of the soluble receptor. However, these explanations only apply to cells that express high levels of uPAR. Low-uPAR cells requires ligand to bind to vitronectin.

uPAR antagonist are molecules that inhibit the uPA/uPAR interaction through binding to uPAR. These molecules include non-catalytic derivatives of uPA (ATF, GFD and derivatives), antibodies as R3 and R5, and different low molecular weight compounds. uPAR antagonists are therapeutically interesting as they have been shown to inhibit tumour growth and metastasis in certain model systems. The anti-cancer effect of these molecules has been assigned to the capacity to block the binding of uPA to uPAR with its concomitant reduction in plasminogen activation potential of the cells. However, it is likely that the effect of these compounds might, at least partially, be caused by their pro- or anti adhesive properties. A great deal of work is done in the pharmaceutical industry to develop non-toxic low molecular weight uPAR antagonists and the 32D/uPAR cell system is perfect to test the pro- or anti adhesive properties of these compounds.

**Contributions:** 

All the experimental work presented in this chapter was planned and performed by me.
## Chapter 4:

### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION (II)**

# The chemotactic epitope in uPAR

- 66 - .

#### <u>Summary</u>

Through the expression and testing of several uPAR variants, I have located and functionally characterised a potent chemotactic uPAR epitope that mimics the effects of the uPA/uPAR interaction. The chemotactic activity lies in the region linking domains 1 and 2, which is highly sensitive to proteolytic cleavage. Synthetic peptides carrying this epitope promote chemotaxis and activate p56/p59^{hck} tyrosine kinase. Both the chemotaxis and kinase activation are pertussis-toxin sensitive and thus involve a G_{i/o} protein in the pathway.

### **Introduction**

The role of urokinase (uPA) and uPAR in cell migration and invasion is well substantiated. It was previously shown that uPA-induced chemotaxis requires interaction with and modification of uPAR, which is the true chemoattracting molecule acting through an unidentified cell surface component which mediates this cell surface chemokine activity (Resnati et al., 1996). Cell recruitment is an essential component in inflammation, neo-angiogenesis and cancer invasiveness. Urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA), its receptor (uPAR) and inhibitor (PAI-1) are directly involved in these mechanisms (Blasi, 1997). An important proof of this statement is the profound impairment of inflammatory cell recruitment in uPA^{-/-} mice which do not properly respond but succumb to infection by Cryptococcus neoformans, due to deficient T-lymphocytes and monocytes-macrophages recruitment (Gyetko et al., 1996). Moreover, uPAdeficient mice fail to support the growth and development of experimental melanomas, while inhibition of the uPA/uPAR interaction in vivo blocks angiogenesis, growth and spreading of syngeneic tumours (Min et al., 1996; Shapiro et al., 1996). A chemotactic activity of uPA has long been recognised in vitro on different cell types in culture (Busso et al., 1994; Fibbi et al., 1988; Gudewicz and Gilboa, 1987; Gyetko et al., 1994; Resnati et al., 1996). The chemotactic activity of uPA strictly depends on binding to its receptor uPAR: First, it does not occur in murine cells lacking uPAR; second, it does not occur in cells containing uPAR but not recognising human uPA; third, it can be restored by transfection of the uPAR cDNA; fourth, it is inhibited by antibodies that prevent the uPA/uPAR interaction (Resnati et al., 1996). Occupancy of uPAR transduces a signal that results in the movement of cells; indeed, a rapid and transient activation of intracellular serine and tyrosine kinases (PTK) has been observed in different cells (Busso et al., 1994; Resnati et al., 1996). That tyrosine kinase activation is required for the chemotactic activity of uPA is shown by the ability of 3T3 fibroblasts from wild-type but not from Src^{-/-} mice to respond to uPAR-mediated chemoattraction (our unpublished data), or by the block of ligand-induced chemotaxis by tyrosine kinase inhibitors in THP-1 cells (Resnati et al., 1996).

uPAR is a GPI anchored protein made up of three cysteine-rich CD59-like domains connected by short linker regions (Ploug and Ellis, 1994), expressed by a variety of cells including neutrophils, T-lymphocytes, monocytes-macrophages and fibroblasts. In addition, most cancer cells express uPAR, often at rather high levels (Blasi, 1988). In T-lymphocytes and monocytes, uPAR is an activation antigen and its expression appears to be relevant to the function of these cells at least in culture (Bianchi et al., 1996; Nykjaer et al., 1994; Picone et al., 1989).

The membrane attachment of uPAR via a GPI-anchor (Ploug et al., 1991) i.e. the lack of an intra-cytoplasmic region capable of connecting with the cytoplasmic signal transducers, suggests that transmembrane adapter(s) must mediate the activation of intracellular transducers. Indeed, uPAR^{-/-} cells can respond to a chemotactic stimulus induced by exogenous, soluble uPAR (suPAR), indicating that the binding of uPA to uPAR transforms the latter into a ligand for another cell surface component. However, this activity of suPAR is apparent only after chymotrypsin cleavage at Tyr87 (Resnati et al., 1996), a modification causing a major conformational change, similar to uPA binding (Ploug and Ellis, 1994; Ploug et al., 1993). The chemotactic properties of uPA and chymotrypsin-cleaved suPAR are identical, i.e. they both induce p56/p59^{hck} tyrosine kinase activation with the same time-course (Resnati et al., 1996) indicating that the same mechanism operates in both cases.

The above data show therefore that uPAR is a cell-surface chemokine-like molecule, the activity of which is regulated by the binding of its ligand uPA which in an as yet undefined way uncovers the chemotactic epitope. In this chapter I demonstrate that the uPAR chemotactic epitope is located in the sequence linking domains 1 and 2, a region highly sensitive to cleavage by uPA and other proteases (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992; Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b). Indeed, also a synthetic uPAR chemotactic epitope activates  $p56/p59^{hck}$  and both chemotaxis and activation of  $p56/p59^{hck}$  are pertussis-toxin sensitive, implying a connection between G-proteins and intracellular protein tyrosine kinases.

### **Results**

### Identification and mapping of the uPAR chemotactic epitope.

To identify the chemotactically active region in uPAR, I constructed recombinant uPAR cDNA's encoding different parts of uPAR (figure 4.1). The recombinant receptors were expressed by transient transfection of COS7 cells as this allowed me to obtain sufficient purified protein (0.05-0.5 mg depending on the construct) within one month of transfection. The recombinant receptors were purified from the conditioned medium by affinity chromatography utilising the flag epitope engineered onto the carboxyterminus of all the recombinant receptors.

We had previously shown that chymotryptic cleaved suPAR induced a very efficient chemotactic activity at picomolar concentrations (Resnati et al., 1996), but as the chymotrypsin digestion generates a mixture of the two fragments  $D1_{1-87}$  and  $D2D3_{88-274}$ , it was not possible to determine which of the fragments possessed the chemotactic activity.

To determine which of the two fragments possessed the chemotactic activity, I first purified the FLAG-tagged, full-size three domains suPAR, digested it with chymotrypsin and separated the resulting fragments D1₁₋₈₇ and D23₈₈₋₂₇₄ by antibody affinity chromatography. The D1₁₋₈₇ fragment was recovered in the flow through and the D23₈₈₋₂₇₄ fragment eluted from the column by lowering the pH (not shown). The two fragments were individually tested in chemotaxis assays on human THP-1 cells. THP-1 cells were chosen, even though they are poor responders to chemotactic signals, because their basal level of tyrosine phosphorylation is low (Resnati et al., 1996) making the subsequent biochemical analysis easier. The carboxyterminal fragment, D23₈₈₋₂₇₄, but not the aminoterminal D1₁₋₈₇, elicited a dose-dependent chemotactic response, demonstrating that the chemotactic region in uPAR is located within the D23₈₈₋₂₇₄ fragment (figure 4.2). To further map the chemotactic region I expressed and purified Flag™ tagged recombinant fragments of uPAR encoding different parts of uPAR (figure 4.1). Of these, only D11-92 induced a dose-dependent chemotactic effect, while D2393-274, D293-191 and D3192-274 failed to induce chemotaxis through the entire concentration range analysed (figure 4.2). These findings show that only fragments containing the sequence 88 to 92 of uPAR, SRSRY, had a chemotactic effect. Since the presence of this motif correlates with enhanced migration of THP-1 cells it may represent the chemotactically-active epitope. Interestingly, the 88-92 sequence appears to be active both when present at the amino-, as in D23₈₈₋₂₇₄, as well as at the carboxyterminus, as in  $D1_{1-92}$ .

To determine whether the identified SRSRY motif was responsible for the observed chemotactic effect, we tested synthetic uPAR peptides for their chemotactic activity on THP-1 cells. Peptide 1 (AVTYSRSRYLEC) which corresponds to the amino acid sequence 84-95 of

human uPAR (Roldan et al., 1990) and its shorter version, peptide 3 (SRSRYLEC, residues 88-95), both contain the SRSRY motif, exhibited chemotactic activity with a maximal response at concentrations as low as 0.1 pM (figure 4.3, panels A and C). On the other hand, peptide 4 (TLVEYYSRASCR), a scrambled version of peptide 1, and peptide 2 (YTARLWGGTLLT), which covers residues 301-313, and thus is absent from processed mature uPAR (Ploug et al., 1991), had no effect on cell migration over the entire concentration range analysed (figure 4.3, panels B and D). These results support the conclusion that peptides containing the sequence SRSRY of human uPAR have a potent chemotactic activity. It is important to note that this region is efficiently cleaved by uPAR-bound uPA at chemotactically active concentrations (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b).

Since THP-1 cells are not very sensitive to chemotactic stimuli, we also tested peptide 1 on other cells. Peptide 1 was found to be active also on several other cells, including murine uPAR^{-/-} fibroblasts, 3T3 and LB6 cells, and rat aortic smooth muscle cells (data not shown). On some of these cells the effect is much more pronounced (about four-fold over basal migration), but has the same concentration-dependence as in THP-1 cells.

The chemotactic effect of suPAR fragments and synthetic peptides was not a general effect on migration but was dependent on the establishment of a concentration gradient. Also, these agents did not display a chemokinetic effect on THP-1 cells, as addition in the upper well (containing the cells) had no effect on migration (data not shown).

### Activation of $p56/p59^{hck}$ by chemotactic UPAR peptides.

Treatment of THP-1 cells with the uPA fragment ATF at chemotactic concentrations induces the activation of  $p56/p59^{hck}$  tyrosine kinase. Treatment with exogenous chymotrypsincleaved suPAR, that substitutes for uPA in inducing chemotaxis, also activates  $p56/p59^{hck}$  (Resnati et al., 1996). We therefore tested the effect of chemotactic concentrations of peptide 1 on the activity of  $p56/p59^{hck}$  kinase. Treatment of THP-1 cells at  $37^{\circ}$ C with 1 pM peptide 1, induced increased autophosphorylation as well as phosphorylation of the exogenous substrate enolase (not shown). The effect was apparent after 2 minutes, reached a maximum after 10 minutes and returned to the basal level after 30 minutes and thus has a time-course very similar to that of ATF or chymotrypsin-cleaved suPAR (Resnati et al., 1996)(data not shown). No effect was observed when 1 pM of the corresponding scrambled peptide (peptide 4) was used in the assay (data not shown). Thus, the effect of peptide 1, containing the SRSRY sequence of uPAR, resembles that of uPA and chymotrypsin-cleaved suPAR not only in stimulating chemotaxis but also in the activation of the same tyrosine kinase. This supports the view that the SRSRY motif present in peptide 1 is indeed the chemotactic epitope of uPAR.

### Involvement of heterotrimeric G-proteins.

The activity of many chemokines is mediated through specific receptors and involves GTP-binding proteins (G-proteins) for the signal transduction. Pertussis toxin (PTX) inhibits the activity of some chemokines through the  $\alpha_i$  subset of G-proteins; the inhibitory effect of PTX is therefore an indicator of the involvement of heterotrimeric G_i/₀ proteins in the involved signalling pathway (Baggiolini et al., 1995; Neer, 1995). To test the involvement of G proteins in uPAR-induced chemotaxis we tested the effect of PTX using as a control its active site mutant (Pizza et al., 1989). A pre-incubation with PTX-inhibited the chymotrypsin-cleaved suPAR and peptide-1 induced chemotaxis of THP-1 cells, while the inactive PTX mutant had no effect (figure 4.4). An identical result was obtained with peptide-1 induced chemotaxis of rat smooth muscle cells and on THP-1 chemotaxis induced by the amino terminal fragment of uPA (ATF, (Stoppelli et al., 1985)) (not shown). This result indicates that the uPAR epitope exerts its chemotactic activity through a G-protein-coupled cell surface protein.

Since both uPA and the chemotactic uPAR peptides activate the  $p56/p59^{hck}$  kinase we also tested whether the action of the PTX toxin could inhibit the  $p56/p59^{hck}$  activation. Activation of  $p56/p59^{hck}$  by peptide-1 was inhibited by wild-type PTX, but not mutant PTX (not shown), supporting the G-protein dependence of uPAR chemotaxis and suggestive that the activation of tyrosine kinases occurs downstream of the heterotrimeric G_{i/o} protein.

#### **Discussion**

GPI-anchored proteins are potent signalling molecules. However, the lack of a transmembrane domain requires that they interact with another trans-membrane "adaptor", i.e. with the real signalling molecule. This has been shown to be true for several GPI-proteins, including, among others, CD14 (Ulevitch and Tobias, 1994). In the case of uPAR, the adapter (Resnati et al., 1996) is not yet known; however by identifying the chemotactic epitope of uPAR, we in fact suggest the nature of the actual ligand for such an adapter. We have shown that peptide-1 can reproduce, with the same time-course, the chemotactic effect of uPA and chymotrypsin-cleaved suPAR, causing cell migration and rapid and transient activation of p56/p59^{hck} in THP1 and other cells, through a PTX-sensitive signalling system. The concentration of peptide-1 required to elicit the signalling effects (about 0.1 pM) is far lower than the concentration of uPA or ATF required to generate the same biological response (0.5 to 5 nM, (Resnati et al., 1996)), but it is in the same order of magnitude of the effect obtained with chymotrypsin-cleaved suPAR. This represents a strong functional amplification, which follows or bypasses the uPA/uPAR interaction step. The shape of the dose-response curve for the various peptides closely resembles that for the chymotrypsin-cleaved suPAR (Resnati et al., 1996), and appears to be typical of the chemotactic response.

Our data show that the chemotactic effect of peptide-1 is not species-specific, as murine and rat cells also respond as well. This differs from the binding of uPA to uPAR which is species-specific (Appella et al., 1987; Estreicher et al., 1989).

The chemotactic epitope is located within the linker region connecting domains 1 and 2 (figure 4.5). This is the only region that is in fact susceptible to proteases (Behrendt et al., 1991). The question arising from the identification of the chemotactic epitope is whether exposure of this epitope physiologically occurs through proteolytic cleavage. While we cannot exclude that a ligand-induced conformational change of uPAR is sufficient to transduce migratory signals, we must notice that a relevant proteolytic event does indeed occur *in vivo*: First, uPAR fragments missing domain D1 have been demonstrated in different cell lines and human cancer tissues (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992; Solberg et al., 1994). Second, in purified suPAR, the linker region between domains 1 and 2 (figure 4.5) is susceptible to cleavage by uPA and other proteases, like chymotrypsin and neutrophil elastase (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992; Ploug and Ellis, 1994). Third, at chemotactically active concentrations, endogenous or exogenous receptor-bound uPA cleaves 50% of surface uPAR at residue 83 or 89 (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b). The former of these cleavage sites generates a chemotactically active uPAR fragment, starting with an N-terminal AVTYSRSRY sequence, identical to that of peptide-1. Fourth, the binding of uPA to uPAR

- 72 -

activates cell surface plasminogen to plasmin which, too, might cleave uPAR in the same region (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992; Ploug and Ellis, 1994).

While these data suggest that proteolysis activates the chemotactic activity of uPAR, in cultured cells the uPA protease domain is not necessarily required, since chemotaxis can be stimulated by uPA derivatives lacking protease activity (i.e. ATF or pro-uPA) (Fibbi et al., 1988; Resnati et al., 1996). It is known that ligand binding induces a conformational change (Ploug et al., 1994). Possibly, this may allow cleavage of uPAR by a different protease substituting for uPA. Since the sequence SRSRY is active both when amino- and carboxy-terminally positioned, different types of proteases may be involved. Again, we cannot exclude that a conformational change be sufficient to expose the SRSRY epitope, and that the observed proteolytic event be unrelated.

It is also interesting to notice that uPA has two potential cleavage sites in the sequence of uPAR linking domain D1 to domain D2. The second site, at position 89/90 might destroy the chemotactic activity, as it would cleave within the conserved region.

Whatever the mechanism, our data show that the uPA/uPAR system functions as a cellsurface regulated chemokine. The exposed chemotactic epitope must interact with a cell surface (adaptor) protein, which can signal through an heterotrimeric G protein. The nature of the adapter is still unknown: among already known proteins, possible candidates are chemokine receptors, integrins and caveolin. Chemokine receptors, as members of the seven trans-membrane-spanning protein family, interact with heterotrimeric G proteins (Baggiolini et al., 1995). Integrins and caveolin, on the other hand, have been shown to co-immunoprecipitate with uPAR (Bohuslav et al., 1995; Kindzelskii et al., 1996; Wei et al., 1996).

Our data show that uPAR-mediated chemotaxis requires a connection between intracellular tyrosine kinases of the Src family and heterotrimeric G proteins. In fact, peptide-1 induces an early and transient activation of the  $p56-59^{hck}$ , which is specifically prevented by PTX. It appears therefore that activation of  $p56-59^{hck}$  occurs downstream from the heterotrimeric G protein. The tyrosine kinase activation appears to be essential for the chemotactic activity of uPAR since it can be inhibited by inhibitors of tyrosine kinases (Resnati et al., 1996) and since peptide-1 effect can be observed in murine wild-type, but not src^{-/-}, fibroblasts (B. Degryse, F. Fazioli and F. Blasi, unpublished).

Mice lacking the uPA gene are strongly immunodeficient and succumb to bacterial infections (Gyetko et al., 1996). The mechanism outlined in this chapter is likely to contribute to the role of uPA in cell recruitment. The inability to induce a conformational change and/or to proteolytically cleave uPAR may explain the immunodeficiency of uPA^{-/-} mice. If this hypothesis is correct, the uPAR^{-/-} mice will have to be immunodeficient as well. In man, uPAR is

an activation antigen in T-lymphocytes and monocytes, and is required for T cell migration, at least *in vitro* (Bianchi et al., 1996; Chavakis et al., 1998; Nykjaer et al., 1994; Wei et al., 1999).

Finally, the results described in this chapter may have a practical application, as it is conceivable that agents acting on uPAR chemotaxis, for example blocking the function of the chemotactic epitope, may be employed to modify inflammatory reactions or cancer invasiveness. These agents would be acting downstream of the primary uPA/uPAR interaction step, and might have properties different from those of uPAR antagonists, expanding the application of agents inhibiting these functions.

**Contributions** 

The experimental work presented in this chapter has been published (Fazioli et al., 1997). My contribution was the construction, expression and purification of recombinant receptors and receptor fragments. Massimo Resnati from our laboratory performed all the cell migration assays as well as the biochemical analysis of phosphorylation induced by peptides and recombinant receptors.

### Chapter 5:

### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION (III)**

# Cellular uPAR cleavage and shedding

#### <u>Summary</u>

In this chapter I present data on the expression, molecular structure, and shedding of uPAR and uPAR fragments in monocytic U937 cells, human leukocytes, human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC), and transfected 32D cells. I have performed this analysis using a combination of ELISA and immunoprecipitation/western blotting techniques which provides accurate and sensitive quantification of the amount of uPAR antigen as well as indications on the molecular structure of the receptor and receptor fragments, even in dilute biological samples such as conditioned medium.

I find that: 1) Stimulation with phorbol esters up-regulates uPAR expression and promotes uPAR cleavage and shedding. 2) uPAR cleavage is associated with release of the D1 fragment to the culture medium. 3) The pattern of soluble full-length uPAR and D2D3 fragment in conditioned medium corresponds to the cleavage state of uPAR on the cell surface.

While non-stimulated U937 cells predominantly express intact uPAR, monocytes, neutrophils and HUVEC also express high levels of cleaved receptor. Stimulation of neutrophils with the chemotactic peptide fMLP, and wounding of HUVEC monolayers, increases the shedding of uPAR antigen.

### **Introduction**

Cellular uPAR can be released from the plasma membrane generating a soluble form of uPAR (suPAR). It has not been determined whether this receptor 'shedding' occurs following proteolytic cleavage close to the carboxy-terminus, or by the action of phospholipases that might cleave the GPI-anchor. The pro-uPA binding properties of suPAR are similar to that of the GPI-anchored protein (Rønne et al., 1994), but the release from the cell surface strongly alters other biological functions of the receptor. suPAR may partially maintain its capacity to promote pericellular proteolysis as it can concentrate uPA on the cell surface and in the extracellular matrix via its interaction with vitronectin (Chavakis et al., 1998). suPAR is not expected to promote cellular adhesion to vitronectin as the linkage to the cell surface is lost but may still be able to modulate adhesion by its interactions with integrin molecules (Wei et al., 1996; Wei et al., 1994).

Soluble uPAR (suPAR) has been identified in cell culture supernatants and in diverse biological fluids such as tumour ascites, cystic fluids, serum, plasma and recently also in urine (Chavakis et al., 1998; Holst-Hansen et al., 1999; Lau and Kim, 1994; Ninomiya et al., 1997; Pedersen et al., 1993; Ploug et al., 1992a; Ploug et al., 1991; Rønne et al., 1995; Sier et al., 1999; Sier et al., 1999; Stephens et al., 1997; Wahlberg et al., 1998; Chapter 6).

- 76 -

Plasma, serum and urine from healthy individuals contain detectable levels of suPAR suggesting that uPAR shedding indeed occurs in healthy individuals. Leukocytes, vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells are good candidates for the source of circulating suPAR as they are intimately associated with the circulatory system and are known to express uPAR. Indeed, it has been shown that cultured human monocytes, endothelial and smooth muscle cells shed full-length uPAR (Chavakis et al., 1998). While healthy individuals have rather constant levels of suPAR in serum and urine, increased levels have been observed in patients with different types of cancer (Sier et al., 1999; Sier et al., 1998; Stephens et al., 1999; Stephens et al., 1997) and in patients suffering from the rare paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria syndrome (PNH)(Ninomiya et al., 1997; Rønne et al., 1995). The PNH syndrome is at the molecular level characterised by a biochemical defect in biosynthesis of GPI-anchors, and the increased serum levels of suPAR in these patients has been explained by uPAR release from neutrophils (Ploug et al., 1992b; Rønne et al., 1995). Excess serum suPAR in cancer patients has been suggested to derive from the cancer cells and/or tumour-infiltrating cells as these cells express and release high levels of uPAR (Stephens et al., 1997). Recent experiments using xenografted mice carrying human tumours have indeed demonstrated that the tumour tissue indeed releases uPAR and uPAR fragments to the circulation and urine (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999; Chapter 6).

Cleavage in the linker region between domain 1 and 2 greatly reduces the capacity of uPAR to bind uPA and therefore blocks the receptors function in promoting plasminogen activation (Behrendt et al., 1991; Ploug et al., 1994). Cleavage of uPAR in this region also prevents the high affinity interaction with vitronectin (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a) and blocks uPAR mediated cell adhesion to vitronectin (Chapter 3). In this context, uPAR cleavage can be considered a loss of function. However, suPAR fragments generated in the laboratory, have strong chemokine-like activity *in vitro* (Fazioli et al., 1997), and in this respect the uPAR cleavage can be considered a gain of function event, generating molecules with biological activities not present in intact uPAR.

Cleaved forms of uPAR, lacking D1, are indeed present on the surface of several different cultured human cell lines and in detergent tumour extracts (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999; Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992; Ragno et al., 1998; Solberg et al., 1994; Chapter 6). The natural ligand for uPAR, uPA, is able to cleave its receptor and it has been demonstrated that uPA is responsible for the uPAR cleavage on U937 cells. The cleavage of cellular uPAR by uPA is an efficient process that occurs at physiological concentrations of uPA, while the reaction in solution requires high concentrations of uPA (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b; Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992). The cleavage of uPAR by uPA has been suggested to serve as a negative feedback mechanism occurring at sites of high uPA activity and high concentrations of uPAR such as at the leading edge of migrating cells and at areas of tumour invasion (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b).

- 77 -

Cellular shedding of uPAR fragment has so far not been described, and selective shedding of full-length uPAR has in fact been suggested (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999). Soluble D2D3 fragments have only been identified in fluid from benign and malignant cysts (Wahlberg et al., 1998). The D1 fragments of uPAR, which is supposedly released from the cell surface upon uPAR cleavage, has also failed to be identified in cell culture supernatants or in any biological fluid.

To understand the biological role of soluble and cleaved uPAR molecules it is of great importance to understand how, where and when they are generated. I have developed a sensitive immunoprecipitation/blotting technique with which I have performed a qualitative analysis of the presence of uPAR and uPAR fragments in dilute biological samples such as conditioned medium and urine. In this chapter I describe the expression, cleavage and shedding of uPAR from a number of different cell lines with special focus on leukocytes and endothelial cells.

### **Results**

### U937 cells shed soluble uPAR antigen into the growth medium

To investigate cellular shedding of uPAR I analysed cell lysates and conditioned medium from human myeloid U937 cells cultured for variable periods of time in the presence or absence of the inducer PMA (figure 5.1). While the amount of cellular uPAR in untreated cells was relatively constant during the experiment, PMA induced a strong and persistent increase. The PMA induced increase in cellular uPAR antigen was strongest after 24 hours but remained high for at least 72 hours. Throughout the experiment suPAR antigen accumulated in the conditioned medium indicating a continuous shedding of uPAR from the cells to the medium. The amount of uPAR antigen released from non-treated cells during the first 24 hours of culture (0.4 ng /  $10^6$  cells / 24 hours) corresponded approximately to a complete turnover of cellular uPAR in 24 hours. The release rate was much higher in PMA stimulated cells (6.1 ng /  $10^6$  cells / 24 hours) corresponding to a turnover rate of cellular uPAR of approximately 3.5 hours.

# Conditioned medium from U937 cells contain full-length suPAR, D2D3 and D1 fragments.

To determine the molecular structure of the uPAR antigen present in lysates and in conditioned medium I performed immunoprecipitation experiments using monoclonal antibodies to uPAR followed by western blotting with a polyclonal anti-uPAR antibody (figure 5.2). In non-stimulated cells a prominent band with a molecular weight around 50-55 kDa representing full-length uPAR could be observed both in cell-lysates and in conditioned media. Stimulation with PMA resulted in a strong increase in the intensity of this band and the appearance of two shorter polypeptides. The intense band with a molecular weight around 35-40 kDa suggests a cleaved receptor composed of domain 2 and 3 (D2D3), and could be observed in both cell lysates and in conditioned media. Long exposure of the blots revealed the presence of a fast migrating band in conditioned media in a fragment (D1). Despite long exposures, the D1 band was never observed in cell lysates in accordance with the model that D1 is released from the cell surface upon receptor cleavage (not shown).

To unequivocally identify the different polypeptides present in lysates and conditioned media I immunoprecipitated conditioned medium from PMA-stimulated U937 cells with a panel of different monoclonal antibodies (figure 5.3). Antibodies recognising domain 3 (mAb R2 and R4) precipitated the two larger fragments in accordance with the identity of these bands being full-length suPAR and D2D3. An antibody against D1 (mAb R3) precipitated full-length uPAR

- 79 -

and the small -15 kDa fragment but not the D2D3 band, confirming the identity of these peptides to be full-length uPAR and the D1 fragment. Full-length uPAR could furthermore be precipitated with a monoclonal antibody against uPA (mAb c6) demonstrating that the receptor in the conditioned medium, at least partially, is associated with uPA. A control antibody (mAb M2) did not precipitate any of these peptides. The highly heterogeneous glycosylation of uPAR causes a "smeary" appearance of uPAR and uPAR fragments in western blotting preventing a good separation of full-length uPAR and the D2D3 fragment. To eliminate this problem I performed western blotting on immunoprecipitates that had been reduced, denatured, and deglycosylated. Indeed, the migration pattern of uPAR, D2D3 and D1 after deglycosylation was in complete accordance with the molecular weights based on the cDNA derived amino acid sequence of uPAR and a cleavage in the region between domain 1 and 2. Also, the separation of full-length uPAR and D2D3 was under these conditions excellent allowing an accurate identification of the different uPAR fragments.

### Cleaved uPAR is efficiently shed from cells

The uPAR cleavage event generating the D2D3 fragment present in conditioned medium could occur while uPAR is still anchored to the cell membrane or derive from shed uPAR being cleaved in the medium. To determine whether the D2D3 fragment was generated on the cell surface or in the medium an experiment was set up using U937 cells PMA-stimulated for 72 hour to generate a high level of cleaved uPAR on the cell surface. The cells were acid washed to remove any uPAR bound uPA and plated in fresh medium prior to the experiment and after a one-hour incubation cells and medium were collected and analysed by immunoprecipitation. This experimental protocol should prevent further uPAR cleavage as uPA is removed from the cells and the medium. In fact, I observed a good correlation between the ratio of uPAR to D2D3 in the medium and on the cells suggesting that uPAR and D2D3 are shed at comparable speeds (not shown). Further evidence for shedding of cleaved uPAR comes from 32D cells transfected with a recombinant D2D3 uPAR receptor (Chapter 3) that indeed also shed the protein to the growth medium (figure 5.8).

### Cleavage and shedding of uPAR in leukocytes.

To characterise the molecular forms of uPAR expressed on, and shed from, leukocytes I cultured freshly isolated monocytes and neutrophils for 48 hours *in vitro* and analysed cell lysates and conditioned medium for the presence of uPAR fragments by immunoprecipitation (figure 5.4A). Cell lysates and conditioned medium from monocytes contained uPAR polypeptides, which could be readily identified as full-length uPAR and the D2D3 fragment. The level of these

peptides was higher in cells that had been treated with PMA but the ratio of full-length uPAR to D2D3 fragment was not altered significantly. Long exposures of the blots also revealed the presence of the D1 fragment in conditioned medium from PMA stimulated cells monocytes. The D1 fragment was never observed in cell lysates. Cell lysates and conditioned medium from neutrophils contained a uPAR peptide with a migration intermediate between full-length uPAR and D2D3 fragment and therefore not readily identifiable. To obtain a better separation and identification of the uPAR peptides the analysis was repeated using deglycosylated material (figure 5.4B). Surprisingly, the pattern of uPAR peptides in lysates and conditioned medium from neutrophils was characterised by a prominent D2D3 fragment, and only a minor amount of full-length uPAR.

Neutrophils have been shown to up-regulate the cell surface expression of uPAR by the mobilisation of intracellular uPAR stores upon stimulation with fMLP. The reaction is fast (a few minutes) and occurs by the fusion between intracellular granules and the plasma membrane (Plesner et al., 1994). To determine if the process was accompanied by a release of soluble uPAR, I performed ELISA on the medium from neutrophils that had been stimulated with fMLP for 30 minutes (figure 5.5). Indeed, I observed that the medium from neutrophils stimulated with fMLP for 30 minutes (much super stimulate as from non-stimulated cells.

### Cleavage and shedding of uPAR in HUVEC cells.

HUVEC cells have been shown to express and shed full-length suPAR but no information are available regarding the presence and shedding of uPAR fragments. To address this point I cultured confluent monolayers of HUVEC cells for 72 hours in the presence and absence of PMA. Conditioned medium was collected after 24, 48 and 72 hours and cell lysates prepared at the end of the experiment. All the samples were immunoprecipitated and analysed by western blotting (figure 5.6).

Cell lysates from both treated and untreated cells contained uPAR peptides corresponding to intact uPAR and the D2D3 fragment. Soluble full-length uPAR could be observed after 24 hours in the medium from PMA stimulated cells and after 72 hours in untreated cells. The uPAR peptides in the medium accumulated during culture and the appearance of the D2D3 fragment appeared later as it could first be detected after 48 hours in treated cells. The ratio of uPAR to D2D3 in conditioned medium and cell lysates was comparable after 72 hours of culture. As I did not prepare cell lysates at the 24 and 48 time points, it is possible that the cellular D2D3 fragment accumulated during culture as did the soluble form in the medium. As observed both in U937 cells and monocytes, the D1 fragment could be identified in the conditioned medium from PMA stimulated cells after 72 hours. PMA stimulation is not very physiological and to determine if the shedding of uPAR could be up-regulated under more relevant conditions I analysed the conditioned medium from HUVEC monolayers that had been 'wounded' using a rubber policeman (figure 5.7). The conditioned medium from wounded monolayers contained slightly more uPAR antigen than control plates, suggesting that wounding results in up-regulation of expression and/or shedding of uPAR. These data should however be taken with care as the experiment was performed only once, as the difference is small, and as several factors such as cell proliferation, cell death etc. may contribute to the increased uPAR release.

### Urokinase independent cleavage of uPAR

Cleavage of uPAR on U937 cells is likely to occur through the direct cleavage of uPAR by its ligand uPA (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b), but whether other biologically relevant proteases can do the same in other cell lines is still not known. To address this point I analysed the cleavage of uPAR in a cell system in which uPA-mediated uPAR cleavage is unlikely. I used the murine 32D cells transfected with human uPAR (Chapter 3) as these cells do not express uPA (not shown) and as the species barrier between uPA and uPAR binding would prevent the binding of any low levels of murine uPA possibly expressed by these cells (Appella et al., 1987; Estreicher et al., 1989).

Indeed, I observed the presence of an uPAR fragment compatible with D2D3 in both cell lysates and conditioned medium from the uPAR transfected cells suggesting the existence of an uPA independent mechanism of uPAR cleavage (figure 5.8).

### **Discussion**

Serum, plasma and urine from healthy individuals contain measurable levels of suPAR and suPAR fragments suggesting that a constant release and cleavage of uPAR occurs in the healthy organism; however the cellular source of suPAR has not been determined. In accordance with other reports (Chavakis et al., 1998) I find that leukocytes and vascular endothelial cells shed full-length suPAR, and I therefore propose that these cells may, at least partially, is the source of circulating suPAR.

Elevated levels of serum suPAR have been observed in individuals suffering from PNH and in serum and urine from cancer patients. In these patients a deficiency in GPI-anchoring (PNH) or uPAR release from tumour cells (cancer) may explain the increased levels of circulating suPAR. I find a good correlation between the amount of released suPAR antigen and the expression level of uPAR on the cell surface. Any physiological or pathological condition involving the up-regulation of uPAR expression may therefore contribute to the serum suPAR levels. Malignant conditions such as cancer, HIV infection, chronic progressive multiple sclerosis, but also inflammation are associated with up-regulation of uPAR expression in leukocytes (Dore-Duffy et al., 1992; Nykjaer et al., 1994; Speth et al., 1998) and vascular endothelial cells (Graham et al., 1998; Washington et al., 1994). I therefore suggest that these pathologies may also be associated with increased serum/urine levels of suPAR antigen.

The close connection between uPAR and uPA with respect to spatial expression and affinity makes uPA a good candidate for the enzyme responsible for uPAR cleavage and it has indeed been suggested that uPAR cleavage preferentially occurs at sites of high uPA activity (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b). However, my data suggest that other enzymes may also be involved in uPAR cleavage. First, uPAR cleavage occurs in transfected cells where uPA is absent and very unlikely to be relevant. Second, a high fraction of cleaved uPAR is present on monocytes and neutrophils, which have been isolated from a tissue (blood), characterised by the presence of protease inhibitors in general. The cleavage of uPAR in neutrophils may involve proteases such as neutrophil elastase which is indeed capable of cleaving suPAR *in vitro* (Ploug et al., 1991).

Rather than being only a reflection of tissular uPAR expression, circulating suPAR and suPAR fragments may actually have important functions in health and disease. Soluble full-length suPAR, can associate with circulating pro-uPA and the generated complex may have a function in the lysis of plasma clots (Higazi et al., 1998). Fragments of suPAR (generated in the laboratory) are endowed with strong chemokine-like activities *in vitro*, but the function of these fragments *in vivo* remains speculative (Fazioli et al., 1997; Resnati et al., 1996). I find that lcukocytes and vascular endothelial cells shed cleaved forms of uPAR. However, only full-length

- 83 -

suPAR can be detected in plasma/serum (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999; Chapter 6). The shedding of uPAR fragments from leukocytes and vascular endothelial cells taken together with the presence of these fragments in urine (Sier et al., 1999; Chapter 6), suggests that these fragments are cleared to the urine at a rate preventing detection in the circulation. However, the transient presence of these fragments in the circulation is very likely. The expression of the uPAR chemotactic peptide on the surface of vascular endothelial cells may have a function in biological processes such as leukocyte extravasation and/or recruitment to points of endothelial damage. The release of chemotactically active suPAR fragments from activated neutrophils may be involved in the recruitment of monocytes and lymphocytes to sites of inflammation.

#### Contributions:

Simone Orlando from our laboratory performed the separation and purification of leukocytes. Cornelis F.M. Sier (Called "Kees") did the ELISA determinations. All other experimental work was performed by me.

### Chapter 6:

### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION (IV)**

### Soluble and cleaved uPAR in urine

- 85 -

### <u>Summary</u>

A soluble form of the receptor (suPAR) is present in blood of healthy people and suPAR levels are increased in plasma/serum of cancer patients. Fragments of uPAR, cleaved between domain 1 and domain 2, are found on the surface of carcinoma cell lines and experimental tumours. Cleaved forms of suPAR, generated in the laboratory, are potent inducers of chemotaxis of cultured cells, but their occurrence and possible function *in vivo* is presently unknown.

In this chapter I demonstrate the presence of full-size as well as cleaved forms of suPAR in urine of healthy volunteers and ovarian cancer patients: 1) The level of urinary suPAR antigen is significantly higher in cancer patient. 2) Immunoprecipitation / immunoblotting experiments show that in human serum suPAR was mostly full-length, whereas in urine a fragment corresponding to domain 2+3 (D2D3) was the most abundant form. 3) Urine also contained a fragment corresponding to domain 1 of suPAR (D1), a fragment that has never been observed *in vivo* or *in vitro* before. 4) Urine from mice xenografted with human ovarian tumor cells also contained high levels of human suPAR antigen, and high levels of D1 were found in mice carrying a human xenografted tumor displaying cleaved uPAR on the cell surface, but not in the urine from mice carrying a human xenografted tumor displaying only full-length uPAR.

Although all 3 forms of suPAR were also found in urine from healthy individuals, the distribution pattern of suPAR fragments was clearly different in ovarian cancer patients, with varying D1/D2D3 ratios in different patients. Control experiments demonstrated that the pattern of urinary suPAR fragments did not change after extensive incubation at 37°C. Moreover, incubation of iodinated recombinant suPAR in urine did not lead to significant fragmentation, indicating that cleavage of suPAR does not primarily take place in the urine. The data suggest that the enhanced presence of suPAR fragments in urine might reflect a cancer specific process, and that their assay might be exploited in clinical investigations of certain types of cancer.

### **Introduction**

The interaction between urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) and its receptor (uPAR), plays a key role in physiological and pathological processes like cell migration, tissue remodeling and cancer invasion and metastasis (Andreasen et al., 1997; Blasi, 1997). Both uPA and uPAR are made up of discrete domains endowed with specific functions. uPA has a protease domain, and an aminoterminal fragment that specifically binds the receptor. In addition to activating plasminogen, uPA is able to induce uPAR-dependent adhesion, proliferation and chemotaxis (Rabbani et al., 1992; Resnati et al., 1996; Waltz and Chapman, 1994).

uPAR is composed of three homologous domains (figure 6.2A) and is linked to the cell surface at the carboxy terminus by a glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor (Ploug et al., 1991). The aminoterminal domain of uPAR (D1) contains the main uPA-binding site (Behrendt et al., 1991), whereas the next two domains of uPAR (D2D3) bind the extracellular matrix protein vitronectin (Wei et al., 1994). However, full-size uPAR is required for the high affinity of both interactions (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a; Ploug et al., 1998b). Like uPA, uPAR is accessible to proteolytic cleavage, especially in the D1 to D2D3 linker region which is cleaved by trypsin, plasmin, chymotrypsin and uPA itself (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992; Ploug et al., 1994). Chymotrypsin-cleaved or recombinant soluble uPAR (suPAR) fragments have strong and specific anti-adhesive and chemotactic activities on cells that do not posses endogenous uPAR (Fazioli et al., 1997; Resnati et al., 1996; Wei et al., 1996).

The importance of proteolytic fragmentation of uPA and uPAR *in vivo* has not yet been addressed. ATF, the amino terminal fragment of uPA, is found in conditioned media of cancer cells (Rabbani et al., 1992). A variant of uPAR lacking D1 has been identified on several tumour cell lines, in experimental tumours and similar fragments are found in the fluid from human ovarian cysts (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992; Ragno et al., 1998; Solberg et al., 1994; Wahlberg et al., 1998). However, released soluble D1 has never been identified in any cell culture medium or biological fluid.

In the present paper, we show that the urinary levels of suPAR are enhanced in ovarian cancer patients, in accordance to what has been previously shown for serum (Sier et al., 1998). Moreover, urine from healthy women and ovarian cancer patients contains, in addition to full-size suPAR, also two suPAR fragments representing D2D3 and D1. The distribution pattern of suPAR fragments in urine from ovarian cancer patients is clearly different from that of healthy controls. Control experiments show that suPAR fragmentation does not depend on urine storage conditions, in fact it does not occur in the urine. Experiments in xenografted mice show a correlation between the presence of cleaved uPAR on tumour membranes and the appearance of

D1 in urine, indicating that fragmentation most likely occurs on the cell surface in the tumour tissue.

### <u>Results</u>

### Urinary suPAR is increased in ovarian cancer patients

The suPAR/creatinine ratios in urine from 25 ovarian carcinoma patients and 20 healthy controls are presented in figure 6.1. The ratio of suPAR and creatinine was used because it eliminate differences due to dilution and sampling time (Sier et al., 1999). The median level of urinary suPAR/creatinine was significantly enhanced in carcinoma patients compared with agematched healthy women (P=0.004; Mann-Whitney U-test). A cut-off value of 5.5 (the median value determined in the 20 healthy women plus twice the standard deviation) distinguished 11 cancer patients with low and 14 patients with high urinary suPAR values, resulting in a sensitivity of 56% and a specificity of 95%. In particular, high FIGO stage carcinomas (IIIc, closed circles in figure 6.1) showed elevated values, but also some samples of patients with stage I/II carcinomas were enhanced.

### Urine contains full-length suPAR as well as suPAR fragments D2D3 and D1

To determine the nature of suPAR antigen in urine I performed immunoprecipitation analysis on concentrated urine obtained from an ovarian carcinoma patient. I immunoprecipitated the sample with monoclonal antibodies recognising epitopes on domain 1 (mAb R3) or domain 3 (mAb R2), and analysed the precipitated material by western blotting using a polyclonal anti-uPAR antibody (figure 6.2B). Three different polypeptides were identified; a ~55 kDa band immunoprecipitated by both mAb R2 and mAb R3, representing the full size receptor; a ~35 kDa band immunoprecipitated only by mAb R2 and hence corresponding to suPAR fragment D2D3; and finally, a ~17 kDa band identified only by mAb R3 and therefore compatible with fragment D1. Another set of monoclonal antibodies having similar recognition specificity (mAb R4 and mAb R5, respectively) displayed an identical pattern, confirming the identity of these fragments (data not shown). Serum from ovarian cancer patients and healthy controls contained only full-length suPAR, as no material with a molecular weight below ~50 kDa could be identified (figure 6.3C and not shown).

The mAb R3 precipitated less full-length suPAR than mAb R2. This might be due to the different efficiency of the two antibodies; however, it might also indicate that urinary suPAR is partially associated with other molecule(s) able to inhibit the binding of mAb R3 (but not mAb R2) to the receptor. Indeed, mAb R3 has been shown to compete with the natural ligand of uPAR, pro-uPA (List et al., 1999; Rønne et al., 1991).

### suPAR fragmentation is different in ovarian cancer patients

Figure 6.3 shows an immunoprecipitation/immunoblotting experiment carried out on urine from 7 healthy women (figure 6.3A) and 7 ovarian carcinoma patients (figure 6.3B). The pattern of distribution of suPAR fragments in control urine's was very consistent. The major urinary form of suPAR appeared to be the D2D3 fragment that was twice or more as abundant as full-size suPAR. In these non-concentrated urine's the D1 fragment could be clearly detected in three samples (C1, C4 and C7). The suPAR fragment pattern in ovarian cancer patients, however, was clearly different (figure 6.3B). Some patients showed distribution patterns similar to normal urines (P1, P3, P5, and P6), whereas others had relatively high amounts of D1 (P2, P4, and P7). Urine from patient P7 contained high amounts of all forms, but D1 was most abundant (5 times more than D2D3, estimated from a short time exposure of the blot, data not shown). In contrast to urine, no fragments of suPAR were identified in serum from the same ovarian carcinoma patients (figure 6.3C). Even immunoprecipitation of five times more serum did not reveal any cleaved suPAR fragments (not shown).

### suPAR and SUPAR fragments are stable in urine.

The difference between the pattern of uPAR fragments in urine (full length, D2D3 and D1) and in serum (only full length) prompted me to investigate whether the urinary suPAR fragments were actually generated in the urine by proteolytic degradation of full-length suPAR. First, I analysed whether the pattern of suPAR fragments in freshly sampled urine was stable when stored for 24 hours at different temperatures (-20°C, 4°C, 20°C and 37°C) or when subjected to repeated freeze/thaw cycles in the presence and absence of protease inhibitors. The pattern of suPAR fragments on immunoblots was found to be largely unaffected by the storage temperature and by the presence or absence of protease inhibitors (not shown). These findings indicate that the suPAR fragmentation pattern was stable in urine independently of storage conditions. To further examine suPAR stability in urine, we added full-length ¹²⁵I-labelled recombinant suPAR at physiological concentration (2 ng/ml) to urine from seven different ovarian cancer patients. The samples were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and then analysed by SDS-PAGE. Some degradation of full-size suPAR to the D2D3 and D1 fragments was observed in the urine from one patient (approximately 20%), but not in any of the other samples (not shown). The absence of significant cleavage in those samples was not a consequence of a resistance of the used ¹²⁵I-labelled suPAR to cleavage, because chymotrypsin and uPA could efficiently cleave this particular suPAR when incubated in buffered saline under the same conditions. Both proteases had no or very little effect when incubated in urine (data not shown). These experiments suggest that suPAR fragmentation most likely does not occur in urine.

### Urinary suPAR antigen is partially derived from distant tumour tissue

The increased urinary suPAR levels in cancer patients might derive from malignant cells or tumour infiltrating stromal cells. It is difficult to demonstrate this possibility in humans since it is impossible to discriminate tumour-derived suPAR from non-tumour derived suPAR. We therefore looked for the presence of human suPAR antigen in urine from nude mice xenografted with human carcinomas. The ELISA used for human urine could not be used in this analysis because of the interference with murine antibodies present in mouse urine. We therefore used a recently developed ELISA (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999) which is highly specific for human uPAR and suitable for analysis of murine samples (see materials and methods). We analysed urine samples obtained from mice xenografted with the ovarian carcinoma HOC8 (Giavazzi et al., 1998) and the metastatic breast carcinoma MDA435 (Cailleau et al., 1974). Indeed, we found that pooled urine from HOC8 or MDA435 xenografted mice contained soluble human uPAR (shuPAR) antigen (figure 6.4), whereas no shuPAR was detected in urine from non-xenografted mice. The rather low level of shuPAR antigen in the pooled urine from HOC8 xenografted mice (0.23 ng/ml) was confirmed in a second experiment (not shown) with urine samples from individual xenografted mice (n=5) and control mice (n=6) and the difference was highly significant (P=0.009, Mann-Whitney U-test). This result strongly suggests that the enhanced urinary suPAR levels from cancer patients at least partially could derive from tumour cells.

# Urinary SUPAR fragments might reflect the cleavage-state of uPAR on tumour tissue in xenografted mice.

Urinary fragmented suPAR may reflect the presence of cleaved uPAR on tumour cells. To examine this possibility we compared uPAR in tumour lysates, blood samples, and urine from the HOC8 and MDA435 xenografts by immunoabsorption/immunoblotting (figure 6.5).

While the HOC8 tumour lysate only contained full-length uPAR, the MDA435 tumour lysate also contained cleaved receptor (D2D3). Both tumours release the full-length receptor since it was detected in the circulation. In both tumours circulating suPAR apparently undergoes proteolytic cleavage during translocation from blood to urine since a prominent D2D3 fragment, but no full-length suPAR, was identified in urine from the animals. However, in addition to the D2D3 fragment, a very abundant D1 fragment was observed in urine from mice bearing the MDA435, but not the HOC8 tumour. From shorter exposures the intensity of the D1 band present in urine from MDA435 xenografts was estimated to be approximately ten fold more intense than the D2D3 fragment (not shown). In HOC8 xenografts, the D2D3 fragment in urine was less abundant than in MDA435. No D1 fragment was detected, even after very long exposures (not shown). The difference between the urinary D1 levels of both tumour models correlates with the

presence of cleaved uPAR on the tumour cells and indicates that urinary D1 could be a reflection of suPAR cleavage on tumour cells.

### **Discussion**

Components of the plasminogen activation system are found in enhanced amounts in various types of tumours (Andreasen et al., 1997). High tissue and serum levels of uPA, uPAR, and inhibitor PAI-1 are associated with bad prognosis in human cancers (Casslèn et al., 1994; Chambers et al., 1998; Kuhn et al., 1994; Mustjoki et al., 1999; Nielsen et al., 1998; Pedersen et al., 1994; Schmitt et al., 1997; Sier et al., 1998; Verspaget et al., 1995). Since we previously showed that urinary and serum suPAR levels are strongly correlated (Sier et al., 1999), we hypothesised that enhanced urinary suPAR levels might also be associated with malignancy. The present study shows that approximately 50-60 % of the patients with ovarian carcinoma display an increased urinary concentrations of suPAR, comparable to what was found previously in serum and tissue from ovarian carcinoma patients (Casslèn et al., 1991; Schmalfeldt et al., 1995; Sier et al., 1998; Young et al., 1994).

The source of suPAR in serum or urine from healthy individuals has not been identified yet. Enhanced levels of circulating suPAR might reflect an increase in tissue uPAR, as for instance found in many tumour types. Indeed, plasma levels of human suPAR correlate with tumour burden in nude mice carrying ovarian and breast cancer xenografts (our unpublished data and (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999)).

We never observed any fragmented suPAR in serum/plasma of healthy volunteers, nor in patients with various types of cancer, nor in serum from mice xenografted with human tumours. In the last case, urinary suPAR must derive from tumour cells as these represents the only human component in the xenografts. Assuming that in cancer patients the enhanced serum suPAR derives from the surface of tumour and/or stromal cells, the absence of fragments implies that either suPAR is not fragmented in the tissue (which is at least not the case in some mouse xenografts) or that the fragments does not enter the circulation. More likely, however, since uPAR uPAR fragments are indeed released from the tissue, their half-life in the circulation maybe too short to generate a detectable steady-state level.

After entering the bloodstream, suPAR may bind circulating molecules that could potentially modify its clearance. Two likely serum ligands for suPAR are pro-uPA and vitronectin. Association of suPAR with these molecules would bring the molecular weight of the complex well above the limit for simple diffusion into the urinary compartment. The uPAR fragments are unable to associate with physiological concentrations of uPA and vitronectin (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997a; Ploug et al., 1994) or with any other presently known serum protein, and their half-life is therefore not expected to be modulated by these interactions.

In addition to tissue cleavage, one cannot forget that both uPA and uPAR are present in the human kidney. In particular uPA is found ubiquitously and abundantly in all segments of the tubular epithelium, where it is thought to be essential for the prevention of fibrin clot formation in kidney and urine (Wagner et al., 1996). Therefore, uPA, or other proteases present in the kidney like kallikrein or meprin A (Chen et al., 1995; Walker et al., 1998), might be responsible for the cleavage of full-size suPAR and hence for the presence of suPAR fragments in the urine. Our immunoblot data in urine from healthy volunteers clearly show that in fact most of the suPAR is present as D2D3 fragment. The striking difference with cancer patient's urine is, that while in healthy volunteers the ratio between full-size suPAR and D2D3 is rather stable, this is not the case in urine from cancer patients. Therefore, changes in the urinary suPAR fragment pattern might reflect the cleavage of uPAR in distant parts of the organism. Mice xenografted with human tumours release full-size receptor in the blood, and present suPAR fragments in the urine. The urinary level of the D1 fragment correlates with the extent of surface uPAR cleavage in the xenografted tumour tissue. This result argues for a similar phenomenon in human cancer patients.

Compared to the very regular pattern of suPAR fragments in urine from healthy volunteers, some patients showed relatively high urinary D1 levels. It will therefore be relevant to evaluate the clinical usefulness of this observation. So far, the only easily obtainable human body fluid in which suPAR fragment analysis is possible is urine.

Recently, a number of cleaved extracellular matrix and cell surface proteins have been discovered, and the presence of some of these fragments has been associated with cancer (O'Reilly et al., 1994; Taraboletti et al., 1997). Some of these fragmented proteins have biological or pharmacological activity, like angiostatin. Also cleaved forms of suPAR have biological activity, at least *in vitro*. First, suPAR cleavage results in fragments possessing a very strong chemotactic activity, provided they contain at the carboxy-terminus (D1) or at the amino-terminus (D2D3) the specific chemotactic epitope of uPAR that lies in the linker region between D1 and D2D3 (Fazioli et al., 1997). Second, D2D3 can affect the interaction of uPAR with integrins, thus modifying cell adhesion (Wei et al., 1996). Third, in addition to gaining chemotactic functions, suPAR fragments lose the properties of the full-size molecule, i.e. the binding to uPA and vitronectin.

In conclusion, the enhanced presence of cleaved fragments of suPAR in urine of cancer patients might provide clinically relevant information about the actual tumour and should therefore be studied in larger groups of patients with various types of cancer. The presence of suPAR fragments in human urine suggests that suPAR release and fragmentation may be biologically relevant processes. In particular, the adherence/chemotactic activities (Fazioli et al., 1997; Wei et al., 1996) of these fragments may influence cell migration and hence the increase in fragments may be related to the degree of aggressiveness and invasiveness of a tumour. This hypothesis still needs to be proven.

### Contributions:

Thomas L. Frandsen from the Finsen Laboratory in Copenhagen, Denmark, did the xenograft experiments with the MDA435 tumour. Ines Nicoletti from the Mario Negri laboratory in Bergamo, Italy, did the xenograft experiments with the HOC8 tumour. Andrea Mariani, Giovanni Aletti, Luigi Frigero, Augusto Ferrari and Vittorio Agape from Hospital San Raffaele in Milan, Italy, collected the urine samples and measured the creatinine content. I performed all other experiments and co-ordinated the study.

# Chapter 7:

### FINAL DISCUSSION

- 96 -

### **Final discussion**

In this thesis I have sought to define the occurrence and biological significance of uPAR cleavage and shedding. The data clearly indicate that uPAR and uPAR fragments are present notably *in vitro*, but also *in vivo* under physiological and pathological conditions. The generation of soluble uPAR and soluble uPAR fragments under natural conditions gives rise to several questions: First, what are the underlying mechanisms? Second, what is the molecular structure. Third, what is the biological activity of these molecules, not only with respect to uPAR binding functions, but especially as integrin-modulators and as chemotactic factors. Finally, how about the measurement of uPAR or its fragments in the clinic for diagnostic or prognostic purposes.

In this last chapter I discuss the possible biological relevance of the data presented in this thesis. I will furthermore give my suggestions for possible experiments that may answer the questions raised by the obtained results.

### Mechanism of uPAR shedding

The shedding of uPAR from the cell surface occurs in many different normal and transformed cell lines (Chavakis et al., 1998; Lau and Kim, 1994; Ploug et al., 1991; Chapter 5). No cells have so far been described which express uPAR but do not shed it to the medium. It thus appears that the process of uPAR shedding is an ubiquitous process, which occurs in all cells.

It is possible that uPAR shedding simply reflects uPAR which "escapes" GPI-anchoring. This may in particular occur under conditions of high uPAR expression where the GPI-anchoring machinery of the cell could be saturated. Two lines off evidence suggest that the absence of GPI-anchoring is not the major reason for suPAR production. First, the drug Brefeldin A which blocks the intracellular translocation of secretory proteins between the endoplasmic reticulum and the golgi apparatus (Misumi et al., 1986) does not affect the cellular release of suPAR (Wilhelm et al., 1999). Second, the D2D3 fragment, which is generated on the surface of U937 cells, is also shed (Chapter 5).

Bacterial phospholipase C (PIPL-C) is capable of releasing uPAR from the cell surface, but a similar enzymatic activity has not been described in humans. Purified preparations of the related mammalian enzymes phospholipase D and phospholipase A2 (PIPL-D and PLA-2) fail to catalyse the process (Ploug et al., 1991). Serum contains high levels of PIPL-D but the enzyme requires the presence of detergent in order to hydrolyse GPI-anchors (Low and Huang, 1991). Recently it has been suggested that a cellular form of PIPL-D may be the enzyme which catalyses the release of uPAR (Wilhelm et al., 1999). Cellular PIPL-D co-localises with caveolin suggesting that uPAR shedding could preferentially occur when both uPAR and PIPL-D are associated with caveolin. This would in fact connect the phenomenon of uPAR shedding to the process of cell adhesion and migration. The fact that 1,10-phenanthroline inhibits uPAR shedding (Wilhelm et al., 1999) also suggests that MMPs may be involved in the process. Although highly speculative, one could imagine a scenario in which MMPs activate serum or cellular PIPL-D which then hydrolyses the GPI-anchor of uPAR.

#### Mechanism of uPAR cleavage

Cleavage of uPAR occurs in many different cell types and tumour tissues (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999; Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992; Ragno et al., 1998; Solberg et al., 1994; Chapter 6).

uPA is able to cleave suPAR in solution but the reaction is slow and requires high concentrations of uPA (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992). The reaction does not depend on binding of uPA to suPAR, as the cleavage is equally well performed by low molecular weight uPA which lack the uPAR binding domain. uPA catalysed uPAR cleavage is more than 10 fold accelerated on the surface of cells (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b). The cell-surface acceleration requires the binding of uPA to uPAR as the interaction antagonist ATF inhibits the reaction almost completely. These data clearly demonstrate that uPA is able to cleave uPAR, but that it does not preferentially cleave the receptor to which it may be bound. Taken together a model emerges in which the cell surface acceleration of uPAR cleavage is caused by the concentration of uPA on the cell surface, and that uPAR bound uPA cleaves flanking uPAR molecules (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b). One experiment aimed at validating this mechanism could be the "labelling" of cell surface uPAR by incubation with sub-saturating concentrations of 1²⁵I-labelled ATF, followed by immobilisation using a chemical cross-linker. A subsequent release of D1/ATF complexes upon incubation with saturating concentration of uPA would provide evidence for lateral cleavage, as the binding of uPA and ATF to uPAR is mutually exclusive.

From several points of view, uPA is a likely candidate for the enzyme cleaving uPAR. However, it is not likely to be the only mechanism, because cleavage occurs in cell systems where uPA is unlikely to be involved. Cleavage of uPAR occurs in murine 32D cells transfected with human uPAR. The absence of uPA expression by these cells and the species barrier for binding between murine uPA and human uPAR almost completely excludes any role for uPA in the cleavage of uPAR in this cell system (Chapter 5). No information about proteases expressed by 32D cells is available and the first hint to the identity of the responsible enzyme may come from the determination of the uPAR cleavage site.

uPA is also not likely to be responsible for all of the uPAR cleavage observed on monocytes and neutrophils (Chapter 5). The blood is a neutralising environment for proteases as it contains high levels of general protease inhibitors such as  $\alpha_2$ -antiplasmin and  $\alpha_2$ macroglobulin. Resting human monocytes have high levels (-50%) of cleaved uPAR on the

surface in contrast to cultured U937 cells. Monocytes may express low levels of pro-uPA but as serum contains PAI-1, the effective concentration of active uPA on the surface of resting monocytes is expected to be very low. A similar situation is true for neutrophils. Approximately 80% of uPAR on neutrophils is cleaved (Chapter 5) and of the remaining 20% only one tenth is occupied by uPA or pro-uPA (Plesner et al., 1994). Neutrophils have intracellular granules that can be mobilised to the plasma membrane upon different kinds of stimuli. These granules contain different types of pro-inflammatory molecules and a number of proteases including pro-uPA/uPA and neutrophil elastase. These granules also contain uPAR (Plesner et al., 1994). uPAR is distributed equally between the easily mobilised granules (characterised by their mobilisation by fMLP), and in the specific and primary granules which require a stronger stimulation (in experimental conditions TNFa or PMA are used). In contrast to the distribution of uPAR, prouPA/uPA is mostly confined to the specific and primary granules (Plesner et al., 1994). It is thus possible that uPAR cleavage in neutrophils may take place before the receptor arrives at the cell surface. In fact, it is possible that uPAR is also "shed" prior to release of the granules as suggested by the rapid accumulation of suPAR antigen in the conditioned medium from fMLP stimulated neutrophils (Chapter 5).

Data not presented in this thesis show that PMA-induced uPAR cleavage in endothelial cells (HUVEC) is almost completely inhibited by the broad-range MMP inhibitor batimastat. The involvement of MMPs in uPAR cleavage is not easy to explain. All the MMPs tested fail to cleave suPAR efficiently *in vitro*. However, the absence of efficient cleavage *in vitro* does not exclude that the reaction might be favoured on the cell surface (as is true for several processes described in this thesis). As the linker region in uPAR does not contain any obvious MMP cleavage sites, it is likely that the mechanism is indirect and involves the activation of other proteases. Anti-catalytic uPA antibodies and the plasmin inhibitor trasylol should be tested to establish whether uPA and plasmin are the enzymes actually responsible for the cleavage. Further experiments aimed at identifying the responsible MMP(s) should be initiated by the use of more specific inhibitors.

### The uPAR chemotactic epitope

The data presented in chapter 4 strongly suggest that the position of the cleavage site in the linker region determines whether the chemotactic SRSRY epitope (amino acid 88-92) will be located on the D1 or D2D3 fragments, or whether it will be destroyed by the cleavage.

Two relevant proteases in uPAR cleavage appear to be uPA and plasmin. These two proteases are intimately connected to uPAR as their active forms are generated in a process which occurs in the molecular vicinity of uPAR. Trypsin, plasmin and uPA cleave uPAR at the same two positions in the linker region: Arg83/Ala84 and Arg89/Ser90. Cleavage at Arg83/Ala84 results in the localisation of the chemotactic epitope to the generated D2D3 fragment while cleavage at Arg89/Ser90, localised in the centre of the chemotactic epitope, is expected to generate D1 and D2D3 fragments, which are both devoid of chemotactic activity. Cleavage of uPAR catalysed by uPA on the surface of U937 cells occurs equally well at both sites, whereas there is a weak preference for the Arg83/Ala84 site when the cleavage occurs in solution (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b). Thus, cleavage of uPAR by uPA has the potential to generate a chemotactically active D2D3 fragment, two fragments devoid of activity, but never an active D1 fragment. In fact, no protease cleavage sites have been identified carboxyterminal to the chemotactic epitope and the possible existence in vivo of D1 fragments carrying the SRSRY motif is therefore speculative. However, a recombinant D1 fragment carrying the SRSRY motif is chemotactically active, demonstrating that the epitope works also in this position (Fazioli et al., 1997). The cleavage sites for chymotrypsin and human neutrophil elastase (NE) are both located aminoterminal to the chemotactic epitope and therefore generate D2D3 fragments expected to be chemotactically active. In fact, the aminoterminal border of the chemotactic epitope is defined based on the chemotactic activity of a D2D3 fragment generated by chymotrypsin cleavage (Fazioli et al., 1997).

So far, only chymotryptic uPAR fragments and various recombinant proteins and peptides have been tested for their chemotactic activity (Fazioli et al., 1997; Resnati et al., 1996). To confirm the data obtained using these physiologically not relevant molecules, experiments testing the chemotactic activity of uPAR fragments generated by uPA, plasmin, and neutrophil elastase cleavage of uPAR should be performed. This analysis is however complicated by the fact that uPA and plasmin posses two cleavage sites in the linker region. One solution to this problem is the production of recombinant suPAR in which one of the cleavage sites has been destroyed by site-directed mutagenesis. In particular the destruction of the Arg83/Ala84 cleavage site would be informative, as this would force uPA and plasmin cleavage to the Arg89/Ser90 site located in the chemotactic epitope. The chemotactic activity of uPA or plasmin generated fragments of this mutant suPAR, compared with that of normal suPAR cleaved with the same enzyme, should determine the respective contributions of the two cleavage sites to the chemotactic activity.

Further experiments are needed to establish more precisely the structural requirements for the uPAR chemotactic epitope. By analogy with the experiments presented in chapter 4 this may be performed using synthetic peptides or recombinant uPAR fragments in which the desired mutations have been engineered.

### The structure and biological activity of suPAR fragments found in vivo

The evaluation of uPAR fragments by immunoprecipitation and western blotting allow for the determination of the domain structure of suPAR fragments, but is not informative with respect to the exact cleavage point in the linker region. In chapter 5 and 6 I showed that uPAR fragments are indeed produced by endothelial cells, leukocytes and tumours, and that these fragments can be found in urine. Determination of the molecular structure and biological activity of these fragments is of high priority, as this may yield information with respect to enzymes responsible for the cleavage and the possible biological function of these fragments. The most interesting sources of these fragments for further characterisation are conditioned medium from freshly isolated leukocytes and urine.

The determination of the chemotactic activity is an attractive starting point as the fragments are expected to be active at sub-nanomolar concentrations (Fazioli et al., 1997; Resnati et al., 1996). Experimentally, the different uPAR fragments could be affinity purified using domain specific monoclonal antibodies such as R2 and R3, and the captured material could be analysed by chemotaxis experiments using responsive cells such as THP-1 or smooth muscle cells. Confirmation of the chemotactic activity of these fragments would strengthen the hypothesis that these fragments play a functional role *in vivo*.

Determination of the molecular structure of the uPAR fragments also requires purification of the fragments. The method of purification would be the same as for the determination of the biological activity, but requires larger amounts of starting material. To obtain enough urinary D2D3 fragment to perform aminoterminal sequencing, purification from 1-2 litres of urine is required. Human urine is easy to obtain in large quantities and the purification should therefore be rather straightforward. Purification of the D2D3 fragment from conditioned medium from monocytes and neutrophils is complicated by the limited number of cells available, but should also be possible with some patience. Urine from xenografted mice carrying the human MDA435 tumour contains as much as 50-100 ng/ml of the human D1 fragment and is therefore a perfect source of tumour-derived uPAR fragments. The cleavage point of uPAR cannot be determined by aminoterminal sequencing of the D1 fragment, and the analysis should in this case be performed by mass spectroscopy. In fact, mass spectroscopic techniques are becoming so sensitive that both the amino- and carboxyterminal termini may be determine on sub-microgram quantities of purified uPAR fragments.

Neither aminoterminal sequencing, nor mass spectroscopy are suitable techniques for the qualitative analysis of uPAR fragmentation in large numbers of samples or in situations where the amount of sample is limited. The generation of monoclonal antibodies specific for cleaved uPAR will therefore be crucial for the analysis of uPAR cleavage in this type of samples. These
antibodies should recognise epitopes within the linker region but fail to recognise the same epitopes in intact and ligand-associated uPAR.

#### Identification of the adapter molecule

The fact that suPAR fragments have chemotactic effects on several different cell types strongly suggests the existence of cell surface molecules capable of binding the fragments and transmitting a signal over the cell surface (Fazioli et al., 1997; Resnati et al., 1996). In spite of extensive experimental work in our laboratory this "adapter" molecule has not yet been identified.

The intracellular signalling induced by cleaved suPAR involve the function of G proteins as it is inhibited by Pertussis toxin (Degryse et al., 1999; Fazioli et al., 1997). G-proteins are involved in signalling by chemokine receptors from the seven-transmembrane family. Chemokine receptors are therefore candidate molecules for the uPAR adapter.

uPAR can directly interact with and modulate the function of integrin receptors (Wei et al., 1996; Wei et al., 1999). uPAR can modulate the signalling by  $\beta_1$ -integrins in HEK293 cells in a process which involve the membrane protein caveolin (Wei et al., 1999). Both uPAR and  $\beta_1$ -integrins mediated signal transduction involves *scr* family kinases (Degryse et al., 1999; Resnati et al., 1996; Wei et al., 1999). Also integrin receptors and caveolin are therefore good candidates for the adapter molecule.

The chemotactic effect of cleaved suPAR is maximal at picomolar levels, suggesting that the cellular binding site has a high affinity for the uPAR chemotactic epitope. However, biochemical methods such as co-immunoprecipitation, cross-linking and *in vitro* binding assays, have so far failed to consistently identify any of the mentioned molecules as the adapter molecule able to bind the chemotactic uPAR epitope.

Identification of the uPAR adapter molecule may be obtained using biological assays in which the introduction of candidate adapter proteins (or an expression library!) in an appropriate cell system, generates the desired and measurable signal upon incubation with the chemotactic epitope. This approach has so far been hampered by the fact that the uPAR chemotactic epitope seems to induce signalling in most cells (Degryse et al., 1999; Fazioli et al., 1997).

#### The biological function of uPAR shedding and cleavage

The biological roles of suPAR and suPAR fragments have not been determined. Cleavage and shedding of uPAR irreversibly destroys the well-defined functions of uPAR in plasminogen activation and cell adhesion. In this respect, suPAR and suPAR fragments may be considered inert metabolites. However, the strong biological activity of suPAR fragments *in vitro* and the occurrence of these fragments *in vivo* strongly suggest a biological function. suPAR fragments are apparently devoid of affinity for uPA and vitronectin and their possible function *in vivo* is thus expected to be related to their chemotactic activity.

Neutrophils are the first cells to arrive at sites of microbial infection and tissue damage. By the release of pro-inflammatory molecules, present in intracellular granules, neutrophils are thought to promote the concomitant recruitment of monocytes and lymphocytes. Most of uPAR in neutrophils is cleaved and fMLP stimulation caused a rapid release of some of this suPAR material (Chapter 5). It is thus possible that the release of chemotactically active suPAR fragments contributes to the recruitment of inflammatory cells.

A similar situation may be true in cancer. Proteolysis is particularly active at the invasive front of tumours and this process may generate chemotactic suPAR fragments. The presence of these fragments at the invasive front may promote the directed migration of tumour cells towards zones of proteolysis. Release of chemotactic suPAR fragments from tumour cells may recruit and activate stromal cells to produce proteases sustaining the process of invasion. Also endothelial cells may be recruited promoting the process of tumour vascularisation.

Many different experiments aimed at addressing these possibilities could be performed. Subcutaneous implantation of beads, slowly releasing defined suPAR fragments, may provide information about the recruitment of inflammatory cells. Migration of cells into an artificial ECM containing suPAR fragments may provide information about the effects on tumour invasion, stromal cell recruitment and angiogenesis.

#### Integrin associations with cleaved uPAR

Physical and functional interactions between uPAR and integrin receptors have been extensively documented in the literature. uPAR is required for neutrophil migration (Gyetko et al., 1994) and is found dynamically associated with Mac-1 and CR4 depending on the activation state of the cells (Kindzelskii et al., 1997). Approximately 80% of uPAR in neutrophils is cleaved (Chapter 5). Taken together these data raise a number of questions. Does cleaved uPAR associate with integrins? If yes, is the association between integrins and cleaved uPAR an inhibitory or stimulatory interaction?

Non-catalytic uPAR ligands inhibit the adhesion of neutrophils to vascular endothelium (May et al., 1998) suggesting that the ligand-free conformation of uPAR, which is interestingly the non-chemotactic conformation, promotes adhesion. In the same system suPAR, but not soluble D2D3 which is the chemotactically active configuration of cleaved suPAR, restores the adhesion of PIPL-C treated neutrophils to the same endothelium.

Antibodies specifically recognising cleaved uPAR would much facilitate the experimental approach to the analysis of interactions between integrins receptors and cleaved uPAR. Until these antibodies will be available the immunoprecipitation/western blotting system described in chapter 5 may provide the desired information. Any co-immunoprecipitation of Mac-1 or CR-4 with cleaved uPAR would suggest a functional role, inhibitory or activating, of cleaved uPAR in neutrophils. A preferential co-immunoprecipitation between cleaved uPAR and Mac-1 in migrating (fMLP stimulated) neutrophils would suggest an inhibitory function of cleaved uPAR.

### uPAR, cell adhesion and cancer metastasis

High expression of uPAR in tumour tissue is associated with short survival in different types of cancer. Two critical points in tumour metastasis are cancer cell dissemination and extravasation. Dissemination is the process in which metastatic cancer cells dissociate from the primary tumour and enter the vasculature. Extravasation is the process in which circulating tumour cells leave the vasculature to form a metastasis.

High levels of intact uPAR may inhibit the capacity of cancer cells to disseminate by causing firm cell adhesion to vitronectin in the stromal tissue. However, uPAR mediated effects on cancer cell adhesion may also favour cell migration and thus dissemination. Again, this effect would be inverted by uPAR cleavage. Addressing these possibilities experimentally is not easy as it requires the controlled expression and cleavage of uPAR in suitable experimental tumour systems. However, indirect indications of the involvement of uPAR in the process of dissemination may come from the analysis of the prognostic value of uPAR cleavage in cancer patients.

uPAR expressed by circulating tumour cells may promote adhesion to the vascular endothelium and may therefore facilitate the process of extravasation. On the other hand, strong uPAR mediated cell adhesion to the vascular endothelium may prevent the spreading of the cells in the organism. The effect of uPAR expression on tumour cell extravasation could be addressed experimentally. Tumour cells may be selected, or engineered *in vitro*, to express high levels of uPAR and the extravasation of the cells may then be followed after intravenous injection in mice.

### Metabolism of suPAR and suPAR fragments

Blood and urine from healthy persons contain measurable levels of suPAR antigen (Sier et al., 1999; Sier et al., 1998; Stephens et al., 1997; Chapter 6). While suPAR found in serum is all full-length (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999; Chapter 6), urine also contains the suPAR fragments D1 and D2D3 (Sier et al., 1999; Chapter 6). The concentrations of suPAR antigen in serum and

in urine are highly correlated suggesting that urinary suPAR antigen derives from the circulation (Sier et al., 1999).

Cells associated with the vasculature produce suPAR and suPAR fragments, suggesting that these cells, at least partially, are the source of circulating and urinary suPAR (Chavakis et al., 1998; Chapter 5). suPAR fragments present in urine may derive from the degradation of full-length suPAR in the kidney and urine, or from the cellular release of these fragments in distant parts of the organism, followed by clearance to the urine. Experiments with xenografted mice demonstrate that a D1 fragment released by a distant tumour tissue ends up in the urine without causing detectable D1 in the circulation (Chapter 6). In contrast, release of full-length suPAR from tumour tissue in xenografted mice causes the appearance of full-length suPAR in the circulation and D2D3 fragment in urine, demonstrating that suPAR may be degraded to the D2D3 fragment upon entry into the urinary compartment. However, degradation of full-length suPAR in human urine is very limited, suggesting that urinary suPAR fragments predominantly derive from the cellular release of these fragments (Chapter 6).

The failure to detect the D1 and D2D3 fragments in the circulation is most likely caused by a rapid clearance of these proteins, and experiments aimed at confirming the transient presence of these fragments in the circulation could be performed. Indirect evidence may be obtained by measuring the serum half-life, and urine accumulation, of human recombinant suPAR and suPAR fragments injected into mice. A large difference in the half-life between fulllength suPAR and of the fragments would support the hypothesis. Another approach involves the use of specific monoclonal antibodies to prolong the half-life of suPAR fragments in the circulation. Antibodies have a rather long half-life in the circulation (in the order of days) and may therefore also slow down the clearance of their ligands. Injection of uPAR specific antibodies into tumour bearing mice followed by immunoprecipitation and western blot analysis on serum samples, obtained after a given time interval after injection, might therefore prove the presence of the fragments in the circulation.

#### Serum and urinary suPAR as prognostic markers

The expression level of uPAR in tumour tissue is a prognostic marker in several different tumour types, including squamous cell lung cancer, breast cancer and colon cancer (Ganesh et al., 1996; Grøndahl-Hansen et al., 1995; Pedersen et al., 1994). Patients suffering from ovarian, colon and breast cancer furthermore have elevated levels of suPAR antigen in serum and urine, and high concentrations may be associated with a bad prognosis (Sier et al., 1999; Sier et al., 1998; Stephens et al., 1997; Chapter 6).

The correlation between elevated levels of circulating suPAR and cancer strongly suggests that the tumour tissue is the source of the excess suPAR present in the circulation. Evidence supporting this notion comes from nude mice xenografted with human tumours where the presence of the tumour causes appearance of human suPAR antigen in the blood and urine (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999; Chapter 6). The level of human suPAR in plasma from xenografted mice is strongly correlated with the tumour size and is therefore (at least in mice) a measure of tumour mass (Holst-Hansen et al., 1999). The fact that a large tumour size is associated with poor survival may thus partially explain the prognostic value of serum suPAR. Cleavage of uPAR has been suggested to occur preferentially at sites of high uPA activity and in particular at sites of tumour invasion (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1997b; Solberg et al., 1994). uPAR cleavage may therefore be an indicator of tumour invasiveness. Tumour invasiveness is intrinsically connected to metastasis, which is the major cause of death in cancer patients, and specific markers for tumour invasiveness are thus expected to be highly prognostic.

Even though the potential prognostic value of uPAR cleavage in cancer has been recognised for more than five years, no data have been presented to confirm or reject this hypothesis. Two lines of data presented in this thesis suggest that an evaluation of uPAR cleavage is both possible and feasible.

The first step in the analysis of uPAR cleavage is the development of a reasonably simple assay with the potential to provide a quantitative evaluation of uPAR cleavage in spite of the highly heterogeneous glycosylation of uPAR. In Chapter 5 I have presented an assay by which this type of analysis is possible. The assay is based on the immunoprecipitation of total uPAR antigen from the biological sample followed by enzymatic deglycosylation and sensitive western blotting analysis. Application of this assay on collections of tumour extracts from several different cancer types could reveal the value of uPAR cleavage as a prognostic marker in cancer.

The pattern of suPAR fragments in urine from nude mice carrying xenografted human tumours reflects uPAR cleavage on the tumour cells (Chapter 6) and a similar situation is likely to be true in humans. The identification of tumour-derived uPAR fragments in human urine is currently impossible, as the tumour-derived suPAR fragments cannot be distinguished from the suPAR fragments already present in normal urine. The pattern of suPAR fragments in urine from healthy individuals is rather regular and the altered pattern of suPAR fragments observed in urine from cancer patients (Chapter 6) may thus be a consequence of the presence of tumour-derived suPAR fragments. If uPAR cleavage in tumour-tissue is a strong prognostic marker, and if we are able to "read" the tumour-component of the urinary suPAR fragments, the analysis of urinary suPAR fragments could provide a completely novel approach to the prognosis of cancer patients.

Essentially all diseases that involve inflammatory responses or tissue damage, are expected to be associated with local upregulation of uPAR expression. HIV infection upregulates

uPAR expression in monocytes and lymphocytes (Nykjaer et al., 1994; Speth et al., 1998) and chronic progressive multiple sclerosis is associated with upregulation of uPAR expression in monocytes and vascular endothelial cells (Dore-Duffy et al., 1992; Graham et al., 1998; Washington et al., 1994). Data not presented in this thesis indeed demonstrate that the level of serum and urinary suPAR is elevated in HIV infected individuals, and that high levels are associated with a bad prognosis.

Taken together the available data suggest that many malignant conditions may be associated with elevated levels of serum and urinary suPAR. This fact obviously reduces a possible diagnostic value of suPAR, but does not necessarily affect the value of suPAR in prognosis. The real strength of suPAR measurements in disease is most likely in the monitoring of patients in therapy. Changes in suPAR levels during therapy may for example reflect the efficacy of chemotherapy in cancer patients, or the efficacy of anti-retroviral therapy in HIV patients.

### **References**

- Albrecht, J. C., Nicholas, J., Cameron, K. R., Newman, C., Fleckenstein, B., and Honess, R. W. (1992). Herpesvirus saimiri has a gene specifying a homologue of the cellular membrane glycoprotein CD59. Virology 190, 527-30.
- Andreasen, P. A., Nielsen, L. S., Grøndahl Hansen, J., Skriver, L., Zeuthen, J., Stephens, R. W., and Danø, K. (1984). Inactive proenzyme to tissue-type plasminogen activator from human melanoma cells, identified after affinity purification with a monoclonal antibody. EMBO J 3, 51-6.
- Andreasen, P. A., Nielsen, L. S., Kristensen, P., Grøndahl Hansen, J., Skriver, L., and Danø, K. (1986). Plasminogen activator inhibitor from human fibrosarcoma cells binds urokinase-type plasminogen activator, but not its proenzyme. J Biol Chem 261, 7644-51.
- Andreasen, P. A., Kjøller, L., Christensen, L., and Duffy, M. J. (1997). The urokinase-type plasminogen activator system in cancer metastasis: a review. Int J Cancer 72, 1-22.
- Appella, E., Robinson, E. A., Ullrich, S. J., Stoppelli, M. P., Corti, A., Cassani, G., and Blasi, F. (1987). The receptor-binding sequence of urokinase. A biological function for the growthfactor module of proteases. J Biol Chem 262, 4437-40.
- Åstedt, B., Lecander, I., Brodin, T., Lundblad, A., and Löw, K. (1985). Purification of a specific placental plasminogen activator inhibitor by monoclonal antibody and its complex formation with plasminogen activator. Thromb Haemost 53, 122-5.
- Baggiolini, M., Loetscher, P., and Moser, B. (1995). Interleukin-8 and the chemokine family. Int J Immunopharmacol 17, 103-8.
- Bajou, K., Noel, A., Gerard, R. D., Masson, V., Brünner, N., Holst Hansen, C., Skobe, M., Fusenig, N. E., Carmeliet, P., Collen, D., and Foidart, J. M. (1998). Absence of host plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 prevents cancer invasion and vascularization. Nat Med 4, 923-8.
- Bajpai, A., and Baker, J. B. (1985). Cryptic urokinase binding sites on human foreskin fibroblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 133, 475-82.
- Bazzoni, G., Carlesso, N., Griffin, J. D., and Hemler, M. E. (1996). Bcr/Abl expression stimulates integrin function in hematopoietic cell lines. J Clin Invest 98, 521-8.
- Behrendt, N., Rønne, E., Ploug, M., Petri, T., Løber, D., Nielsen, L. S., Schleuning, W. D., Blasi, F., Appella, E., and Danø, K. (1990). The human receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator. NH2-terminal amino acid sequence and glycosylation variants. J Biol Chem 265, 6453-60.
- Behrendt, N., Ploug, M., Patthy, L., Houen, G., Blasi, F., and Danø, K. (1991). The ligandbinding domain of the cell surface receptor for urokinase-type plasminogen activator. J Biol Chem 266, 7842-7.
- Behrendt, N., and Danø, K. (1996). Effect of purified, soluble urokinase receptor on the plasminogen- prourokinase activation system. FEBS Lett 393, 31-6.
- Behrendt, N., Rønne, E., and Danø, K. (1996). Domain interplay in the urokinase receptor. Requirement for the third domain in high affinity ligand binding and demonstration of ligand contact sites in distinct receptor domains. J Biol Chem 271, 22885-94.
- Behrendt, N., and Danø, K. (1997). Reply to comment on 'Effect of purified, soluble urokinase receptor on the plasminogen-prourokinase activation system' (A. A-R. Higazi) [comment]. FEBS Lett 402, 293-4.
- Bianchi, E., Ferrero, E., Fazioli, F., Mangili, F., Wang, J., Bender, J. R., Blasi, F., and Pardi, R. (1996). Integrin-dependent induction of functional urokinase receptors in primary T lymphocytes. J Clin Invest 98, 1133-41.

- Bizik, J., Lizonovo, A., Stephens, R. W., Grufov, M., and Vaheri, A. (1990). Plasminogen activation by t-PA on the surface of human melanoma cells in the presence of alpha 2-macroglobulin secretion. Cell Regul 1, 895-905.
- Blasi, F. (1997). uPA, uPAR, PAI-1: key intersection of proteolytic, adhesive and chemotactic highways? Immunol Today 18, 415-7.
- Bohuslav, J., Horejs, V., Hansmann, C., Stockl, J., Weidle, U. H., Majdic, O., Bartke, I., Knapp, W., and Stockinger, H. (1995). Urokinase plasminogen activator receptor, beta 2-integrins, and Src-kinases within a single receptor complex of human monocytes. J Exp Med 181, 1381-90.
- Boose, J. A., Kuismanen, E., Gerard, R., Sambrook, J., and Gething, M. J. (1989). The singlechain form of tissue-type plasminogen activator has catalytic activity: studies with a mutant enzyme that lacks the cleavage site. Biochemistry 28, 635-43.
- Børglum, A. D., Byskov, A., Ragno, P., Roldan, A. L., Tripputi, P., Cassani, G., Danø, K., Blasi, F., Bolund, L., and Kruse, T. A. (1992). Assignment of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor gene (PLAUR) to chromosome 19q13.1-q13.2. Am J Hum Genet 50, 492-7.
- Brakenhoff, R. H., Gerretsen, M., Knippels, E. M., van Dijk, M., van Essen, H., Weghuis, D. O., Sinke, R. J., Snow, G. B., and van Dongen, G. A. (1995). The human E48 antigen, highly homologous to the murine Ly-6 antigen ThB, is a GPI-anchored molecule apparently involved in keratinocyte cell-cell adhesion. J Cell Biol 129, 1677-89.
- Brown, P. D. (1999). Clinical studies with matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors. Aprils 107, 174-80.
- Brünner, N., Thompson, E. W., Spang-Thomsen, M., Rygaard, J., Danø, K., and Zwiebel, J. A. (1992). lacZ transduced human breast cancer xenografts as an in vivo model for the study of invasion and metastasis. Eur J Cancer 28A, 1989-95.
- Bugge, T. H., Flick, M. J., Daugherty, C. C., and Degen, J. L. (1995). Plasminogen deficiency causes severe thrombosis but is compatible with development and reproduction. Genes Dev 9, 794-807.
- Bugge, T. H., Kombrinck, K. W., Flick, M. J., Daugherty, C. C., Danton, M. J., and Degen, J. L. (1996). Loss of fibrinogen rescues mice from the pleiotropic effects of plasminogen deficiency. Cell 87, 709-19.
- Bugge, T. H., Kombrinck, K. W., Xiao, Q., Holmbäck, K., Daugherty, C. C., Witte, D. P., and Degen, J. L. (1997). Growth and dissemination of Lewis lung carcinoma in plasminogendeficient mice. Blood 90, 4522-31.
- Bugge, T. H., Lund, L. R., Kombrinck, K. K., Nielsen, B. S., Holmbäck, K., Drew, A. F., Flick, M. J., Witte, D. P., Danø, K., and Degen, J. L. (1998). Reduced metastasis of Polyoma virus middle T antigen-induced mammary cancer in plasminogen-deficient mice. Oncogene 16, 3097-104.
- Busso, N., Masur, S. K., Lazega, D., Waxman, S., and Ossowski, L. (1994). Induction of cell migration by pro-urokinase binding to its receptor: possible mechanism for signal transduction in human epithelial cells. J Cell Biol 126, 259-70.
- Cailleau, R., Young, R., Oliv, M., and Reeves, W. J., Jr. (1974). Breast tumor cell lines from pleural effusions. J Natl Cancer Inst 53, 661-74.
- Carmeliet, P., Kieckens, L., Schoonjans, L., Ream, B., van Nuffelen, A., Prendergast, G., Cole, M., Bronson, R., Collen, D., and Mulligan, R. C. (1993). Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 gene-deficient mice. I. Generation by homologous recombination and characterization. J Clin Invest 92, 2746-55.

- Carmeliet, P., Schoonjans, L., Kieckens, L., Ream, B., Degen, J., Bronson, R., De Vos, R., van den Oord, J. J., Collen, D., and Mulligan, R. C. (1994). Physiological consequences of loss of plasminogen activator gene function in mice. Nature 368, 419-24.
- Carmeliet, P., Bouchè, A., De Clercq, C., Janssen, S., Pollefeyt, S., Wyns, S., Mulligan, R. C., and Collen, D. (1995). Biological effects of disruption of the tissue-type plasminogen activator, urokinase-type plasminogen activator, and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 genes in mice. Ann N Y Acad Sci 748, 367-81; discussion 381-2.
- Carmeliet, P., Moons, L., Herbert, J. M., Crawley, J., Lupu, F., Lijnen, R., and Collen, D. (1997a). Urokinase but not tissue plasminogen activator mediates arterial neointima formation in mice. Circ Res 81, 829-39.
- Carmeliet, P., Moons, L., Lijnen, R., Baes, M., Lemaòtre, V., Tipping, P., Drew, A., Eeckhout, Y., Shapiro, S., Lupu, F., and Collen, D. (1997b). Urokinase-generated plasmin activates matrix metalloproteinases during aneurysm formation. Nat Genet 17, 439-44.
- Carmeliet, P., Moons, L., Lijnen, R., Janssens, S., Lupu, F., Collen, D., and Gerard, R. D. (1997c). Inhibitory role of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in arterial wound healing and neointima formation: a gene targeting and gene transfer study in mice [see comments]. Circulation 96, 3180-91.
- Carmeliet, P., Moons, L., Ploplis, V., Plow, E., and Collen, D. (1997d). Impaired arterial neointima formation in mice with disruption of the plasminogen gene. J Clin Invest 99, 200-8.
- Casslèn, B., Gustavsson, B., and Åstedt, B. (1991). Cell membrane receptors for urokinase plasminogen activator are increased in malignant ovarian tumours. Eur J Cancer 27, 1445-8.
- Casslèn, B., Bossmar, T., Lecander, I., and Åstedt, B. (1994). Plasminogen activators and plasminogen activator inhibitors in blood and tumour fluids of patients with ovarian cancer. Eur J Cancer 30A, 1302-9.
- Chambers, S. K., Ivins, C. M., and Carcangiu, M. L. (1998). Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 is an independent poor prognostic factor for survival in advanced stage epithelial ovarian cancer patients. Int J Cancer 79, 449-54.
- Chang, A. W., Kuo, A., Barnathan, E. S., and Okada, S. S. (1998). Urokinase receptor-dependent upregulation of smooth muscle cell adhesion to vitronectin by urokinase. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 18, 1855-60.
- Chavakis, T., Kanse, S. M., Yutzy, B., Lijnen, H. R., and Preissner, K. T. (1998). Vitronectin concentrates proteolytic activity on the cell surface and extracellular matrix by trapping soluble urokinase receptor-urokinase complexes. Blood 91, 2305-12.
- Chen, L. M., Song, Q., Chao, L., and Chao, J. (1995). Cellular localization of tissue kallikrein and kallistatin mRNAs in human kidney. Kidney Int 48, 690-7.
- Chiaradonna, F., Fontana, L., Iavarone, C., Carriero, M. V., Scholz, G., Barone, M. V., and Stopelli, M. P. (1999). Urokinase receptor-dependent and independent p56/59hck activation state is a molecular switch between myelomonocytic cell motility and adherence. EMBO J. 18, 3013-23.
- Claeys, H., and Vermylen, J. (1974). Physico-chemical and proenzyme properties of NH2terminal glutamic acid and NH2-terminal lysine human plasminogen. Influence of 6aminohexanoic acid. Biochim Biophys Acta 342, 351-9.
- Colman, R. W., Pixley, R. A., Najamunnisa, S., Yan, W., Wang, J., Mazar, A., and McCrae, K. R. (1997). Binding of high molecular weight kininogen to human endothelial cells is mediated via a site within domains 2 and 3 of the urokinase receptor. J Clin Invest 100, 1481-7.
- Conese, M., and Blasi, F. (1995). The urokinase/urokinase-receptor system and cancer invasion. Baillieres Clin Haematol 8, 365-89.

- Conforti, G., Dominguez-Jimenez, C., Rønne, E., Høyer-Hansen, G., and Dejana, E. (1994). Cell-surface plasminogen activation causes a retraction of in vitro cultured human umbilical vein endothelial cell monolayer. Blood 83, 994-1005.
- Crowley, C. W., Cohen, R. L., Lucas, B. K., Liu, G., Shuman, M. A., and Levinson, A. D. (1993). Prevention of metastasis by inhibition of the urokinase receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90, 5021-5.
- Cubellis, M. V., Andreasen, P., Ragno, P., Mayer, M., Danø, K., and Blasi, F. (1989). Accessibility of receptor-bound urokinase to type-1 plasminogen activator inhibitor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86, 4828-32.
- Cubellis, M. V., Wun, T. C., and Blasi, F. (1990). Receptor-mediated internalization and degradation of urokinase is caused by its specific inhibitor PAI-1. EMBO J 9, 1079-85.
- Danø, K., Andreasen, P. A., Grøndahl Hansen, J., Kristensen, P., Nielsen, L. S., and Skriver, L. (1985). Plasminogen activators, tissue degradation, and cancer. Adv Cancer Res 44, 139-266.
- Danø, K., Rømer, J., Nielsen, B. S., Bjørn, S., Pyke, C., Rygaard, J., and Lund, L. R. (1999). Cancer invasion and tissue remodeling--cooperation of protease systems and cell types. APMIS 107, 120-7.
- Declerck, P. J., De Mol, M., Alessi, M. C., Baudner, S., Paques, E. P., Preissner, K. T., Müller Berghaus, G., and Collen, D. (1988). Purification and characterization of a plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 binding protein from human plasma. Identification as a multimeric form of S protein (vitronectin). J Biol Chem 263, 15454-61.
- Degryse, B., Resnati, M., Rabbani, S. A., Villa, A., Fazioli, F., and Blasi, F. (1999). Src-Dependence and Pertussis-Toxin Sensitivity of Urokinase Receptor-Dependent Chemotaxis and Cytoskeleton Reorganization in Rat Smooth Muscle Cells. Blood 94, 1-15.
- Deng, G., Curriden, S. A., Wang, S., Rosenberg, S., and Loskutoff, D. J. (1996). Is plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 the molecular switch that governs urokinase receptor-mediated cell adhesion and release? J Cell Biol 134, 1563-71.
- Dewerchin, M., Nuffelen, A. V., Wallays, G., Bouch, A., Moons, L., Carmeliet, P., Mulligan, R. C., and Collen, D. (1996). Generation and characterization of urokinase receptor-deficient mice. J Clin Invest 97, 870-8.
- Dore-Duffy, P., Donovan, C., and Todd, R. F. d. (1992). Expression of monocyte activation antigen Mo3 on the surface of peripheral blood monocytes from patients with multiple sclerosis. Neurology 42, 1609-14.
- Dougherty, K. M., Pearson, J. M., Yang, A. Y., Westrick, R. J., Baker, M. S., and Ginsburg, D. (1999). The plasminogen activator inhibitor-2 gene is not required for normal murine development or survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 686-91.
- Dumler, I., Weis, A., Mayboroda, O. A., Maasch, C., Jerke, U., Haller, H., and Gulba, D. C. (1998). The Jak/Stat pathway and urokinase receptor signaling in human aortic vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem 273, 315-21.
- Ellis, V., Scully, M. F., and Kakkar, V. V. (1989). Plasminogen activation initiated by singlechain urokinase- type plasminogen activator. Potentiation by U937 monocytes. J Biol Chem 264, 2185-8.
- Ellis, V., Wun, T. C., Behrendt, N., Rønne, E., and Danø, K. (1990). Inhibition of receptorbound urokinase by plasminogen-activator inhibitors. J Biol Chem 265, 9904-8.
- Ellis, V., Behrendt, N., and Danø, K. (1991). Plasminogen activation by receptor-bound urokinase. A kinetic study with both cell-associated and isolated receptor. J Biol Chem 266, 12752-8.

- Ellis, V., and Danø, K. (1993). Potentiation of plasminogen activation by an anti-urokinase monoclonal antibody due to ternary complex formation. A mechanistic model for receptor-mediated plasminogen activation. J Biol Chem 268, 4806-13.
- Ellis, V. (1996). Functional analysis of the cellular receptor for urokinase in plasminogen activation. Receptor binding has no influence on the zymogenic nature of pro-urokinase. J Biol Chem 271, 14779-84.
- Estreicher, A., Wohlwend, A., Belin, D., Schleuning, W. D., and Vassalli, J. D. (1989). Characterization of the cellular binding site for the urokinase- type plasminogen activator. J Biol Chem 264, 1180-9.
- Estreicher, A., Mühlhauser, J., Carpentier, J. L., Orci, L., and Vassalli, J. D. (1990). The receptor for urokinase type plasminogen activator polarizes expression of the protease to the leading edge of migrating monocytes and promotes degradation of enzyme inhibitor complexes. J Cell Biol 111, 783-92.
- Farrehi, P. M., Ozaki, C. K., Carmeliet, P., and Fay, W. P. (1998). Regulation of arterial thrombolysis by plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in mice. Circulation 97, 1002-8.
- Fazioli, F., and Blasi, F. (1994). Urokinase-type plasminogen activator and its receptor: new targets for anti-metastatic therapy? Trends Pharmacol Sci 15, 25-9.
- Fazioli, F., Resnati, M., Sidenius, N., Higashimoto, Y., Appella, E., and Blasi, F. (1997). A urokinase-sensitive region of the human urokinase receptor is responsible for its chemotactic activity. EMBO J 16, 7279-86.
- Felez, J., Miles, L. A., Plescia, J., and Plow, E. F. (1990). Regulation of plasminogen receptor expression on human monocytes and monocytoid cell lines. J Cell Biol 111, 1673-83.
- Fibbi, G., Ziche, M., Morbidelli, L., Magnelli, L., and Del Rosso, M. (1988). Interaction of urokinase with specific receptors stimulates mobilization of bovine adrenal capillary endothelial cells [published erratum appears in Exp Cell Res 1990 Jan;186(1):196]. Exp Cell Res 179, 385-95.
- Fletcher, C. M., Harrison, R. A., Lachmann, P. J., and Neuhaus, D. (1994). Structure of a soluble, glycosylated form of the human complement regulatory protein CD59. Structure 2, 185-99.
- Ganesh, S., Sier, C. F., Heerding, M. M., van Krieken, J. H., Griffioen, G., Welvaart, K., van de Velde, C. J., Verheijen, J. H., Lamers, C. B., Verspaget, and Hw (1996). Prognostic value of the plasminogen activation system in patients with gastric carcinoma. Cancer 77, 1035-43.
- Giavazzi, R., Garofalo, A., Ferri, C., Lucchini, V., Bone, E. A., Chiari, S., Brown, P. D., Nicoletti, M. I., and Taraboletti, G. (1998). Batimastat, a synthetic inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases, potentiates the antitumor activity of cisplatin in ovarian carcinoma xenografts. Clin Cancer Res 4, 985-92.
- Golder, J. P., and Stephens, R. W. (1983). Minactivin: a human monocyte product which specifically inactivates urokinase-type plasminogen activators. Eur J Biochem 136, 517-22.
- Goodson, R. J., Doyle, M. V., Kaufman, S. E., and Rosenberg, S. (1994). High-affinity urokinase receptor antagonists identified with bacteriophage peptide display. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 91, 7129-33.
- Graham, C. H., Fitzpatrick, T. E., and McCrae, K. R. (1998). Hypoxia stimulates urokinase receptor expression through a heme protein-dependent pathway. Blood 91, 3300-7.
- Grøndahl-Hansen, J., Peters, H. A., van Putten, W. L., Look, M. P., Pappot, H., Rønne, E., Danø, K., Klijn, J. G., Brünner, N., and Foekens, J. A. (1995). Prognostic significance of the receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator in breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 1, 1079-87.

- Gudewicz, P. W., and Gilboa, N. (1987). Human urokinase-type plasminogen activator stimulates chemotaxis of human neutrophils. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 147, 1176-81.
- Gumley, T. P., McKenzie, I. F., Kozak, C. A., and Sandrin, M. S. (1992). Isolation and characterization of cDNA clones for the mouse thymocyte B cell antigen (ThB). J Immunol 149, 2615-8.
- Gyetko, M. R., Todd, R. F. r., Wilkinson, C. C., and Sitrin, R. G. (1994). The urokinase receptor is required for human monocyte chemotaxis in vitro. J Clin Invest 93, 1380-7.
- Gyetko, M. R., Chen, G. H., McDonald, R. A., Goodman, R., Huffnagle, G. B., Wilkinson, C. C., Fuller, J. A., and Toews, G. B. (1996). Urokinase is required for the pulmonary inflammatory response to Cryptococcus neoformans. A murine transgenic model. J Clin Invest 97, 1818-26.
- Gyetko, M. R., Libre, E. A., Fuller, J. A., Chen, G.-H., and Toews, G. B. (1999). Urokinase is required for T lymphocyte proliferation and activation in vitro. J Lab Clin Med 133, 274-88.
- Hajjar, K. A., Hamel, N. M., Harpel, P. C., and Nachman, R. L. (1987). Binding of tissue plasminogen activator to cultured human endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 80, 1712-9.
- Hall, S. W., Humphries, J. E., and Gonias, S. L. (1991). Inhibition of cell surface receptor-bound plasmin by alpha 2-antiplasmin and alpha 2-macroglobulin. J Biol Chem 266, 12329-36.
- Hansen, A. P., Petros, A. M., Meadows, R. P., Nettesheim, D. G., Mazar, A. P., Olejniczak, E. T., Xu, R. X., Pederson, T. M., Henkin, J., and Fesik, S. W. (1994). Solution structure of the amino-terminal fragment of urokinase- type plasminogen activator. Biochemistry 33, 4847-64.
- Heegaard, C. W., Simonsen, A. C., Oka, K., Kjøller, L., Christensen, A., Madsen, B., Ellgaard, L., Chan, L., and Andreasen, P. A. (1995). Very low density lipoprotein receptor binds and mediates endocytosis of urokinase-type plasminogen activator-type- 1 plasminogen activator inhibitor complex. J Biol Chem 270, 20855-61.
- Herbert, J. M., and Carmeliet, P. (1997). Involvement of u-PA in the anti-apoptotic activity of TGFbeta for vascular smooth muscle cells. FEBS Lett 413, 401-4.
- Herz, J., Clouthier, D. E., and Hammer, R. E. (1992). LDL receptor-related protein internalizes and degrades uPA-PAI-1 complexes and is essential for embryo implantation [published erratum appears in Cell 1993 May 7;73(3):428]. Cell 71, 411-21.
- Higazi, A., Cohen, R. L., Henkin, J., Kniss, D., Schwartz, B. S., and Cines, D. B. (1995). Enhancement of the enzymatic activity of single-chain urokinase plasminogen activator by soluble urokinase receptor. J Biol Chem 270, 17375-80.
- Higazi, A. A. (1997). Commentary on: 'Effect of purified soluble urokinase receptor on the plasminogen prourokinase activation system' by N. Behrendt and K. Danø, FEBS Letters, 393 (1996) 31-36 [see comments]. FEBS Lett 402, 291-2.
- Higazi, A. A., Bdeir, K., Hiss, E., Arad, S., Kuo, A., Barghouti, I., and Cines, D. B. (1998). Lysis of plasma clots by urokinase-soluble urokinase receptor complexes. Blood 92, 2075-83.
- Holst-Hansen, C., Hamers, M. J., Johannessen, B. E., Brünner, N., and Stephens, R. W. (1999). Soluble urokinase receptor released from human carcinoma cells: a plasma parameter for xenograft tumour studies. Br J Cancer 81, 203-11.
- Holton, T. A., and Graham, M. W. (1991). A simple and efficient method for direct cloning of PCR products using ddT-tailed vectors. Nucleic Acids Res 19, 1156.
- Holvoet, P., Cleemput, H., and Collen, D. (1985). Assay of human tissue-type plasminogen activator (t-PA) with an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) based on three murine monoclonal antibodies to t-PA. Thromb Haemost 54, 684-7.

- Høyer-Hansen, G., Rønne, E., Solberg, H., Behrendt, N., Ploug, M., Lund, L. R., Ellis, V., and Danø, K. (1992). Urokinase plasminogen activator cleaves its cell surface receptor releasing the ligand-binding domain. J Biol Chem 267, 18224-9.
- Høyer-Hansen, G., Behrendt, N., Ploug, M., Danø, K., and Preissner, K. T. (1997a). The intact urokinase receptor is required for efficient vitronectin binding: receptor cleavage prevents ligand interaction. FEBS Lett 420, 79-85.
- Høyer-Hansen, G., Ploug, M., Behrendt, N., Rønne, E., and Danø, K. (1997b). Cell-surface acceleration of urokinase-catalyzed receptor cleavage. Eur J Biochem 243, 21-6.
- Hoylaerts, M., Rijken, D. C., Lijnen, H. R., and Collen, D. (1982). Kinetics of the activation of plasminogen by human tissue plasminogen activator. Role of fibrin. J Biol Chem 257, 2912-9.
- Huang, Y. Y., Bach, M. E., Lipp, H. P., Zhuo, M., Wolfer, D. P., Hawkins, R. D., Schoonjans, L., Kandel, E. R., Godfraind, J. M., Mulligan, R., Collen, D., and Carmeliet, P. (1996). Mice lacking the gene encoding tissue-type plasminogen activator show a selective interference with late-phase long-term potentiation in both Schaffer collateral and mossy fiber pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93, 8699-704.
- Jensen, P. H., Christensen, E. I., Ebbesen, P., Gliemann, J., and Andreasen, P. A. (1990). Lysosomal degradation of receptor-bound urokinase-type plasminogen activator is enhanced by its inhibitors in human trophoblastic choriocarcinoma cells. Cell Regul 1, 1043-56.
- Kanse, S. M., Kost, C., Wilhelm, O. G., Andreasen, P. A., and Preissner, K. T. (1996). The urokinase receptor is a major vitronectin-binding protein on endothelial cells. Exp Cell Res 224, 344-53.
- Kieffer, B., Driscoll, P. C., Campbell, I. D., Willis, A. C., van der Merwe, P. A., and Davis, S. J. (1994). Three-dimensional solution structure of the extracellular region of the complement regulatory protein CD59, a new cell-surface protein domain related to snake venom neurotoxins. Biochemistry 33, 4471-82.
- Kindzelskii, A. L., Laska, Z. O., Todd, R. F. r., and Petty, H. R. (1996). Urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor reversibly dissociates from complement receptor type 3 (alpha M beta 2' CD11b/CD18) during neutrophil polarization. J Immunol 156, 297-309.
- Kindzelskii, A. L., Eszes, M. M., Todd, R. F. r., and Petty, H. R. (1997). Proximity oscillations of complement type 4 (alphaX beta2) and urokinase receptors on migrating neutrophils. Biophys J 73, 1777-84.
- Kjøller, L., Kanse, S. M., Kirkegaard, T., Rodenburg, K. W., Rønne, E., Goodman, S. L., Preissner, K. T., Ossowski, L., and Andreasen, P. A. (1997). Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 represses integrin- and vitronectin-mediated cell migration independently of its function as an inhibitor of plasminogen activation. Exp Cell Res 232, 420-9.
- Knudsen, B. S., and Nachman, R. L. (1988). Matrix plasminogen activator inhibitor. Modulation of the extracellular proteolytic environment. J Biol Chem 263, 9476-81.
- Kobayashi, H., Gotoh, J., Fujie, M., Shinohara, H., Moniwa, N., and Terao, T. (1994). Inhibition of metastasis of Lewis lung carcinoma by a synthetic peptide within growth factor-like domain of urokinase in the experimental and spontaneous metastasis model. Int J Cancer 57, 727-33.
- Krätzschmar, J., Haendler, B., Kojima, S., Rifkin, D. B., and Schleuning, W. D. (1993). Bovine urokinase-type plasminogen activator and its receptor: cloning and induction by retinoic acid. Gene 125, 177-83.
- Kristensen, P., Eriksen, J., Blasi, F., and Dan, K. (1991). Two alternatively spliced mouse urokinase receptor mRNAs with different histological localization in the gastrointestinal tract. J Cell Biol 115, 1763-71.

- Kuhn, W., Pache, L., Schmalfeldt, B., Dettmar, P., Schmitt, M., Jänicke, F., and Graeff, H. (1994). Urokinase (uPA) and PAI-1 predict survival in advanced ovarian cancer patients (FIGO III) after radical surgery and platinum-based chemotherapy. Gynecol Oncol 55, 401-9.
- Lau, H. K., and Kim, M. (1994). Soluble urokinase receptor from fibrosarcoma HT-1080 cells. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis 5, 473-8.
- Leung, K. C., Byatt, J. A., and Stephens, R. W. (1987). The resistance of fibrin-stimulated tissue plasminogen activator to inactivation by a class PAI-2 inhibitor (minactivin). Thromb Res 46, 755-66.
- Levin, E. G. (1986). Quantitation and properties of the active and latent plasminogen activator inhibitors in cultures of human endothelial cells. Blood 67, 1309-13.
- Li, S., Couet, J., and Lisanti, M. P. (1996). Src tyrosine kinases, Galpha subunits, and H-Ras share a common membrane-anchored scaffolding protein, caveolin. Caveolin binding negatively regulates the auto-activation of Src tyrosine kinases. J Biol Chem 271, 29182-90.
- Lijnen, H. R., and Collen, D. (1982). Interaction of plasminogen activators and inhibitors with plasminogen and fibrin. Semin Thromb Hemost 8, 2-10.
- Lijnen, H. R., Van Hoef, B., Lupu, F., Moons, L., Carmeliet, P., and Collen, D. (1998). Function of the plasminogen/plasmin and matrix metalloproteinase systems after vascular injury in mice with targeted inactivation of fibrinolytic system genes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 18, 1035-45.
- Limongi, P., Resnati, M., Hernandez-Marrero, L., Cremona, O., Blasi, F., and Fazioli, F. (1995). Biosynthesis and apical localization of the urokinase receptor in polarized MDCK epithelial cells. FEBS Lett 369, 207-11.
- List, K., Høyer Hansen, G., Rønne, E., Danø, K., and Behrendt, N. (1999). Different mechanisms are involved in the antibody mediated inhibition of ligand binding to the urokinase receptor: a study based on biosensor technology. J Immunol Methods 222, 125-33.
- Low, M. G., and Huang, K. S. (1991). Factors affecting the ability of glycosylphosphatidylinositol- specific phospholipase D to degrade the membrane anchors of cell surface proteins. Biochem J 279, 483-93.
- Lund, L. R., Rønne, E., Roldan, A. L., Behrendt, N., Rømer, J., Blasi, F., and Danø, K. (1991). Urokinase receptor mRNA level and gene transcription are strongly and rapidly increased by phorbol myristate acetate in human monocyte-like U937 cells. J Biol Chem 266, 5177-81.
- Lund, L. R., Ellis, V., Rønne, E., Pyke, C., and Danø, K. (1995). Transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation of the receptor for urokinase-type plasminogen activator by cytokines and tumour promoters in the human lung carcinoma cell line A549. Biochem J 310, 345-52.
- Madani, R., Hulo, S., Toni, N., Madani, H., Steimer, T., Muller, D., and Vassalli, J.-D. (1999). Enhanced hippocampal long-term potentiation and learning by increased neuronal expression of tissue-type plasminogen activator in transgenic mice. EMBO J 18, 3007-12.
- Magdolen, V., Rettenberger, P., Koppitz, M., Goretzki, L., Kessler, H., Weidle, U. H., König, B., Graeff, H., Schmitt, M., and Wilhelm, O. (1996). Systematic mutational analysis of the receptor-binding region of the human urokinase-type plasminogen activator. Eur J Biochem 237, 743-51.
- Massazza, G., Tomasoni, A., Lucchini, V., Allavena, P., Erba, E., Colombo, N., Mantovani, A., D'Incalci, M., Mangioni, C., and Giavazzi, R. (1989). Intraperitoneal and subcutaneous xenografts of human ovarian carcinoma in nude mice and their potential in experimental therapy. Int J Cancer 44, 494-500.
- Masucci, M. T., Pedersen, N., and Blasi, F. (1991). A soluble, ligand binding mutant of the human urokinase plasminogen activator receptor. J Biol Chem 266, 8655-8.

- May, A. E., Kanse, S. M., Lund, L. R., Gisler, R. H., Imhof, B. A., and Preissner, K. T. (1998). Urokinase receptor (CD87) regulates leukocyte recruitment via beta 2 integrins in vivo. J Exp Med 188, 1029-37.
- McDonnell, S., Navre, M., Coffey, R. J., Jr., and Matrisian, L. M. (1991). Expression and localization of the matrix metalloproteinase pump-1 (MMP-7) in human gastric and colon carcinomas. Mol Carcinog 4, 527-33.
- Metz, C. N., Brunner, G., Choi Muira, N. H., Nguyen, H., Gabrilove, J., Caras, I. W., Altszuler, N., Rifkin, D. B., Wilson, E. L., and Davitz, M. A. (1994). Release of GPI-anchored membrane proteins by a cell-associated GPI-specific phospholipase D. EMBO J 13, 1741-51.
- Mignatti, P., Robbins, E., and Rifkin, D. B. (1986). Tumor invasion through the human amniotic membrane: requirement for a proteinase cascade. Cell 47, 487-98.
- Min, H. Y., Doyle, L. V., Vitt, C. R., Zandonella, C. L., Stratton-Thomas, J. R., Shuman, M. A., and Rosenberg, S. (1996). Urokinase receptor antagonists inhibit angiogenesis and primary tumor growth in syngeneic mice. Cancer Res 56, 2428-33.
- Mischak, H., Pierce, J. H., Goodnight, J., Kazanietz, M. G., Blumberg, P. M., and Mushinski, J. F. (1993). Phorbol ester-induced myeloid differentiation is mediated by protein kinase C-alpha and -delta and not by protein kinase C-beta II, -epsilon, -zeta, and -eta. J Biol Chem 268, 20110-5.
- Misumi, Y., Miki, K., Takatsuki, A., Tamura, G., and Ikehara, Y. (1986). Novel blockade by brefeldin A of intracellular transport of secretory proteins in cultured rat hepatocytes. J Biol Chem 261, 11398-403.
- Mizukami, I. F., and Todd, R. F. r. (1998). A soluble form of the urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (suPAR) can bind to hematopoietic cells. J Leukoc Biol 64, 203-13.
- Moestrup, S. K., Holtet, T. L., Etzerodt, M., Thøgersen, H. C., Nykjaer, A., Andreasen, P. A., Rasmussen, H. H., Sottrup Jensen, L., and Gliemann, J. (1993). Alpha 2-macroglobulinproteinase complexes, plasminogen activator inhibitor type-1-plasminogen activator complexes, and receptor-associated protein bind to a region of the alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor containing a cluster of eight complement-type repeats. J Biol Chem 268, 13691-6.
- Møller, L. B., Ploug, M., and Blasi, F. (1992). Structural requirements for glycosylphosphatidylinositol- anchor attachment in the cellular receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator. Eur J Biochem 208, 493-500.
- Møller, L. B., Pöllänen, J., Rønne, E., Pedersen, N., and Blasi, F. (1993). N-linked glycosylation of the ligand-binding domain of the human urokinase receptor contributes to the affinity for its ligand. J Biol Chem 268, 11152-9.
- Moser, T. L., Enghild, J. J., Pizzo, S. V., and Stack, M. S. (1995). Specific binding of urinarytype plasminogen activator (u-PA) to vitronectin and its role in mediating u-PA-dependent adhesion of U937 cells. Biochem J 307, 867-73.
- Murphy, G., Atkinson, S., Ward, R., Gavrilovic, J., and Reynolds, J. J. (1992). The role of plasminogen activators in the regulation of connective tissue metalloproteinases. Ann N Y Acad Sci 667, 1-12.
- Murphy, G., Stanton, H., Cowell, S., Butler, G., Knäuper, V., Atkinson, S., and Gavrilovic, J. (1999). Mechanisms for pro matrix metalloproteinase activation. APMIS 107, 38-44.
- Mustjoki, S., Alitalo, R., Stephens, R. W., and Vaheri, A. (1999). Blast cell-surface and plasma soluble urokinase receptor in acute leukemia patients: relationship to classification and response to therapy. Thromb Haemost 81, 705-10.
- Naldini, L., Vigna, E., Bardelli, A., Follenzi, A., Galimi, F., and Comoglio, P. M. (1995). Biological activation of pro-HGF (hepatocyte growth factor) by urokinase is controlled by a stoichiometric reaction. J Biol Chem 270, 603-11.

- Neer, E. J. (1995). Heterotrimeric G proteins: organizers of transmembrane signals. Cell 80, 249-57.
- Nguyen, D. H., Hussaini, I. M., and Gonias, S. L. (1998). Binding of urokinase-type plasminogen activator to its receptor in MCF-7 cells activates extracellular signal- regulated kinase 1 and 2 which is required for increased cellular motility. J Biol Chem 273, 8502-7.
- Nielsen, H. J., Pappot, H., Christensen, I. J., Brünner, N., Thorlacius Ussing, O., Moesgaard, F., Danø, K., and Grøndahl Hansen, J. (1998). Association between plasma concentrations of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 and survival in patients with colorectal cancer [see comments]. Bmj 316, 829-30.
- Niiya, K., Ozawa, T., Tsuzawa, T., Ueshima, S., Matsuo, O., and Sakuragawa, N. (1998). Transcriptional regulation of urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor by cyclic AMP in PL-21 human myeloid leukemia cells: comparison with the regulation by phorbol myristate acetate. Thromb Haemost 79, 574-8.
- Ninomiya, H., Hasegawa, Y., Nagasawa, T., and Abe, T. (1997). Excess soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor in the plasma of patients with paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria inhibits cell-associated fibrinolytic activity. Int J Hematol 65, 285-91.
- Nobuhisa, I., Inamasu, S., Nakai, M., Tatsui, A., Mimori, T., Ogawa, T., Shimohigashi, Y., Fukumaki, Y., Hattori, S., Kihara, H., and Ohno, M. (1997). Characterization and evolution of a gene encoding a Trimeresurus flavoviridis serum protein that inhibits basic phospholipase A2 isozymes in the snake's venom. Eur J Biochem 249, 838-45.
- Nunes, I., Shapiro, R. L., and Rifkin, D. B. (1995). Characterization of latent TGF-beta activation by murine peritoneal macrophages. J Immunol 155, 1450-9.
- Nusrat, A. R., and Chapman, H. A., Jr. (1991). An autocrine role for urokinase in phorbol estermediated differentiation of myeloid cell lines. J Clin Invest 87, 1091-7.
- Ny, T., Sawdey, M., Lawrence, D., Millan, J. L., and Loskutoff, D. J. (1986). Cloning and sequence of a cDNA coding for the human beta- migrating endothelial-cell-type plasminogen activator inhibitor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 83, 6776-80.
- Nykjaer, A., Petersen, C. M., Møller, B., Jensen, P. H., Moestrup, S. K., Holtet, T. L., Etzerodt, M., Thøgersen, H. C., Munch, M., Andreasen, P. A., et, and al (1992). Purified alpha 2macroglobulin receptor/LDL receptor-related protein binds urokinase.plasminogen activator inhibitor type-1 complex. Evidence that the alpha 2-macroglobulin receptor mediates cellular degradation of urokinase receptor- bound complexes. J Biol Chem 267, 14543-6.
- Nykjaer, A., Møller, B., Todd, R. F., Christensen, T., Andreasen, P. A., Gliemann, J., and Petersen, C. M. (1994). Urokinase receptor. An activation antigen in human T lymphocytes. J Immunol 152, 505-16.
- Nykjaer, A., Conese, M., Christensen, E. I., Olson, D., Cremona, O., Gliemann, J., and Blasi, F. (1997). Recycling of the urokinase receptor upon internalization of the uPA:serpin complexes. EMBO J 16, 2610-20.
- O'Reilly, M. S., Holmgren, L., Shing, Y., Chen, C., Rosenthal, R. A., Moses, M., Lane, W. S., Cao, Y., Sage, E. H., and Folkman, J. (1994). Angiostatin: a novel angiogenesis inhibitor that mediates the suppression of metastases by a Lewis lung carcinoma [see comments]. Cell 79, 315-28.
- Odekon, L. E., Sato, Y., and Rifkin, D. B. (1992). Urokinase-type plasminogen activator mediates basic fibroblast growth factor-induced bovine endothelial cell migration independent of its proteolytic activity. J Cell Physiol 150, 258-63.
- Okada, A., Bellocq, J. P., Rouyer, N., Chenard, M. P., Rio, M. C., Chambon, P., and Basset, P. (1995). Membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase (MT-MMP) gene is expressed in stromal

cells of human colon, breast, and head and neck carcinomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92, 2730-4.

- Palfree, R. G. (1991). The urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor is a member of the Ly-6 superfamily. Immunology Today 12, 170.
- Pallisgaard, N., Pedersen, F. S., Birkelund, S., and Járgensen, P. (1994). A common multiple cloning site in a set of vectors for expression of eukaryotic genes in mammalian, insect and bacterial cells. Gene 138, 115-8.
- Pannekoek, H., Veerman, H., Lambers, H., Diergaarde, P., Verweij, C. L., van Zonneveld, A. J., and van Mourik, J. A. (1986). Endothelial plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI): a new member of the Serpin gene family. EMBO J 5, 2539-44.
- Pannell, R., and Gurewich, V. (1986). Pro-urokinase: a study of its stability in plasma and of a mechanism for its selective fibrinolytic effect. Blood 67, 1215-23.
- Pedersen, H., Brünner, N., Francis, D., Østerlind, K., Rønne, E., Hansen, H. H., Danø, K., and Grøndahl-Hansen, J. (1994). Prognostic impact of urokinase, urokinase receptor, and type 1 plasminogen activator inhibitor in squamous and large cell lung cancer tissue. Cancer Res 54, 4671-5.
- Pedersen, N., Schmitt, M., Rønne, E., Nicoletti, M. I., Høyer-Hansen, G., Conese, M., Giavazzi, R., Danø, K., Kuhn, W., Jänicke, F., and Blasi, F. (1993). A ligand-free, soluble urokinase receptor is present in the ascitic fluid from patients with ovarian cancer. J Clin Invest 92, 2160-7.
- Pedersen, T. L., Yong, K., Pedersen, J. O., Hansen, N. E., Danø, K., and Plesner, T. (1996). Impaired migration in vitro of neutrophils from patients with paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria. Br J Haematol 95, 45-51.
- Petty, H. R., Kindzelskii, A. L., Adachi, Y., and Todd, R. F. r. (1997). Ectodomain interactions of leukocyte integrins and pro- inflammatory GPI-linked membrane proteins. J Pharm Biomed Anal 15, 1405-16.
- Picone, R., Kajtaniak, E. L., Nielsen, L. S., Behrendt, N., Mastronicola, M. R., Cubellis, M. V., Stoppelli, M. P., Pedersen, S., Danø, K., and Blasi, F. (1989). Regulation of urokinase receptors in monocytelike U937 cells by phorbol ester phorbol myristate acetate. J Cell Biol 108, 693-702.
- Pizza, M., Covacci, A., Bartoloni, A., Perugini, M., Nencioni, L., De Magistris, M. T., Villa, L., Nucci, D., Manetti, R., Bugnoli, M., and et al. (1989). Mutants of pertussis toxin suitable for vaccine development. Science 246, 497-500.
- Plesner, T., Ploug, M., Ellis, V., Rønne, E., Høyer-Hansen, G., Wittrup, M., Pedersen, T. L., Tscherning, T., Danø, K., and Hansen, N. E. (1994). The receptor for urokinase-type plasminogen activator and urokinase is translocated from two distinct intracellular compartments to the plasma membrane on stimulation of human neutrophils. Blood 83, 808-15.
- Plesner, T., Behrendt, N., and Ploug, M. (1997). Structure, function and expression on blood and bone marrow cells of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor, uPAR. Stem Cells 15, 398-408.
- Ploplis, V. A., French, E. L., Carmeliet, P., Collen, D., and Plow, E. F. (1998). Plasminogen deficiency differentially affects recruitment of inflammatory cell populations in mice. Blood 91, 2005-9.

- Ploug, M., Rønne, E., Behrendt, N., Jensen, A. L., Blasi, F., and Danø, K. (1991). Cellular receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator. Carboxyl-terminal processing and membrane anchoring by glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol. J Biol Chem 266, 1926-33.
- Ploug, M., Eriksen, J., Plesner, T., Hansen, N. E., and Danø, K. (1992a). A soluble form of the glycolipid-anchored receptor for urokinase-type plasminogen activator is secreted from peripheral blood leukocytes from patients with paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria. Eur J Biochem 208, 397-404.
- Ploug, M., Plesner, T., Rønne, E., Ellis, V., Høyer-Hansen, G., Hansen, N. E., and Danø, K. (1992b). The receptor for urokinase-type plasminogen activator is deficient on peripheral blood leukocytes in patients with paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria. Blood 79, 1447-55.
- Ploug, M., Kjalke, M., Rønne, E., Weidle, U., Høyer-Hansen, G., and Danø, K. (1993). Localization of the disulfide bonds in the NH2-terminal domain of the cellular receptor for human urokinase-type plasminogen activator. A domain structure belonging to a novel superfamily of glycolipid-anchored membrane proteins. J Biol Chem 268, 17539-46.
- Ploug, M., and Ellis, V. (1994). Structure-function relationships in the receptor for urokinasetype plasminogen activator. Comparison to other members of the Ly-6 family and snake venom alpha-neurotoxins. FEBS Lett 349, 163-8.
- Ploug, M., Ellis, V., and Danø, K. (1994). Ligand interaction between urokinase-type plasminogen activator and its receptor probed with 8-anilino-1-naphthalenesulfonate. Evidence for a hydrophobic binding site exposed only on the intact receptor. Biochemistry 33, 8991-7.
- Ploug, M., Rahbek-Nielsen, H., Ellis, V., Roepstorff, P., and Danø, K. (1995). Chemical modification of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator and its receptor using tetranitromethane. Evidence for the involvement of specific tyrosine residues in both molecules during receptor-ligand interaction. Biochemistry 34, 12524-34.
- Ploug, M. (1998a). Identification of specific sites involved in ligand binding by photoaffinity labeling of the receptor for the urokinase- type plasminogen activator. Residues located at equivalent positions in uPAR domains I and III participate in the assembly of a composite ligand-binding site. Biochemistry 37, 16494-505.
- Ploug, M., Østergaard, S., Hansen, L. B., Holm, A., and Danø, K. (1998b). Photoaffinity labeling of the human receptor for urokinase- type plasminogen activator using a decapeptide antagonist. Evidence for a composite ligand-binding site and a short interdomain separation. Biochemistry 37, 3612-22.
- Ploug, M., Rahbek Nielsen, H., Nielsen, P. F., Roepstorff, P., and Danø, K. (1998c). Glycosylation profile of a recombinant urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor expressed in Chinese hamster ovary cells. J Biol Chem 273, 13933-43.
- Pöllänen, J., Hedman, K., Nielsen, L. S., Danø, K., and Vaheri, A. (1988). Ultrastructural localization of plasma membrane-associated urokinase-type plasminogen activator at focal contacts. J Cell Biol 106, 87-95.
- Pöllänen, J., Saksela, O., Salonen, E. M., Andreasen, P., Nielsen, L., Danø, K., and Vaheri, A. (1987). Distinct localizations of urokinase-type plasminogen activator and its type 1 inhibitor under cultured human fibroblasts and sarcoma cells. J Cell Biol 104, 1085-96.
- Pöllänen, J., Stephens, R. W., and Vaheri, A. (1991). Directed plasminogen activation at the surface of normal and malignant cells. Adv Cancer Res 57, 273-328.
- Pöllänen, J., Vaheri, A., Tapiovaara, H., Riley, E., Bertram, K., Woodrow, G., and Stephens, R.
  W. (1990). Prourokinase activation on the surface of human rhabdomyosarcoma cells: localization and inactivation of newly formed urokinase- type plasminogen activator by recombinant class 2 plasminogen activator inhibitor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, 2230-4.

- Preissner, K. T. (1989). The role of vitronectin as multifunctional regulator in the hemostatic and immune systems. Blut 59, 419-31.
- Preissner, K. T. (1990). Specific binding of plasminogen to vitronectin. Evidence for a modulatory role of vitronectin on fibrin(ogen)-induced plasmin formation by tissue plasminogen activator. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 168, 966-71.
- Pyke, C., Kristensen, P., Ralfkiaer, E., Grøndahl-Hansen, J., Eriksen, J., Blasi, F., and Danø, K. (1991). Urokinase-type plasminogen activator is expressed in stromal cells and its receptor in cancer cells at invasive foci in human colon adenocarcinomas. Am J Pathol 138, 1059-67.
- Pyke, C., Ralfkiaer, E., Rønne, E., Høyer-Hansen, G., Kirkeby, L., and Danø, K. (1994). Immunohistochemical detection of the receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator in human colon cancer. Histopathology 24, 131-8.
- Pyke, C., Ralfkiaer, E., Tryggvason, K., and Daná, K. (1993). Messenger RNA for two type IV collagenases is located in stromal cells in human colon cancer. Am J Pathol 142, 359-65.
- Pyke, C., Salo, S., Ralfkiaer, E., Rømer, J., Danø, K., and Tryggvason, K. (1995). Laminin-5 is a marker of invading cancer cells in some human carcinomas and is coexpressed with the receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator in budding cancer cells in colon adenocarcinomas. Cancer Res 55, 4132-9.
- Pytel, B. A., Peppel, K., and Baglioni, C. (1990). Plasminogen activator inhibitor type-2 is a major protein induced in human fibroblasts and SK-MEL-109 melanoma cells by tumor necrosis factor. J Cell Physiol 144, 416-22.
- Rabbani, S. A., Gladu, J., Mazar, A. P., Henkin, J., and Goltzman, D. (1997). Induction in human osteoblastic cells (SaOS2) of the early response genes fos, jun, and myc by the amino terminal fragment (ATF) of urokinase. J Cell Physiol 172, 137-45.
- Rabbani, S. A., Mazar, A. P., Bernier, S. M., Haq, M., Bolivar, I., Henkin, J., and Goltzman, D. (1992). Structural requirements for the growth factor activity of the amino-terminal domain of urokinase. J Biol Chem 267, 14151-6.
- Rabbani, S. A., Rajwans, N., Achbarou, A., Murthy, K. K., and Goltzman, D. (1994). Isolation and characterization of multiple isoforms of the rat urokinase receptor in osteoblasts. FEBS Lett 338, 69-74.
- Ragno, P., Montuori, N., Covelli, B., Høyer-Hansen, G., and Rossi, G. (1998). Differential expression of a truncated form of the urokinase- type plasminogen-activator receptor in normal and tumor thyroid cells. Cancer Res 58, 1315-9.
- Resnati, M., Guttinger, M., Valcamonica, S., Sidenius, N., Blasi, F., and Fazioli, F. (1996). Proteolytic cleavage of the urokinase receptor substitutes for the agonist-induced chemotactic effect. EMBO J 15, 1572-82.
- Reuning, U., Little, S. P., Dixon, E. P., Johnstone, E. M., and Bang, N. U. (1993). Molecular cloning of cDNA for the bovine urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor. Thromb Res 72, 59-70.
- Rifkin, D. B., Mazzieri, R., Munger, J. S., Noguera, I., and Sung, J. (1999). Proteolytic control of growth factor availability. APMIS 107, 80-5.
- Roldan, A. L., Cubellis, M. V., Masucci, M. T., Behrendt, N., Lund, L. R., Danø, K., Appella, E., and Blasi, F. (1990). Cloning and expression of the receptor for human urokinase plasminogen activator, a central molecule in cell surface, plasmin dependent proteolysis [published erratum appears in EMBO J 1990 May;9(5):1674]. EMBO J 9, 467-74.
- Rømer, J., Lund, L. R., Eriksen, J., Pyke, C., Kristensen, P., and Danø, K. (1994a). The receptor for urokinase-type plasminogen activator is expressed by keratinocytes at the leading edge during re- epithelialization of mouse skin wounds. J Invest Dermatol 102, 519-22.

- Rømer, J., Pyke, C., Lund, L. R., Eriksen, J., Kristensen, P., Rønne, E., Høyer-Hansen, G., Danø, K., and Brünner, N. (1994b). Expression of uPA and its receptor by both neoplastic and stromal cells during xenograft invasion. Int J Cancer 57, 553-60.
- Rømer, J., Bugge, T. H., Pyke, C., Lund, L. R., Flick, M. J., Degen, J. L., and Danø, K. (1996a). Impaired wound healing in mice with a disrupted plasminogen gene [see comments]. Nat Med 2, 287-92.
- Rømer, J., Bugge, T. H., Pyke, C., Lund, L. R., Flick, M. J., Degen, J. L., and Danø, K. (1996b). Plasminogen and wound healing [letter; comment]. Nat Med 2, 725.
- Rønne, E., Behrendt, N., Ellis, V., Ploug, M., Danø, K., and Høyer-Hansen, G. (1991). Cellinduced potentiation of the plasminogen activation system is abolished by a monoclonal antibody that recognizes the NH2-terminal domain of the urokinase receptor. FEBS Lett 288, 233-6.
- Rønne, E., Behrendt, N., Ploug, M., Nielsen, H. J., Wöllisch, E., Weidle, U., Danø, K., and Høyer Hansen, G. (1994). Quantitation of the receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. J Immunol Methods 167, 91-101.
- Rønne, E., Pappot, H., Grøndahl-Hansen, J., Høyer-Hansen, G., Plesner, T., Hansen, N. E., and Danø, K. (1995). The receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator is present in plasma from healthy donors and elevated in patients with paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria. Br J Haematol 89, 576-81.
- Salonen, E. M., Zitting, A., and Vaheri, A. (1984). Laminin interacts with plasminogen and its tissue-type activator. FEBS Lett 172, 29-32.
- Salonen, E. M., Saksela, O., Vartio, T., Vaheri, A., Nielsen, L. S., and Zeuthen, J. (1985). Plasminogen and tissue-type plasminogen activator bind to immobilized fibronectin. J Biol Chem 260, 12302-7.
- Salonen, E. M., Vaheri, A., Pöllänen, J., Stephens, R., Andreasen, P., Mayer, M., Danø, K., Gailit, J., and Ruoslahti, E. (1989). Interaction of plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI-1) with vitronectin. J Biol Chem 264, 6339-43.
- Sambrok, J., Fritsch, E. F., and Maniatis, T. (1989). Molecular Cloning. A laboratory manual, Second Edition: Cold Spring Harbor press).
- Sato, Y., and Rifkin, D. B. (1988). Autocrine activities of basic fibroblast growth factor: regulation of endothelial cell movement, plasminogen activator synthesis, and DNA synthesis. J Cell Biol 107, 1199-205.
- Sato, Y., Tsuboi, R., Lyons, R., Moses, H., and Rifkin, D. B. (1990). Characterization of the activation of latent TGF-beta by co-cultures of endothelial cells and pericytes or smooth muscle cells: a self-regulating system. J Cell Biol 111, 757-63.
- Schmalfeldt, B., Kuhn, W., Reuning, U., Pache, L., Dettmar, P., Schmitt, M., Jänicke, F., Höfler, H., and Graeff, H. (1995). Primary tumor and metastasis in ovarian cancer differ in their content of urokinase-type plasminogen activator, its receptor, and inhibitors types 1 and 2. Cancer Res 55, 3958-63.
- Schmitt, M., Harbeck, N., Thomssen, C., Wilhelm, O., Magdolen, V., Reuning, U., Ulm, K., Höfler, H., Jänicke, F., and Graeff, H. (1997). Clinical impact of the plasminogen activation system in tumor invasion and metastasis: prognostic relevance and target for therapy. Thromb Haemost 78, 285-96.
- Seiffert, D., and Loskutoff, D. J. (1991). Evidence that type 1 plasminogen activator inhibitor binds to the somatomedin B domain of vitronectin. J Biol Chem 266, 2824-30.
- Seiki, M. (1999). Membrane-type matrix metalloproteinases. APMIS 107, 137-43.

- Shapiro, R. L., Duquette, J. G., Roses, D. F., Nunes, I., Harris, M. N., Kamino, H., Wilson, E. L., and Rifkin, D. B. (1996). Induction of primary cutaneous melanocytic neoplasms in urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA)-deficient and wild-type mice: cellular blue nevi invade but do not progress to malignant melanoma in uPA-deficient animals. Cancer Res 56, 3597-604.
- Shetty, S., Kumar, A., and Idell, S. (1997). Posttranscriptional regulation of urokinase receptor mRNA: identification of a novel urokinase receptor mRNA binding protein in human mesothelioma cells. Mol Cell Biol 17, 1075-83.
- Shetty, S., and Idell, S. (1998). A urokinase receptor mRNA binding protein from rabbit lung fibroblasts and mesothelial cells. Am J Physiol 274, L871-82.
- Sier, C. F. M., Stephens, R. W., Bizik, J., Mariani, A., Bassan, M., Pedersen, N., Frigerio, L., Ferrari, A., Danø, K., Brünner, N., and Blasi, F. (1998). The level of urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor is increased in serum of ovarian cancer patients. Cancer Res 58, 1843-9.
- Sier, C. F., Sidenius, N., Mariani, A., Aletti, G., Agape, V., Ferrari, A., Casetta, G., Stephens, R.
  W., Brünner, N., and Blasi, F. (1999). Presence of urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor in urine of cancer patients and its possible clinical relevance. Lab Invest 79, 717-22.
- Silverstein, R. L., Nachman, R. L., Pannell, R., Gurewich, V., and Harpel, P. C. (1990). Thrombospondin forms complexes with single-chain and two- chain forms of urokinase [published erratum appears in J Biol Chem 1990 Sep 15;265(26):16025]. J Biol Chem 265, 11289-94.
- Simon, D. I., Rao, N. K., Xu, H., Wei, Y., Majdic, O., Ronne, E., Kobzik, L., and Chapman, H. A. (1996). Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) and the urokinase receptor (CD87) form a functional unit on monocytic cells. Blood 88, 3185-94.
- Sitrin, R. G., Todd, R. F. r., Albrecht, E., and Gyetko, M. R. (1996). The urokinase receptor (CD87) facilitates CD11b/CD18-mediated adhesion of human monocytes. J Clin Invest 97, 1942-51.
- Solberg, H., Rømer, J., Brünner, N., Holm, A., Sidenius, N., Danø, K., and Høyer-Hansen, G. (1994). A cleaved form of the receptor for urokinase-type plasminogen activator in invasive transplanted human and murine tumors. Int J Cancer 58, 877-81.
- Soravia, E., Grebe, A., De Luca, P., Helin, K., Suh, T. T., Degen, J. L., and Blasi, F. (1995). A conserved TATA-less proximal promoter drives basal transcription from the urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor gene. Blood *86*, 624-35.
- Speth, C., Pichler, I., Stöckl, G., Mair, M., and Dierich, M. P. (1998). Urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR; CD87) expression on monocytic cells and T cells is modulated by HIV-1 infection. Immunobiology 199, 152-62.
- Stahl, A., and Mueller, B. M. (1995). The urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor, a GPIlinked protein, is localized in caveolae. J Cell Biol 129, 335-44.
- Stefansson, S., and Lawrence, D. A. (1996). The serpin PAI-1 inhibits cell migration by blocking integrin alpha V beta3 binding to vitronectin [see comments]. Nature 383, 441-3.
- Stephens, R. W., Pöllänen, J., Tapiovaara, H., Leung, K. C., Sim, P. S., Salonen, E. M., Rønne, E., Behrendt, N., Danø, K., and Vaheri, A. (1989). Activation of pro-urokinase and plasminogen on human sarcoma cells: a próteolytic system with surface-bound reactants. J Cell Biol 108, 1987-95.
- Stephens, R. W., Tapiovaara, H., Reisberg, T., Bizik, J., and Vaheri, A. (1991). Alpha 2macroglobulin restricts plasminogen activation to the surface of RC2A leukemia cells. Cell Regul 2, 1057-65.

- Stephens, R. W., Pedersen, A. N., Nielsen, H. J., Hamers, M. J., Høyer Hansen, G., Rønne, E., Dybkjær, E., Danø, K., and Brünner, N. (1997). ELISA determination of soluble urokinase receptor in blood from healthy donors and cancer patients. Clin Chem 43, 1868-76.
- Stephens, R. W., Nielsen, H. J., Christensen, I. J., Thorlacius Ussing, O., Sørensen, S., Danø, K., and Brünner, N. (1999). Plasma urokinase receptor levels in patients with colorectal cancer: relationship to prognosis. J Natl Cancer Inst 91, 869-74.
- Stetler-Stevenson, W. G. (1999). Matrix matalloproteinases in angiogenesis: a moving target for therapeutic intervention. JCI 103, 1237-41.
- Stoppelli, M. P., Corti, A., Soffientini, A., Cassani, G., Blasi, F., and Associan, R. K. (1985). Differentiation-enhanced binding of the aminoterminal fragment of human urokinase plasminogen activator to a specific receptor on U937 monocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 4939-43.
- Stoppelli, M. P., Tacchetti, C., Cubellis, M. V., Corti, A., Hearing, V. J., Cassani, G., Appella, E., and Blasi, F. (1986). Autocrine saturation of pro-urokinase receptors on human A431 cells. Cell 45, 675-84.
- Sugita, Y., Nakano, Y., Oda, E., Noda, K., Tobe, T., Miura, N. H., and Tomita, M. (1993). Determination of carboxyl-terminal residue and disulfide bonds of MACIF (CD59), a glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol- anchored membrane protein. J Biochem (Tokyo) 114, 473-7.
- Tang, H., Kerins, D. M., Hao, Q., Inagami, T., and Vaughan, D. E. (1998). The urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor mediates tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion proteins and activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase in cultured endothelial cells. J Biol Chem 273, 18268-72.
- Taraboletti, G., Belotti, D., Borsotti, P., Vergani, V., Rusnati, M., Presta, M., and Giavazzi, R. (1997). The 140-kilodalton antiangiogenic fragment of thrombospondin- 1 binds to basic fibroblast growth factor. Cell Growth Differ 8, 471-9.
- Tsirka, S. E., Rogove, A. D., Bugge, T. H., Degen, J. L., and Strickland, S. (1997). An extracellular proteolytic cascade promotes neuronal degeneration in the mouse hippocampus. J Neurosci 17, 543-52.
- Ulevitch, R. J., and Tobias, P. S. (1994). Recognition of endotoxin by cells leading to transmembrane signaling. Curr Opin Immunol 6, 125-30.
- Vassalli, J. D., Baccino, D., and Belin, D. (1985). A cellular binding site for the Mr 55,000 form of the human plasminogen activator, urokinase. J Cell Biol 100, 86-92.
- Verspaget, H. W., Sier, C. F. M., Ganesh, S., Griffioen, G., and Lamers, C. B. (1995). Prognostic value of plasminogen activators and their inhibitors in colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer 31A, 1105-9.
- Wagner, S. N., Atkinson, M. J., Wagner, C., Höfler, H., Schmitt, M., and Wilhelm, O. (1996). Sites of urokinase-type plasminogen activator expression and distribution of its receptor in the normal human kidney. Histochem Cell Biol 105, 53-60.
- Wahlberg, K., Høyer-Hansen, G., and Casslèn, B. (1998). Soluble receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator in both full-length and a cleaved form is present in high concentration in cystic fluid from ovarian cancer. Cancer Res 58, 3294-8.
- Walker, P. D., Kaushal, G. P., and Shah, S. V. (1998). Meprin A, the major matrix degrading enzyme in renal tubules, produces a novel nidogen fragment in vitro and in vivo. Kidney Int 53, 1673-80.
- Waltz, D. A., and Chapman, H. A. (1994). Reversible cellular adhesion to vitronectin linked to urokinase receptor occupancy. J Biol Chem 269, 14746-50.

- Waltz, D. A., Natkin, L. R., Fujita, R. M., Wei, Y., and Chapman, H. A. (1997). Plasmin and plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 promote cellular motility by regulating the interaction between the urokinase receptor and vitronectin. J Clin Invest 100, 58-67.
- Wang, G. J., Collinge, M., Blasi, F., Pardi, R., and Bender, J. R. (1998). Posttranscriptional regulation of urokinase plasminogen activator receptor messenger RNA levels by leukocyte integrin engagement. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 6296-301.
- Wang, Y., Jones, C. J., Dang, J., Liang, X., Olsen, J. E., and Doe, W. F. (1994). Human urokinase receptor expression is inhibited by amiloride and induced by tumor necrosis factor and phorbol ester in colon cancer cells. FEBS Lett 353, 138-42.
- Wang, Y., Dang, J., Johnson, L. K., Selhamer, J. J., and Doe, W. F. (1995). Structure of the human urokinase receptor gene and its similarity to CD59 and the Ly-6 family. Eur J Biochem 227, 116-22.
- Wary, K. K., Mariotti, A., Zurzolo, C., and Giancotti, F. G. (1998). A requirement for caveolin-1 and associated kinase Fyn in integrin signaling and anchorage-dependent cell growth. Cell 94, 625-34.
- Washington, R., Burton, J., Todd, R. F. r., Newman, W., Dragovic, L., and Dore-Duffy, P. (1994). Expression of immunologically relevant endothelial cell activation antigens on isolated central nervous system microvessels from patients with multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol 35, 89-97.
- Wei, Y., Waltz, D. A., Rao, N., Drummond, R. J., Rosenberg, S., and Chapman, H. A. (1994). Identification of the urokinase receptor as an adhesion receptor for vitronectin. J Biol Chem 269, 32380-8.
- Wei, Y., Lukashev, M., Simon, D. I., Bodary, S. C., Rosenberg, S., Doyle, M. V., and Chapman, H. A. (1996). Regulation of integrin function by the urokinase receptor. Science 273, 1551-5.
- Wei, Y., Yang, X., Liu, Q., Wilkins, J. A., and Chapman, H. A. (1999). A role for caveolin and the urokinase receptor in integrin- mediated adhesion and signaling. J Cell Biol 144, 1285-94.
- Werb, Z., Mainardi, C. L., Vater, C. A., and Harris, E. D., Jr. (1977). Endogenous activiation of latent collagenase by rheumatoid synovial cells. Evidence for a role of plasminogen activator. N Engl J Med 296, 1017-23.
- Werb, Z., Vu, T. H., Rinkenberger, J. L., and Coussens, L. M. (1999). Matrix-degrading proteases and angiogenesis during development and tumor formation. APMIS 107, 11-8.
- Wilhelm, O. G., Wilhelm, S., Escott, G. M., Lutz, V., Magdolen, V., Schmitt, M., Rifkin, D. B., Wilson, E. L., Graeff, H., and Brunner, G. (1999). Cellular glycosylphosphatidylinositolspecific phospholipase D regulates urokinase receptor shedding and cell surface expression. J Cell Physiol 180, 225-35.
- Wiman, B., Lindahl, T., and Almqvist, A. (1988). Evidence for a discrete binding protein of plasminogen activator inhibitor in plasma. Thromb Haemost 59, 392-5.
- Wohlwend, A., Belin, D., and Vassalli, J. D. (1987). Plasminogen activator-specific inhibitors produced by human monocytes/macrophages. J Exp Med 165, 320-39.
- Wun, T. C., and Reich, E. (1987). An inhibitor of plasminogen activation from human placenta. Purification and characterization. J Biol Chem 262, 3646-53.
- Xue, W., Kindzelskii, A. L., Todd, R. F. r., and Petty, H. R. (1994). Physical association of complement receptor type 3 and urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor in neutrophil membranes. J Immunol 152, 4630-40.
- Xue, W., Mizukami, I., Todd, R. F. r., and Petty, H. R. (1997). Urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptors associate with beta1 and beta3 integrins of fibrosarcoma cells: dependence on extracellular matrix components. Cancer Res 57, 1682-9.

- Yebra, M., Parry, G. C. N., Strömblad, S., Mackman, N., Rosenberg, S., Mueller, B. M., and Cheresh, D. A. (1996). Requirement of receptor-bound urokinase-type plasminogen activator for integrin alphavbeta5-directed cell migration. J Biol Chem 271, 29393-9.
- Young, T. N., Rodriguez, G. C., Moser, T. L., Bast, R. C., Jr., Pizzo, S. V., and Stack, M. S. (1994). Coordinate expression of urinary-type plasminogen activator and its receptor accompanies malignant transformation of the ovarian surface epithelium. Am J Obstet Gynecol 170, 1285-96.
- Zhang, Z., Vuori, K., Wang, H., Reed, J. C., and Ruoslahti, E. (1996). Integrin activation by R-ras. Cell 85, 61-9.

Appendix I:

# List of Figures

۰.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
Figure 1.1: Primary structure of uPAR	
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS & DISCUSSION (I)	
Figure 3.1: Adhesive properties of 32D and U937 cells	130
Figure 3.2: IL-3 stimulation of cell binding to fibronectin	
Figure 3.3: Binding of uPAR transfected 32D cells to vitronectin.	
Figure 3.4: Binding of 32D uPAR/D23 clones to vitronectin.	
Figure 3.5: Stimulation of binding by pro-uPA.	
Figure 3.6: Antibodies against uPAR domain 1 inhibit binding.	
Figure 3.7: Requirement for integrin activation	
Figure 3.8: uPAR mediated vitronectin binding does not lead to cell spreading	
Figure 3.9: Cell binding to anti-uPAR antibodies	
Figure 3.10: Binding of soluble uPAR to vitronectin.	
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS & DISCUSSION (II)	140
Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives	
Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.	
Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotrypsin-clea	aved suPAR.
Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and 2 (D2	
CHAPTER 5: RESULTS & DISCUSSION (III)	146
Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.	147
Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.	
Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells	149
Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils	
Figure 5.5: uPAR shedding from fMLP stimulated neutrophils.	151
Figure 5.6: uPAR cleavage and shedding in HUVEC cells	152
Figure 5.7: PMA stimulation and "Wounding" of HUVEC promotes uPAR shedding	
Figure 5.8: uPA independent cleavage of uPAR in 32D cells	
CHAPTER 6: RESULTS & DISCUSSION (IV)	155
Figure 6.1:	156
Figure 6.2:	157
Figure 6.3:	158
Figure 6.4:	159
Figure 6.5:	160
CHAPTER 7: FINAL DISCUSSIONERROR! BOOKMARK NO	T DEFINED.
Figure 7.1: The uPAR chemotactic epitope	162

# Chapter 1: Introduction



### **Figure 1.1: Primary structure of uPAR**

The primary aminoacid sequence of human uPAR is shown in single letter code. Disulphide bonding is indicated as thick lines connecting cysteine residues. The disulphide pattern of domain 2 and 3 has not actually been determined and is based on the known pattern in domain 1. Diamonds indicates potential glycosylation sites. Large arrows indicate the position of introns in the uPAR gene. Small arrows indicate protease cleavage sites in the linker region connecting domain 1 and 2. Chym., chymotrypsin; Hne1., human neutrophil elastase; Chym., chymotrypsin. Plasmin and uPA can also cleave uPAR at the same sites as trypsin (Høyer-Hansen et al., 1992)

The figure is reproduced from (Ploug and Ellis, 1994).

- 128 -

### Figures

## Chapter 3: Results & Discussion (I)



### Figure 3.1: Adhesive properties of 32D and U937 cells.

Non-stimulated (A) or PMA stimulated (B) 32D cells (closed bars) and U937 cells (open bars) were allowed to adhere to wells coated with fibronectin, vitronectin or BSA under serum free conditions. After 1 hour, the wells were washed and bound cells fixed and stained. The amount (in arbitrary units) of bound cells were calculated by measuring the absorbance at 540 nm and subtracting the value obtained from wells that received no cells.

Appendix I:





### Figure 3.2: IL-3 stimulation of cell binding to fibronectin.

Binding of IL-3 starved 32D cells to vitronectin and fibronectin in the absence (open bars) or presence (closed bars) of 100 U/ml recombinant mouse IL-3. Bound cells were quantified as before and the value obtained in wells coated with BSA subtracted. The data represent the mean +/- SD of triplicate determinations from a representative experiment.



### Figure 3.3: Binding of uPAR transfected 32D cells to vitronectin.

Pools of G418 resistant cells obtained after transfection with an uPAR expression vector (circles) or empty expression vector (squares) were allowed to adhere to wells coated with increasing concentrations of vitronectin and the bound cells were quantified as before.



### Figure 3.4: Binding of 32D uPAR/D23 clones to vitronectin.

(A) Clones of 32D cells transfected with full-length uPAR (c14, c17, c24, c21, c22.7, c8, c2, c22, and c1) or with a D2D3 (c18, c6, c13, and c19) were allowed to adhere to vitronectin under serum free conditions in the presence (filled bars) or absence (open bars) of 5 nM pro-uPA. (B) Surface expression of uPAR and D2D3 on cells was evaluated by flowcytometry using the R2 monoclonal antibody that recognises an epitope on domain 3 of human uPAR. The mean fluorescence (in arbitrary units) is indicated and the clones have been arranged from left to right in order of increasing expression level.

- 133 -



### Figure 3.5: Stimulation of binding by pro-uPA.

uPAR transfected 32D cells clone 21 (circles) and clone 24 (squares) were allowed to adhere to vitronectin in the presence of increasing concentrations of pro-uPA. Bound cells were measured as before.



### Figure 3.6: Antibodies against uPAR domain 1 inhibit binding.

32D/uPAR clone 1 cells expressing high levels of uPAR were allowed to adhere to vitronectin in the presence of monoclonal antibodies against either uPAR domain 3 (mAb R2 and R4), uPAR domain 1 (mAb R3 and R5), or a negative control antibody (mAb M2). Cellular binding was determined as described before.



### Figure 3.7: Requirement for integrin activation.

32D/uPAR clone 1 cells were allowed to adhere to vitronectin or fibronectin in the presence (filled bars) or absence (open bars) of IL-3 (100 U/ml) at 37°C or at 4°C as indicated. The cells had been IL-3 starved for 8 hours prior to the experiment.

Appendix I:

Figures





### Figure 3.8: uPAR mediated vitronectin binding does not lead to cell spreading

uPAR transfected 32D cells (clone 1) were allowed to adhere to plastic dishes coated with BSA (panel A) or vitronectin (panel B) for one hour at 37°C after which the cells were photographed.


#### Figure 3.9: Cell binding to anti-uPAR antibodies.

32D cells transfected with uPAR (open bars) or the mutant D2D3 receptor (closed bars) were allowed to adhere to wells coated with vitronectin or antibodies against  $\mu$ PAR (5  $\mu$ g/ml). After washing of the plates bound cells were quantified as before.



#### Figure 3.10: Binding of soluble uPAR to vitronectin.

ELISA plates were coated with vitronectin (5  $\mu$ g/ml) and the remaining binding sites blocked with BSA. Wells were incubated 0.15, 1.5, 15 or 150 nM of FLAG tagged soluble uPAR (squares) or D2D3 mutant (circles). The binding was performed in the presence (filled) of absence (open) of 50 nM prouPA. After washing, the amount of bound protein was quantified by sequential incubations with an anti-FLAG antibody, a horseradish peroxidase conjugated secondary antibody and a colorimetric peroxidase substrate. The absorbance at 412 nm was measured in an ELISA reader and taken as a measure of bound proteins. The data represent the medium value of duplicate determinations (+/- SD) from a representative experiment. The curves for the D2D3 protein cannot be seen very well as they are superimposed with the curve for soluble uPAR in the absence of pro-uPA.

### Figures

### Chapter 4: Results & Discussion (II)



## Figure 4.1: Scheme depicting the basic structure of suPAR and it's mutated derivatives.

uPAR has three domains, an amino terminal (D1), an intermediate (D2) and a carboxyterminal domain (D3), which is connected to the GPI-anchor (Ploug et al., 1991; Ploug and Ellis, 1994). All the uPAR constructs express soluble molecules since they employed the basic cDNA modification described before (Masucci et al., 1991; Roldan et al., 1990). The symbol for the full size soluble uPAR is D123. Truncated molecules are identified by the number of the domains (i.e. D1, D2, D3) and by the number of amino acids they express (i.e.  $D1_{1-92}$ , domain 1, from residue 1 to 92).



## Figure 4.2: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different recombinant suPAR fragments.

The position of the sequence SRSRY in the linker region between domain 1 and 2 of uPAR is shown on top. Panels A-D refer to the indicated soluble recombinant uPAR mutants. Panels E and F refer to the chymotryptic fragments isolated from wild type  $suPAR_{1-274}$ . THP-1 cells migrated towards a solution containing different concentrations of the chemoattractants. Random cell migration of untreated THP-1 cells is referred to as 100% migration.



# Figure 4.3: Chemotactic response of THP-1 cells to different concentrations of the indicated peptides.

THP-1 cells migrated towards a solution containing different concentrations of the chemoattractants. Random cell migration of untreated THP-1 cells is referred to as 100% migration.

- 143 -



## Figure 4.4 Effect of PTX on THP-1 cells chemotaxis in response to peptide-1 or chymotrypsin-cleaved suPAR.

THP-1 cells were pre-incubated 4 hours with (100 ng/ml) PTX or its inactive mutant (Pizza et al., 1989), washed and their chemotactic response measured. Medium alone (black bars), 0.1 pM peptide-1 (dotted bars), 1 pM peptide-1 (white bars), 10 pM chymotrypsin-cleaved suPAR (striped bars). Random cell migration of untreated THP-1 cells is referred to as 100% migration.



Figure 4.5 Outline of the protease-sensitive uPAR linker located between domain 1 (D1) and 2 (D2)

Appendix I:

### Figures

### Chapter 5: Results & Discussion (III)



#### Figure 5.1: uPAR antigen in U937 cell lysates and in conditioned medium.

U937 cells were plated in the absence (open bars) or presence of PMA (black bars). After 24, 48 and 72 hours, cells and conditioned medium was harvested. uPAR antigen in cell lysates (panel A) and in the conditioned medium (panel B) was measured by ELISA.



#### Figure 5.2: Full length and cleaved forms of uPAR on U937 cells.

U937 cell lysates (20 µg total protein) and conditioned medium (0.25 ml) obtained as described in the legend to figure 5.1 were immunoprecipitated with a mixture of monoclonal antibodies R2 and R3. The absorbed material was analysed by western blotting using a polyclonal anti-uPAR antibody. The position of molecular weight markers, full-length uPAR, cleaved uPAR (D2D3) and the released domain 1 (D1) is indicated. The right-most panel is a long exposure of the lane containing conditioned medium from U937 treated with PMA for 72 hours.



# Figure 5.3: Molecular structure of uPAR fragments in conditioned medium from U937 cells.

(A) Conditioned medium obtained from a 72 hour PMA stimulation of U937 cells was either immunoprecipitated with antibodies recognising uPAR domain 3 (mAb R2 and R4), or uPAR domain 1 (mAb R3), or an anti-uPA antibody (mAb c6), or an irrelevant antibody (mAb M2). After washing, the precipitates were denatured, reduced and treated for two hours without (left panel) of with PNGase-F (right panel).



#### Figure 5.4: uPAR shedding from monocytes and neutrophils.

Human monocytes and neutrophils were isolated from 'buffy coats' as described in the materials & methods section. Cell were seeded (106/ml) in leukocyte culture medium in the absence (Ct.) or presence of PMA (PMA, only monocytes). After 48 hours of incubation cells were harvested by centrifugation and the conditioned medium collected. Cell lysates (Lys) and conditioned medium (CM) was analysed by immunoprecipitation and western blotting as described in the legend to figure 5.2. (B) Cell lysates and conditioned medium from monocytes and neutrophils were immunoprecipitated with a mixture of monoclonal antibodies R2 and R3 and the absorbed material reduced and treated for two hours with PNGase-F. The deglycosylated material was analysed by western blotting using a polyclonal antibody against uPAR.



#### Figure 5.5: uPAR shedding from fMLP stimulated neutrophils.

Freshly isolated neutrophils were incubated in serum free medium  $(20x10^6/ml)$  for 30 minutes at 37°C in the absence (no) or presence of 5 nM fMLP (fMLP). The cells were pelleted and the amount of uPAR antigen in the conditioned medium measured by ELISA. The indicated values are the mean obtained from neutrophils isolated from two independent buffy coats +/- standard



#### Figure 5.6: uPAR cleavage and shedding in HUVEC cells.

Human umbilical vascular endothelial cells (HUVEC, passage 5) were allowed to grow to confluence. The medium was replaced with fresh medium without (Ct.) or with PMA (PMA). After 24, 48 and 72 hours the conditioned medium was collected and cells lysates were prepared after 72 hours. Lysates and conditioned medium were analysed by immunoprecipitation and western blotting as described in the legend to figure 5.2. Panels labelled with a "#" are short exposures.



# Figure 5.7: PMA stimulation and "Wounding" of HUVEC promotes uPAR shedding.

Confluent monolayers of HUVEC cells were "wounded" by "scratching" using the side of a rubber policeman. The total wounded area was small (> 1%) and the wounding was repeated once after 24 hours. As a positive control separate plates received medium containing PMA. After 48 hours of incubation the conditioned medium was harvested and the concentration of uPAR antigen measured by ELISA. The indicated values are the mean of duplicate plates +/- SD. The experiment was performed only once.



#### Figure 5.8: uPA independent cleavage of uPAR in 32D cells.

Cell lysates (Lys) and conditioned medium (CM) from 32D cells transfected with wild-type uPAR (uPAR) and a mutant lacking domain 1 (D2D3) were immunoprecipitated with a mixture of monoclonal antibodies R2 and R3. The absorbed material was analysed by western blotting using a polyclonal anti-uPAR antibody. The position of full-length uPAR and cleaved uPAR (D2D3) are indicated.

### Chapter 6: Results & Discussion (IV)



#### Figure 6.1:

Urinary suPAR levels normalised for creatinine in ovarian cancer patients (n=25) and age matched healthy women (n=20). The difference is significant (P = 0.004) according to Mann-Whitney's U-test. Patients with FIGO stage IIIc carcinomas are indicated as full circles. The remainder of the patients had FIGO stage I/II carcinomas. The horizontal bar indicates the median value of controls plus two times the standard deviation.



Figures



#### Figure 6.2:

(A) Diagram illustrating the domain structure of uPAR and the proteolytic fragments thereof. The receptor is composed of three domains (D1, D2, and D3) and is linked to the cell-surface by a GPI-anchor attached to D3. Proteolytic cleavage in the region between D1 and D2 results in release of the D1 fragment, leaving behind on the cell surfaces the D2D3 fragment. Soluble forms, lacking the GPI-anchor, exist for both uPAR and D2D3. Monoclonal antibodies specific for D1 (mAb R3) and D3 (mAb R2) are used in this study to identify the different uPAR fragments. (B) Immunoblot demonstrating the presence of suPAR and suPAR fragments in urine. Concentrated sample (corresponding to 1 ml urine) from an ovarian cancer patient was immunoprecipitated with monoclonal antibodies recognising uPAR (mAb R2 and R3) or an irrelevant control antibody (mAb Ct). The absorbed material was analysed by immunoblotting using a polyclonal antibody directed against human uPAR.



#### Figure 6.3:

Difference in suPAR fragmentation pattern in urine from ovarian cancer patients. Panel A: urine from seven healthy individuals; panel B: urine from seven ovarian cancer patients; panel C: Serum from the same seven patients. Urine, normalised for creatinine content, and serum samples (0.1 ml) were immunoprecipitated with a combination of mAb R2 and R3 and the absorbed material was analysed by immunoblotting with a polyclonal antibody directed against human uPAR.



#### Figure 6.4:

Human suPAR levels in urine from mice xenografted with the ovarian carcinoma HOC8 and the breast carcinoma MDA435 in comparison with non-tumour bearing control mice.

Pooled urine from five (HOC8) or two (MDA435) xenografted mice was collected in metabolic cages and analysed by ELISA as described in the materials and methods section.



#### Figure 6.5:

Human uPAR fragmentation in mice carrying the xenografted human tumours HOC8 or MDA435. Tumour extracts (20 µg total protein), serum (0.02 ml) and urine (0.05 ml) were subjected to immunoprecipitation with a mixture of mAb R2 and R3. The absorbed material was analysed by immunoblotting with a polyclonal antibody directed against human uPAR.

### **CHAPTER 7: FINAL DISCUSSION**



#### Figure 7.1: The uPAR chemotactic epitope

Schematic diagram showing the primary sequence of linker region between uPAR domain 1 and 2. Aminoacids are indicated by single letter code and the aminoacid number. Arrows indicate cleavage sites for trypsin, plasmin, uPA, neutrophil elastase (NE) and chymotrypsin. The minimal chemotactic epitope is underlined.